INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UMI®

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

ROLE OF SPLEEN DURING EARLY PHASE OF LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE-INDUCED HEMODYNAMIC PERTURBATIONS

BY PETER S. ANDREW C

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FAULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF PHYSIOLOGY

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

FALL 2001

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

2



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-68907-7



UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

LIBRARY RELEASE FORM

Name of Author: Peter Simon Andrew

Title of Thesis:ROLEOFSPLEENDURINGEARLYPHASEOFLIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE-INDUCEDHEMODYNAMICPERTURBATIONS.Degree:Doctor of Philosophy

Year this Degree Granted: 2001

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Peter Simon Andrew

#2009, 8210 111 Street Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2C7 CANADA

Date: 22nd May 2001

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled ROLE OF SPLEEN DURING EARLY PHASE OF LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE-INDUCED HEMODYNAMIC PERTURBATIONS, submitted by PETER S. ANDREW in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY.

Dr. S.E. Jacobs (Supervisor) 1 Htta Dr. S. Hamilton

Dr. C. Cheeseman

Dr. S.T. Davidge

Dr.₁W.W. Lautt

Dr. S.L. Archer

Date: 22 May 2001

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this thesis to the people who have done so much to help me reach this moment my father, Benjamin John Andrew, my mother, Jennifer Nantongo Andrew, my siblings, Susan, Christian, and John, and the love of my life, my partner, Sandra Mary Jerat.

I am sorry that you did not get to see this moment, Dad. Thank you so much for everything you have done for me over the last 29 years. I miss you and love you ... I will see you on the other side.

ABSTRACT

Within the spleen is a pathway for the efflux of protein-rich fluid from the intravascular compartment into the lymphatic system. Loss of such fluid can directly reduce plasma volume. Intrasplenic fluid efflux is enhanced by volume expansion, atrial distention, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and the vasoactive factors adrenomedullin (ADM), atrial natriuretic factor (ANF), and nitric oxide (NO).

Septic shock, a leading cause of death in intensive care units throughout North America, is characterized by a severe and intractable hypotension coupled with a primary reduction in plasma volume. Animal models of septic shock, involving intravenous infusion of LPS to produce endotoxemia, have reported an LPS-induced decrease in plasma volume and blood pressure. The role that the spleen might play in these hemodynamic perturbations has not been investigated.

A non-lethal continuous low dose infusion of LPS in conscious male rats was used as a model for studying the role of the spleen in the hemodynamic response to endotoxemia. The pathway for intrasplenic fluid efflux could contribute to LPS-induced hypovolemia and hypotension. It was hypothesized that splenectomy, which would remove this pathway of fluid loss, should blunt these hemodynamic perturbations. Indeed, splenectomy did abolish the LPS-induced decrease in plasma volume and blood pressure.

Intrasplenic fluid efflux is driven by increased intrasplenic microvascular pressure (P_C), caused by differential vasoconstrictor tone of pre- versus post-capillary splenic resistance vessels. It was hypothesized that splenic sympathetic nerve activity, which increases during endotoxemia, normally limits LPS-induced intrasplenic fluid efflux. The results confirmed this, as splenic denervation exaggerated the intrasplenic fluid efflux, and worsened the hypovolemia and hypotension following LPS infusion.

It was proposed that differential vasoreactivity of splenic resistance arteries and veins to ADM, ANF, NO and endothelin-1 (ET-1), the plasma levels of which increase following LPS infusion, may contribute to the increase in intrasplenic P_C and subsequent intrasplenic fluid efflux. The *in vitro* results were consistent with this proposal.

In conclusion, fluid efflux from the splenic circulation of the rat contributes to the early LPS-induced decrease in plasma volume and blood pressure. This intrasplenic fluid efflux is regulated by nervous and hormonal inputs, which affect the tone of pre- and post-capillary splenic resistance vessels.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge the help and support I have received from my supervisor, Dr. Susan Jacobs. She gave me the opportunity to come to Canada, learn more about medical science, and experience so many new things. I am very grateful and appreciative of the time and effort that Dr. Jacobs devoted to my development as a medical researcher in the field of cardiovascular physiology. Thank you very much for everything.

My committee members, Dr. Stuart Hamilton, Dr. Sandra T. Davidge, and Dr. Christopher Cheeseman, were an integral part of my studies. I appreciate their involvement in my professional development and their input and guidance over the course of my studies. Thank you all. I would also like to extend my gratitude to my external examiners, Dr. Wayne Lautt and Dr. Stephen Archer. Thank you both very much for your contributions to this thesis.

On a personal note, I would like to give my sincere thanks and appreciation to my family and friends who gave their support and encouragement over the last few years the people who offered me a shoulder to lean on during the many testing experiences that arose during the course of my studies. Dad, Mum, John, Susan, Christian, Christina and Finn I made it! A big thank you to the Jerat's for doing so much to help me get to this moment. I want you all to know that I did not make it here on my own. You all gave me a lift to believe my wings could fly that little bit higher. And finally, to the most important part of my acknowledgements the opportunity to give a special thank you to my partner, Sandra M. Jerat. I have re-written this paragraph so many times in an attempt to express in words what you have meant to me over the last few years but the words are never quite good or complete enough. I am a better person to have you by my side, Sandy. This is *our* achievement!

2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER

•

2.

1. INTROD	UCTION	1
1.1	THE SPLEEN: AN OVERVIEW	2
1.1.1	Microvascular anatomy of the spleen	3
1.1.2	Blood flow to the spleen	3
1.1.3	Nerve supply to and from the spleen	7
1.2	CONTROL OF BLOOD PRESSURE UNDER NORMAL PHYSIOLOGICAL CONDITIONS	9
1.3	FLUID SHIFTS WITHIN THE MICROCIRCULATION	9
1.3.1	Fluid extravasation from the splenic circulation	12
1.3.2	Tone of pre- versus post-capillary splenic resistance vessels	14
1.4	SHOCK: AN OVERVIEW	15
1.4.1	Endotoxemia and septic shock	17
1.4.2	The cardiovascular system in endotoxemia	19
1.4.3	The splanchnic region during endotoxemia	21
1.4.4	Microcirculatory changes during endotoxemia	24
1.4.5	The lymphatic system and response to endotoxemia	26
1.4.6	Changes in plasma volume during septic shock	28
1.4.7	Changes in vasoreactivity of resistance vessels in septic shock	29
1.5	LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE	29
1.5.1	Host recognition of lipopolysaccharide	30
1.5.2	Host response to lipopolysaccharide following recognition	31
1.5.3	Cytokines: the initial host molecules released in response to lipopolysaccharide	31
1.6	MEDIATORS OF LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE-INDUCED HEMODYNAMIC PERTURBATIONS	32
1.6.1	Adrenomedullin	33
1.6.2	Atrial natriuretic factor	34
1.6.3	Endothelin-1	38
1.6.4	Nitric oxide	40
1.7	A RAT MODEL OF SEPTIC SHOCK	42
1.8	EXPERIMENTAL PREPARATIONS AND HYPOTHESES	45
2. METHOE	OS AND MATERIALS	49

PAGES

Experiment A	- Effect of splenectomy on lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced hypotension, hemoconcentration and hypovolemia in conscious male rats	50
Experiment B -	- Effect of splenic denervation on lipopolysaccharide (LPS)- induced hypotension, hemoconcentration and hypovolemia in conscious male rats	54
Experiment C -	- Effect of intrasplenic infusion of adrenomedullin (ADM) and S-nitroso-N-acetyl-D, L-penicillamine (SNAP) on splenic arterial versus venous hematocrit and wet splenic tissue weight in anesthetized rats	60
Experiment D -	- Effect of adrenomedullin (ADM) on intrasplenic microvascular pressure	62
Experiment E -	- Effect of adrenomedullin (ADM), atrial natriuretic factor (ANF), endothelin-1 (ET-1), sodium nitroprusside (SNP), and S-nitroso-N-acetyl-D, L-penicillamine (SNAP) on vasoreactivity of isolated normal splenic resistance arteries and veins	65
Experiment F –	Effect of N ^G -monomethyl-L-arginine (L-NMMA) on adrenomedullin (ADM)-induced relaxation of isolated normal splenic resistance arteries	68
Experiment G -	- Effect of phenylephrine, endothelin-1 (ET-1), S-nitroso-N- acetyl-D, L-penicillamine (SNAP), and adrenomedullin (ADM) on vasoreactivity of isolated lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-exposed (150µg/kg/hr for 3 hr <i>in vivo</i>) splenic resistance arteries and veins	70
3. RESULTS		72
Experiment A –	- Effect of splenectomy on lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced hypotension, hemoconcentration and hypovolemia in conscious male rats	73
Experiment B -	Effect of splenic denervation on lipopolysaccharide (LPS)- induced hypotension, hemoconcentration and hypovolemia in conscious male rats	81
Experiment C –	Effect of intrasplenic infusion of adrenomedullin (ADM) and S-nitroso-N-acetyl-D, L-penicillamine (SNAP) on splenic arterial versus venous hematocrit and wet splenic tissue weight in anesthetized rats	90

Experiment D –	Effect of adrenomedullin (ADM) on intrasplenic microvascular pressure	91
Experiment E –	Effect of adrenomedullin (ADM), atrial natriuretic factor (ANF), endothelin-1 (ET-1), sodium nitroprusside (SNP), and S-nitroso-N-acetyl-D, L-penicillamine (SNAP) on vasoreactivity of isolated normal splenic resistance arteries and veins	91
Experiment F –	Effect of N ^G -monomethyl-L-arginine (L-NMMA) on adrenomedullin (ADM)-induced relaxation of isolated normal splenic resistance arteries	99
Experiment G –	Effect of phenylephrine, endothelin-1 (ET-1), S-nitroso-N- acetyl-D, L-penicillamine (SNAP), and adrenomedullin (ADM) on vasoreactivity of isolated lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-exposed (150µg/kg/hr for 3 hr <i>in vivo</i>) splenic resistance arteries and veins	101
4. DISCUSSION		106
5. CONCLUSION		127
6. REFERENCES		136
7. APPENDICES		177

LIST OF TABLES

APPENDIX C

. 2

Table 1	Internal circumference: tension characteristics - computer	184
	program	

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1

Figure 1	The spleen and associated vasculature	5
Figure 2	A simplified view of the splanchnic circulation	6
Figure 3	Schematic illustration of the sinusoidal spleen of a rat	8
Figure 4	Maintenance of a constant mean arterial pressure by nervous and hormonal mechanisms	10
Figure 5	The Starling Equilibrium: factors determining fluid movement across capillaries	13
Figure 6	Characteristic pathophysiological features underlying septic shock	18
Figure 7	A brief overview of the compensatory mechanisms of septic shock	22
Figure 8	A brief overview of the decompensatory mechanisms of septic shock	23
Figure 9	Adrenomedullin (ADM) in the vascular wall and mechanisms of vasorelaxation	35
Figure 10	Possible cellular mechanisms of atrial natriuretic factor (ANF) to produce vasoconstrictor effect	37
Figure 11	Cellular mechanisms of endothelin-1 (ET-1) mediated effects on vascular tone	39
Figure 12	Mechanisms of nitric oxide (NO)-induced vasorelaxation	41
CHAPTER 3		
Figure 13	Mean arterial pressure in conscious intact and splenectomized rats infused with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150µg/kg/hr) or saline for 18 hr	74
Figure 14	Hematocrit in conscious intact and splenectomized rats infused with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150µg/kg/hr) or saline for 18 hr	75

Figure 15	Heart rate in conscious intact and splenectomized rats infused with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150µg/kg/hr) or saline for 18 hr	77
Figure 16	Plasma volume of conscious intact and splenectomized rats before and after 90 min infusion of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150µg/kg/hr)	78
Figure 17	Plasma protein concentration in conscious intact and splenectomized rats infused with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150µg/kg/hr) or saline for 18 hr	79
Figure 18	Average volume of urine output in conscious intact rats infused with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150µg/kg/hr) over 24 hr	80
Figure 19	Splenic arterial and venous blood flows plus intrasplenic fluid efflux in conscious intact and splenic denervated rats infused with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150µg/kg/hr) for 18 hr	82
Figure 20	Mean arterial pressure and hematocrit in conscious intact and splenic denervated rats infused with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150µg/kg/hr) for 18 hr	84
Figure 21	Splenic (arterial-venous) difference, mean arterial pressure, hematocrit and heart rate during first 3 hr period of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) infusion (150µg/kg/hr) in conscious intact and splenic denervated rats	86
Figure 22	Plasma volume of conscious intact and splenic denervated rats before and after 90 min infusion of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150µg/kg/hr)	87
Figure 23	Plasma renin concentration in conscious intact and splenic denervated rats infused with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150µg/kg/hr) for 18 hr	89
Figure 24	Effect of adrenomedullin (ADM) on vasorelaxation of splenic resistance arteries and veins	93
Figure 25	Vasoconstrictor effect of atrial natriuretic factor (ANF) on splenic resistance arteries and veins	94
Figure 26	Vasoconstrictor effect of endothelin-1 (ET-1) on splenic	95

resistance arteries and veins

Figure 27	Effect of sodium nitroprusside (SNP) on vasorelaxation of splenic resistance arteries and veins	96
Figure 28	Effect of S-nitroso-N-acetyl-D, L-penicillamine (SNAP) on vasorelaxation of splenic resistance arteries and veins	97
Figure 29	Maximal vasorelaxation to sodium nitroprusside (SNP) and S-nitroso-N-acetyl-D, L-penicillamine (SNAP) in splenic resistance arteries and veins	98
Figure 30	Effect of nitric oxide synthase inhibition on adrenomedullin (ADM)-induced vasorelaxation of splenic resistance arteries	100
Figure 31	Vasoconstrictor effect of endothelin-1 (ET-1) on lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-exposed splenic resistance arteries and veins	102
Figure 32	Effect of S-nitroso-N-acetyl-D, L-penicillamine (SNAP) on vasorelaxation of lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-exposed splenic resistance arteries and veins	103
Figure 33	Effect of adrenomedullin (ADM) on vasorelaxation of Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-exposed splenic resistance arterie and veins	105
Figure 34	Illustration of the proposed mechanism of intrasplenic fluid efflux	129
APPENDIX A		
Figure 35	Diagram of apparatus for splenic blood flow measurements	178
APPENDIX B		
Figure 36	Example of a pressure-tracing during the double occlusion technique	180
APPENDIX C		
Figure 37	Internal circumference tension characteristics of splenic resistance artery and vein	185
Figure 38	Illustration of wire myograph apparatus	186

APPENDIX D

Figure 39	The spleen and its associated anatomical relationships	187
APPENDIX E		
Figure 40	Mean arterial pressure and hematocrit in conscious intact and splenic denervated rats infused with saline for 18 hr	188
APPENDIX F		
Figure 41	Splenic arterial and venous blood flows plus intrasplenic fluid efflux in conscious intact and splenic denervated rats infused with saline for 18 hr	189
APPENDIX G	2	
Figure 42	Splenic (arterial-venous) difference, mean arterial pressure, hematocrit and heart rate during first 3 hr period of saline infusion in conscious intact and splenic denervated rats	190
APPENDIX H		
Figure 43	Plasma renin concentration in conscious intact and splenic denervated rats infused with saline for 18 hr	191
APPENDIX I		
Figure 44	Maximal tension generated with phenylephrine in unexposed and 3 hr LPS-exposed splenic resistance vessels	192
APPENDIX J		
Figure 45	EC ₈₀ phenylephrine concentration in unexposed and 3 hr LPS-exposed splenic resistance vessels	193
APPENDIX K		
Figure 46	EC_{50} ET-1 concentration in unexposed and 3 hr LPS- exposed splenic resistance vessels	194
APPENDIX L		

Figure 47	Maximal percent vasorelaxation to SNAP in unexposed and 3 hr LPS-exposed splenic resistance vessels	195
APPENDIX M		
Figure 48	Maximal percent vasorelaxation to ADM in unexposed and 3 hr LPS-exposed splenic resistance vessels	196

· · · · · ·

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADM	Adrenomedullin
ANF	Atrial natriuretic factor
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate
CLP	Cecal ligation and puncture
D-NMMA	N ^G -monomethyl-D-arginine
ecNOS	Endothelial constitutive nitric oxide synthase
ET-1	Endothelin-1
GIT	Gastrointestinal tract
HEPES-PSS	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethane sulfonic acid-
	buffered physiological salt solution
IL-1	Interleukin-1
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IL-8	Interleukin-8
IL-1a	Interleukin-1 alpha
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 beta
i.m.	Intramuscular
Inactin	Ethyl-(1-methyl-propyl)-malonyl-thio-urea
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
i.p.	Intraperitoneal
i.v.	Intravenous
ivc	Inferior vena cava
LBP	Lipopolysaccharide-binding protein
L-NMMA	N ^G -monomethyl-L-arginine
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
МАР	Mean arterial pressure
ncNOS	Neuronal constitutive nitric oxide synthase
NO	Nitric oxide
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
O ₂	Oxygen
PA	Arterial pressure
P _C	Microvascular pressure
$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{V}}$	Venous pressure
PALS	Periarterial lymphatic sheath
PRA	Plasma renin activity
RSNA	Renal sympathetic nerve activity
S.C.	Subcutaneous
SNAP	S-Nitroso-N-acetyl-D,L-penicillamine
SNP	Sodium nitroprusside
Somnotol	Sodium pentobarbital
SSNA	Splenic sympathetic nerve activity
TPR	Total peripheral resistance
ΤΝ F -α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
VSMCs	Vascular smooth muscle cells

CHAPTER 1.

-

2

INTRODUCTION

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

1.1 THE SPLEEN: AN OVERVIEW

The spleen is a highly vascularized organ that is situated in the left upper quadrant of the thorax (Fig. 1). Splenic tissue weight is approximately 0.05-1% of body weight, depending on the species (100). The human and rat spleen are anatomically and functionally similar (199). The different functions of the spleen are reflected in the different structural compartments that exist within this organ (100-102).

For many centuries the spleen failed to impress the scientific community as an organ worthy of investigation, given that removal of the spleen (splenectomy) or congenital asplenism did not appear to carry any physiological penalty (37). Galen (121-201 AD) referred to the spleen as an "organ of mystery" (56). Subsequently, van Leeuwenhoeck (1632-1732 AD) suggested a role for the spleen in the purification of blood (56). Later, the spleen was observed to be the organ with the largest aggregation of lymphoid tissue, and the only immune organ specialized for the filtration of blood (223). In more recent years, the immunological sequelae of splenectomy or congenital asplenism have been recognized (56,150). Consequently, both the hematological and immunological functions of the spleen are now established (150,220). However, evidence exists for other possible roles for the spleen: i) in the release of a hypotensive natriuretic factor (65,137), ii) as a peripheral organ involved in the regulation of blood pressure (136), and iii) as a pathway for iso-oncotic fluid shift from the intravascular compartment into the systemic lymphatic system (46,134,135). The underlying theme throughout the ensuing discussion will relate to the spleen as a pathway for iso-oncotic fluid shift from the intravascular compartment into the systemic lymphatic system, and how this phenomenon of intrasplenic fluid

extravasation may account for the early losses in plasma volume and fall in blood pressure associated with intravenous (i.v.) infusion of lipopolysaccharide (LPS).

1.1.1 Microvascular anatomy of the spleen

The spleen is part of the splanchnic circulation. The distribution of splanchnic arterial blood flow is divided among vascular beds supporting the spleen, liver and mesentery (Fig. 2). The splenic (or lienic) artery, a branch of the celiac artery, is the source of blood to the spleen. This vessel divides many times into what are termed hilar arteries that, at approximately 200µm in diameter, influence splenic vascular resistance (Fig. 1). Hilar arteries pierce the capsule of the spleen, and then divide further into trabecular arteries. These vessels, which eventually enter the pulp of the spleen as central arteries, structurally resemble small arterioles or capillaries. Venous drainage of the spleen begins in the red pulp, in venous sinuses. Some arterioles terminate close to these venous sinuses, whilst functional arteriovenous shunts within the spleen may be opened to enable the fast passage of blood through the spleen. The venous sinuses drain into trabecular veins, which then go to the hilus where blood leaves via hilar veins that feed into the splenic vein. The splenic vein feds into the portal vein.

1.1.2 Blood flow to the spleen

Blood flow to the spleen is extremely high, with resting splenic blood flow being between 40 - 100 ml/min per 100 g of tissue weight; up to 10% of cardiac output (100,102). In the conscious rat, splenic blood flow is approximately 8 ml/min (46). Under euvolemic conditions, about 25% of cell-free fluid flowing into the spleen is removed

from the circulating blood (46). This shift of iso-oncotic fluid from the intravascular compartment into the systemic lymphatic system thus influences circulating blood volume. Given the high rate of blood flow, the spleen has great potential to control changes in circulating blood volume.

The structure of the spleen is such that the route taken by blood through the splenic circulation may be altered according to the state of volemia of the animal (46,103,145,187,267) (Fig. 3). Under euvolemic conditions approximately 90% of blood going into the spleen and out via the splenic vein, travels via so-called "fast pathways" with a red blood cell (RBC) washout half-time of ~30 seconds (53,102). The remaining 10% of total blood flow travels through slow and intermediate pathways of the red pulp (100,103,223) with a RBC washout half-time of 8-54 minutes (53,102). Under conditions of hypovolemia, the total blood passing through fast pathways containing arterial-venous shunts increases to almost 100% (53,102,103). However, in hypervolemia, blood takes a slow, tortuous path through the red pulp of the spleen (145).

There are numerous autocrine, paracrine, and endocrine agents that can affect splenic blood flow. Interleukin-1 (IL-1), one of the first mediators released by the host in response to LPS, increases splenic blood flow via inhibition of the sympathetic vasoconstrictor tone in the rat spleen (203). Nitric oxide (NO) is another vasoactive agent that has been reported to affect splenic blood flow (10). Thus, the vasodilatory effects of such hormones as adrenomedullin (ADM) which increase NO biosynthesis and whose plasma levels may increase 40-fold during sepsis (114,183), cannot be overlooked with

4



Figure 1. The vasculature of the spleen. Illustration adapted from Chen and Kaufman (1996) (46).



Figure 2. A simplified view of the splanchnic circulation. Reproduced from Isbister (1997) (119).

regards to their possible effects on splenic blood flow (110). In summary, control of splenic blood flow is influenced by the interaction of many inputs, both hormonal and neural. These alter the hemodynamic forces within the splenic circulation, at least in part, through their effect on the vascular tone of the splenic resistance vessels.

1.1.3 Nerve supply to and from the spleen

The splenic nerve carries both afferent and efferent neural pathways. With regards to the efferent nerves, sympathetic (adrenergic) fibers predominate with little, if any, parasympathetic innervation (22). There is evidence for baroreflex control of splenic nerve activation (23,24,47,199), and for an increase in splenic sympathetic nerve activity (SSNA) in response to endotoxin (157). Sympathetic vasoconstrictor fibers are directed primarily to the splenic arterioles rather than venules (3,22,180). These sympathetic vasoconstrictor fibers follow the course of the splenic artery and provide smooth muscle control over the branching resistance vessels. Hence, increased SSNA would cause an increase in the tone of pre-capillary vessels compared to post-capillary vessels. Consequently, increased SSNA would be anticipated to lower intrasplenic microvascular pressure (P_C).

In addition to the sympathetic vasoconstrictor fibers within the splenic nerve (3,22,180), it has been established that there are, despite one report to the contrary (180), sensory afferent fibers (48,152,164,165,252). Therefore splenic denervation would, in addition to removing the splenic sympathetic nerves (which would predominantly affect the vascular tone of pre-capillary splenic resistance vessels), also remove sensory afferent



Figure 3. Schematic illustration of the sinusoidal spleen of a rat. Illustration adapted from Groom and Schmidt (1990) (101).

innervation. These sensory afferents have been proposed to form part of a neural reflex pathway between the spleen and kidney termed a spinal splenorenal reflex (164,165,252), whereby sensory afferent traffic from the spleen inhibits renal sympathetic nerve activity (RSNA). Hence, removal of this inhibitory action of the spinal splenorenal reflex (by splenic denervation) would be anticipated to elevate RSNA which, in turn, would affect renal function, PRA, and blood volume (172).

1.2 CONTROL OF BLOOD PRESSURE UNDER NORMAL

PHYSIOLOGICAL CONDITIONS

Homeostasis of mean arterial pressure (MAP) is achieved through the actions of a number of interacting regulatory mechanisms that function in a manner to compensate for changes in cardiac output, total peripheral resistance (TPR) and blood volume (58) (Fig. 4). Each of these mechanisms is geared towards maintenance of MAP in the face of moment-to-moment and long-term changes in MAP (58,201).

1.3 FLUID SHIFTS WITHIN THE MICROCIRCULATION

The forces (generally referred to as the Starling forces) that determine fluid exchange at the capillary are the capillary hydrostatic pressure, interstitial fluid hydrostatic pressure, capillary colloid osmotic pressure and the interstitial colloid osmotic pressure (Fig. 5). Of these four factors that influence fluid movement across a capillary, it is the capillary hydrostatic pressure that is most subject to homeostatic regulation, via alterations in preversus post-capillary vascular tone. The control of fluid movements across capillaries is an important component in the regulation of intravascular volume.



Figure 4. Simplified overview of the maintenance of a constant mean arterial pressure by nervous and hormonal mechanisms. Reproduced from Rhoades and Pflanzer (1996) (201).

In most vascular beds, the endothelial barrier prevents the free movement of macromolecules (such as albumin) across the microvascular endothelium. However, the endothelial barrier is not completely impermeable to large molecules. The movement of large macromolecules from the intravascular compartment into interstitium, although significant but extremely small, occurs across capillaries lined mostly by continuous endothelium via specialized transport pathways (168,202). However, in tissues such as the spleen that possess a discontinuous vascular endothelium the movement of macromolecules can readily occur. For example, the rate of protein extravasation is particularly high in organs like the spleen (202), an organ that is known to have a discontinuous vascular endothelium (232).

The concept of "third space" shifting proposes that fluid shifts from the intravascular to extravascular space arise when there is an alteration in the Starling forces (79,239). For example, during tissue inflammation, the colloid osmotic imbalance caused by the leakage of plasma proteins into the extravascular space leads to third space fluid shifts (79). The third space has been defined as " ... that reservoir which ordinarily would act as a second space or that would restore volume to a depleted vascular space secondary to the fall of hydrostatic pressure created by volume depletion" (79). In a pathophysiological state such as endotoxemia where there is capillary damage, fluid losses from the intravascular compartment cannot be restored because of an increased interstitial colloid osmotic pressure and decreased plasma colloid osmotic pressure, since this imbalance favors diffusion of fluid out of intravascular into extravascular tissues (79,239). The loss

of protein-rich fluid from the intravascular compartment can thus influence the homeostatic maintenance of plasma volume and, ultimately, blood pressure.

1.3.1 Fluid extravasation from the splenic circulation

There is ample evidence suggesting a role for the spleen in the regulation of plasma volume (46,134,135). Briefly, these studies suggest that, within the spleen, there is a gateway for extravasation (or shift) of protein-rich fluid from the intravascular compartment into the systemic lymphatic system. Loss of fluid that is iso-oncotic to plasma stands to cause a direct fall in plasma volume status. Intrasplenic fluid efflux is enhanced by volume expansion, atrial distension, LPS, atrial natriuretic factor (ANF), and NO (7,8,134,228).

Within the spleen, there is a large flow of lymph from the red pulp to the deep lymphatic vessels in the periarterial lymphoid sheaths (PALS) (193,211) (Fig. 3). The flow of lymph runs countercurrent to the direction of arterial blood flow, and it is in the region of the white pulp that immune cells are activated and disseminated to the rest of the body via splenic lymphatic drainage (33,124,211).

Evidence for changes in intrasplenic P_C and subsequent increases in fluid efflux from the splenic circulation has been reported in an anesthetized rat preparation of a blood-perfused spleen (8,228). Intrasplenic infusion of ANF and NO increases post-versus pre-capillary resistance, elevates intrasplenic P_C and increases fluid efflux (228), plus intrasplenic infusion of NO elevates intrasplenic P_C and fluid efflux from the splenic



Figure 5. The Starling Equilibrium: factors determining fluid movement across capillaries. Reproduced from Rhoades and Pflanzer (1996) (201).

circulation (8).

Fluid extravasation from the splenic circulation of the rat is surprisingly large considering the plasma volume of this species. The reported intrasplenic fluid efflux in conscious unrestrained rats is approximately 0.2 ml/min/100g body weight (46). Basal intrasplenic P_C in the anesthetized rat is approximately 12 mmHg (8,228). The significance of fluid extravasation from the splenic circulation can be contrasted with the known importance that the kidney has in the control of plasma volume. In the rat kidney, glomerular filtration rate is approximately 1 ml/min/100g body weight (21) with a glomerular filtration pressure of approximately 46 mmHg (237). The kidney is the major organ for control of the total extracellular fluid volume. However, because it is impermeable to macromolecules such as albumin (34,200), the kidney is not capable of specifically regulating intravascular protein content and plasma volume. By contrast, ultrafiltration of iso-oncotic fluid from the splenic circulation can directly reduce plasma volume and, ultimately, blood pressure.

1.3.2 Tone of pre- versus post-capillary splenic resistance vessels

The vasoconstrictor action of SSNA (predominantly on pre-capillary vessels) would be tempered by the opposing or complimentary actions of local and circulating vasoactive agents. For example, the vasoconstrictor effect of increased SSNA on splenic resistance arteries would be expected to oppose the vasorelaxant actions of NO release within the splenic microcirculation. Thus, the tone of splenic resistance arteries and veins will depend on the balance between nervous inputs, circulating and local vasoactive factors. Moreover, the balance between vasodilatation and vasoconstriction of the splenic resistance vessels will influence the contribution of the splenic vascular bed to TPR. In addition to this complex interaction between neural inputs and vasoactive agents, there is the possibility of differential vasoreactivity of splenic resistance arteries and veins to vasoactive agents. This has been suggested to explain the divergent responses (both quantitative and qualitative) of different vessels within a single vascular bed to a common vasoactive stimulus (12,55).

The Starling equilibrium describes the factors controlling movement of fluid across all vascular beds, including those within the spleen (Fig. 5). Pre-/post-capillary changes in vascular tone largely determine capillary filtration pressure (16,17,233). Through a mechanism resembling that found in the renal microvasculature (where differential vasoreactivity of afferent and efferent glomerular arterioles to vasoactive agents causes changes in glomerular filtration pressure) (121), the differential vascular tone of splenic resistance arteries (termed hilar arteries) versus veins (termed hilar veins) determines the intrasplenic P_c , which is the driving force for intrasplenic fluid efflux (228). Thus, the intrasplenic extravasation of protein-rich fluid is not due to alterations in capillary permeability, given that the splenic microvasculature is freely permeable to cell-free fluid, but is due to a rise in intrasplenic P_c .

1.4 SHOCK: AN OVERVIEW

Jacobson (1968) proposed a physiological approach to the definition of shock, and suggested that this condition be defined as "....acute circulatory insufficiency
characterized by cardiac output inadequate to provide normal perfusion for the major organs" (123). At the time, clinical definitions considered shock as a sudden development of abnormally low arterial pressure. Such a definition was criticized as not being a representative reflection of the cause of the shock (123). Disapproval of this clinical definition for shock was also based on the fact that circumstances may exist where compensatory mechanisms are still maintaining blood pressure (Fig. 7), but such a definition obscures the fact that there may be an abnormal cardiac output or TPR. Other attempts at defining shock have been based on etiology or function (138). An etiological classification defines shock in terms of hypovolemic, cardiogenic, septic, neurogenic, allergic, obstructive, and endocrine-drug causes. A functional classification considers shock in terms of hypovolemic, cardiogenic, obstructive, and distributive events. Ultimately, although there appears to be no all-inclusive definition of shock it is recognized that the end result of the many different forms of shock is essentially the same, namely, progression to a state where circulating blood volume is insufficient to ensure adequate tissue perfusion.

Shock is characterized by a series of stages identified by particular hemodynamic features (15,123). The *early* stage is temporary and is characterized by compensatory mechanisms that include increased activity of the sympathetic nervous system. The *middle* stage is one in which these compensatory mechanisms are no longer effective at maintaining a homeostatic cardiovascular state. This middle stage exhibits reduced cardiac output, and redistribution of blood flow to essential organs (heart and brain) in preference to skin, splanchnic organs, and kidneys. It is in this stage that many of the clinical features of

shock will be evident (i.e. oliguria, tachycardia, and tachypnea). In the *late* stage there is pooling of blood peripherally, reduced central venous pressure, intravascular fluid and protein extravasation, inadequate coronary perfusion, acute heart failure, and severe hypotension. The shock-induced reduction in intravascular volume and decrease in blood pressure are treated clinically (with varying degrees of success) by the use of intravenous fluid infusion (96,118,178) and pharmacotherapy (15,31,161,268).

1.4.1 Endotoxemia and septic shock

Septic shock (Fig. 6) is the third most frequent form of shock syndrome. There are over 100,000 deaths per year in the United States of America alone (approximately 4 deaths per 10,000 of the total population) that are attributed to septic shock, and the prevalence of this condition appears to be increasing despite modern treatment strategies (2,35). Septic shock is a clinical syndrome that has been traditionally recognized as being the consequence of gram-negative bacteremia, although it can also be caused by grampositive bacteremia, fungi, parasitic and viral infections. Referred to in the past as endogenous suicide (189,190), septic shock has been plagued with confusion concerning its definition (2,182). What exactly is septic shock and how is it different from sepsis or mere infection? The American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine Consensus Conference (1992) presented definitions for sepsis and septic shock and defined the latter as: "sepsis with hypotension, despite adequate fluid resuscitation, along with the presence of perfusion abnormalities that may include, but are not limited to, lactic acidosis, oliguria, or an acute alteration in mental status....." (167).



Figure 6. Characteristic pathophysiological features underlying septic shock. Illustration adapted from Parrillo (1993) (190).

Sepsis itself is a systemic inflammatory response to an active infectious process in the host, whereas septic shock is a subset of severe sepsis and is defined as a sepsis-induced hypotension (167). The clinical manifestations of septic shock include fever or hypothermia, tachypnea, tachycardia, leukocytosis, altered organ system function or perfusion, and coagulation abnormalities. The pathogenesis of septic shock progresses through four stages, namely, infection, toxin production, generation of inflammatory mediators, and finally the associated hemodynamic changes (14,196). Injection of endotoxin (which is the toxic component of the LPS cell wall of Gram-negative bacteria) to induce endotoxemia has been used to reproduce the characteristic pathophysiological features of gram-negative bacteremia and subsequent activation of the host systemic inflammatory response (257). The chemical mediators that are released by the host in response to endotoxin have global effects on the cardiovascular system (189) and cause major alterations at the microcirculatory level (162).

1.4.2 The cardiovascular system in septic shock

The changes in hemodynamic response over the course of septic shock reflect a balance between two events, namely the actions of host cardiovascular mechanisms that attempt to maintain MAP and an overwhelming systemic inflammatory response that causes hemodynamic perturbations. Sepsis in both humans and rats may exhibit a hyperdynamic or a hypodynamic circulatory response (85,216,217,244). A hyperdynamic response, which typically arises first, is characterized by an elevated cardiac output, increased tissue perfusion, hypermetabolism and decreased TPR. A hypodynamic response is characterized by a depression in microvascular perfusion, reduced cardiac output, and hypotension (244).

Progression through the hyperdynamic and hypodynamic stages of septic shock can be altered by therapeutic intervention (196). Body compositional measurements in human hospital patients in the late stage of septic shock, reveal an expanded total-body water and interstitial water coupled with a contracted plasma volume and intracellular fluid (128,154). Such findings are typically a consequence of therapeutic intervention, whereby massive infusions of crystalloids has occurred; these expand the interstitial fluid compartment and only minimally correct plasma volume deficits (118). Indeed, hypovolemia may be present in the face of massive peripheral edema (129), which may cause further tissue damage by increasing the diffusion distance and time for oxygen to travel from the intravascular space to tissue cells (168,169).

A biphasic cardiovascular response to endotoxin has been reported in the rat (85) and also in human studies (216,217,253). This biphasic response is characterized by a rapid hypotension with partial recovery, followed shortly by a secondary hypotensive state associated with hyporesponsiveness to vasoconstrictors (234). Gardiner et al (1994) has described the cardiac hemodynamic effects of a chronic non-lethal, low dose i.v. infusion of LPS (E. coli serotype 0111:B4; $150\mu g/kg/hr$) for 24 hr in conscious rats (88). After 1 hr, there were no significant changes in heart rate, although there was a significant decline in cardiac index and in total peripheral conductance (88). Later, there was a significant hypotension accompanied by elevations in heart rate, cardiac index, and total peripheral conductance (88). With this model of endotoxemia, depression of cardiac function was not considered to contribute to the hypotension (88), although myocardial depression (and a subsequent hypodynamic circulation) has been suggested to contribute to sepsis-induced hypotension (143).

Septic shock is associated with dysfunction in the circulatory system (Figs. 6 and 7) that is due to the pump (myocardium), the distribution network (vasculature), and the fluid (blood) that is circulated (143,189). The cause of myocardial dysfunction has been attributed to host production of a circulating myocardial depressant substance, which excessive NO production in cardiomyocytes (36.143).Vascular causes hyporesponsiveness to vasoconstrictor agents in septic shock has been attributed to increased vascular production of NO (245) and inactivation of catecholamines (156). Abnormalities in coagulation and fibrinolytic pathways contribute to the altered rheology (108,235). Excessive loss of plasma volume due to capillary leakage is another prominent feature of septic shock (138,241,242). Each of these abnormalities in the cardiovascular system is not immediate, but occur over a period of time from the initial pathogenic insult (14,30,196).

1.4.3 The splanchnic region during endotoxemia

The splanchnic circulation (Fig. 2), which contains such notable organs as the spleen, liver and gastrointestinal tract, participates in the regulation of circulating blood volume and systemic blood pressure (204). The splanchnic circulation is regulated by intrinsic and extrinsic mechanisms (97,207,231). During pathogenic insult, the splanchnic region



Figure 7. A brief overview of the compensatory mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology of septic shock. Reproduced from Mohrman and Heller (1997) (174).



Figure 8. A brief overview of the decompensatory mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology of septic shock. Reproduced from Mohrman and Heller (1997) (174).

is an important source and target of inflammatory mediators, which may influence regional blood flow and tissue function (106,209).

There are reported changes in the distribution of regional blood flow during septicemia and endotoxemia (87,174,191,231). It has long been presumed that the reduction in splanchnic blood flow is a necessary defense during hypovolemia so as to preserve perfusion of vital organs such as the heart and brain (174). However, the increase in venous capacitance and venous pooling of blood volume within the splanchnic circulation during septic shock does impede these cardiovascular compensatory responses (14,51). Although total splanchnic blood flow is generally reduced over the course of endotoxemia (231), blood flow to the spleen actually increases during endotoxemia (7,203).

1.4.4 Microcirculatory changes during septic shock

The microvascular system consists of arterioles, venules, capillaries, sinusoids, and shunt vessels. The structure of the microvascular system reflects its functions that include, the circulation of blood within tissues and the provision of a semipermeable membrane for the exchange of substances between blood and cells of an organ. Normally, the permeability of the microcirculation is such that neither tissue edema nor intravascular hemoconcentration arises. The bacterial invasion of the bloodstream perturbs this balance (162).

At the microcirculatory level, the systemic inflammatory response is characterized by activation of the endothelium (54,115). The stimulation of these cells causes notable alterations, namely, a change in their normal anticoagulant state to a procoagulant state with increased adhesion of leukocytes and platelets to blood vessel walls, and increased release of vasoactive factors (104). During septic shock there are changes in the tone of resistance vessels throughout the body (30). The progression of microvascular changes during endotoxemia has been suggested to involve an intense arteriolar vasoconstriction followed quickly by an extreme vasodilatation with a dramatic impediment of blood flow to particular organs (162). Ultimately, the septic shock *cascade* of events brings about a state of hypotension, impaired tissue perfusion, reduced O_2 , and organ failure.

Capillary leakage is a prominent feature in the later stages of septic shock, and is evident from the widespread peripheral edema, hemoconcentration, hypotension, oliguria, and tissue perfusion abnormalities (52,113,241,242). The continuous endothelium that lines most of the circulatory system, is damaged over the course of events during endotoxemia (64,198), and this enables protein-rich fluid to leak from the intravascular compartment into extravascular spaces (52,241). The poor ability of transfusions and intravenous fluid infusions to maintain vascular pressures, flow and circulatory function is indicative of a generalized increase in capillary permeability (161). The alterations in body-water distribution during septic shock may be attributed to altered Starling forces, cardiac depression, hypoalburninemia, generalized hypotension, poor tissue perfusion, abnormal lymphatic activity and capillary leakage (108,162,192).

25

Despite increased capillary permeability accounting for the loss of intravascular fluid to extravascular spaces predominantly during the late stages of septic shock, it should be recognized that this feature does not influence fluid movement across the splenic microcirculation (46,135). Given the discontinuous endothelial lining of the splenic vascular bed (232), it is possible for cell-free fluid to readily cross from the intravascular space into the extravascular compartment at all times, and the extent of this extravasation depends on hemodynamic forces within the splenic circulation (46,135). Hence, during septic shock it is altered intrasplenic hemodynamics that will determine intrasplenic fluid efflux and not changes in capillary permeability. Moreover, these alterations in intrasplenic hemodynamics can increase loss of protein-rich fluid long before there is generalized vascular endothelial damage during endotoxemia.

1.4.5 The lymphatic system and response to endotoxemia

The lymphatic system has functional importance in immunity and homeostasis of fluid balance (119). It differs from the circulatory system in that it is not a closed circuit, but begins blindly in the intercellular spaces of the soft tissues of the body. The valves that occur within lymphatic vessels make it a one-way drainage system. The lymphatic network that exists in most organs has a superficial and a deep capillary system. Although it was considered at one time that there were no deep lymphatics in the rat spleen (160,267), there is now ample evidence that such drainage vessels exist within the spleen (135,142,193,211). Lymphatic fluid from the splanchnic and other vascular beds generally flow through a series of ducts, before eventually reaching the thoracic duct (119,129,265). In contrast, a large proportion of fluid that flows from the splenic

lymphatics drains into the hepatic portal vein (125). Indeed, if the hepatic portal vein is occluded, lymphatic fluid has been observed to back up into the splenic vascular arcade (Chen and Kaufman, unpublished observation).

Under normal circumstances, the continuous leakage of macromolecules (like albumin) from the plasma to the tissues is counterbalanced by a return of protein-rich fluid into the intravascular compartment from the lymphatic system (119). In humans the volume of lymphatic return to the general circulation, over a 24 hr period, is comparable to the volume of the intravascular pool (129). Approximately 50% of total circulating blood proteins that leak out of the capillaries into the tissue fluid over the course of a day are returned to the blood via the lymphatic system (129). Consequently, the lymphatic system is vital for maintaining the integrity of the circulation (119,129).

During endotoxemia, increased endothelial cell permeability of blood vessels results in greater shifts of plasma water and proteins from the intravascular compartment into extravascular spaces (241). Normally, the response of the lymphatic vessels to extravasation of fluid would be to accommodate the increased volume of lymph and to facilitate transfer of this fluid back into the intravascular compartment through increased contractile activity (128). However, the normal pumping activity of lymph vessels, which is controlled by local physiological forces (such as NO) together with inputs from neurogenic and humoral factors (ANF and angiotensin II) (69,128,215), is suppressed in endotoxemia (70,94,111). Indeed, it appears that, although endotoxin induces a rise in capillary permeability and consequently causes an elevation in lymphatic flow rates

(129), endotoxin impedes lymphatic pump activity (70,94,111). It stands to reason that the increased loss of protein-rich fluid from damaged capillaries into extravascular spaces, accompanied by a reduced return of this extravasated fluid from the lymphatic system back into the intravascular compartment due to suppression of lymphatic pumping activity, must contribute to the perturbations in plasma volume and blood pressure during endotoxemia.

1.4.6 Changes in plasma volume during septic shock

Fluid extravasation from the capillaries is enhanced by arteriolar vasodilatation and is reduced by vasoconstriction. Consequently, plasma volume should be considered, not as a static quantity but as, a fluid volume in dynamic equilibrium across the capillary wall. Hypovolemia is a major factor that contributes to the hemodynamic instability during septic shock. Several notable factors may contribute to the hemodynamic perturbations in plasma volume over the course of septic shock: i) decreased venous tone increases venous capacity, leading to venous pooling and lowered effective venous return. and ii) increased microvascular permeability and third spacing of fluid (14,239).

Animal studies have typically assumed that the reduction in plasma volume in response to endotoxin (49,51,241) is due to a generalized increase in capillary permeability, which leads to a subsequent efflux of iso-oncotic fluid into extravascular spaces (99,113). However, closer analysis of the data indicates that the early hemoconcentration and hypotension following intravenous endotoxin infusion precedes the generalized increase in capillary permeability (49-52). Furthermore, the LPS-induced hypotension and hemoconcentration was reportedly difficult to initiate in splenectomized dogs compared to intact dogs (51). A reason for this observation was never proposed. However, given the suggested role of the spleen in the regulation of plasma volume (46,134,135) intrasplenic fluid efflux may have a role in the early hemodynamic perturbations in plasma volume and blood pressure during endotoxemia. As previously mentioned, fluid extravasation from the splenic circulation is dependent on intrasplenic P_C, which itself is determined by the vasoreactivity of splenic resistance arteries versus veins.

1.4.7 Changes in vasoreactivity of resistance vessels in septic shock

During septic shock, there is a global loss in cardiovascular control with changes in vasoconstriction and vasodilatation of regional vascular beds, the end result being a decline in TPR (108,189,191). Although the vasoreactivity of the microvasculature to circulating and locally produced vasoconstrictor and vasodilator agents is generally reduced during endotoxemia (30,115,262), changes in vascular reactivity vary between vascular beds within the microcirculation (162). There is evidence that exposure of blood vessels to LPS produces an alteration in the percent tension change generated in both conduit (224,230) and resistance (173) vessels in response to various vasoactive agents. It is believed that hyperproduction of NO by the inducible form of NO synthase (iNOS), an enzyme that is activated during endotoxemia, contributes to the hyporeactivity of the vasculature (139,262).

1.5 LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE

LPS is situated in the outer part of the cell wall of gram-negative bacteria. LPS is a structurally complex molecule made up of highly variable and highly conserved structural regions. It consists of three components, an 'O' side-chain, an inner core region, and lipid A. It is the lipid A component which is essentially 'toxic' (and hence is denoted as endotoxin) (197), whereas the carbohydrate side-chain component is specific to the species of bacteria. The terms LPS and endotoxin are not strictly synonomous (80), but these two terms are used interchangeably.

1.5.1 Host recognition of lipopolysaccharide

Lewis Thomas (1974) described the recognition response between bacteria and host as : "..... it is the information carried by the bacteria that we cannot abide. The gramnegative bacteria are the best examples of this. They display lipopolysaccharide endotoxin in their walls, and these macromolecules are read by our tissues as the very worst of bad news. When we sense lipopolysaccharide, we are likely to turn on every defense at our disposal..." (122).

There are numerous recognition molecules that exist within the host that bind LPS (11,240). A host serum protein, known as LPS-binding protein (LBP), attaches to LPS due to its ability to bind with particular molecular patterns on the bacterial molecule (213). This complex of LBP and LPS serves to mediate the attachment of LPS to the CD14 receptor on host immune cells. CD14 has been suggested to be the major host receptor for bacterial endotoxin (11) and is found on the plasma membrane of most host immune cells and in soluble form in the serum. CD14 alone can bind to LPS, but the

presence of serum LBP increases their interaction 100-1000 times (213). On binding with LPS, membrane-bound CD14 initiates intracellular signaling events within the host cell that culminates in the activation of host defense mechanisms involving both immune and non-immune cell types. Soluble CD14 is involved in the LPS-mediated activation of CD14-negative cells such as endothelial, epithelial and vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) (151,195). As the spleen is the major lymphoid organ, and comprises a large number of immune cells, it can be reasoned that the spleen would be a prominent site for host recognition and defense mechanisms for LPS.

1.5.2 Host response to lipopolysaccharide following recognition

The host response to endotoxin involves the production of a variety of chemical mediators. These mediators are produced by stimulated immune (macrophages and lymphocytes) and non-immune (VSMCs and endothelium) cells (151,195). Essentially, the recognition of LPS triggers the activation of inducible genes that encode various protein mediators that include cytokines (57). These mediators up-regulate host defense mechanisms. These chemical mediators act typically in cascade pathways (which can be linked to one another or independent) (68).

1.5.3 Cytokines: the initial host molecules released in response to

lipopolysaccharide

Cytokines are a group of proteins that are synthesized and released early in the host response, and are considered to mediate many of the effects of endotoxin (105). The synthesis of cytokines is controlled at the level of gene transcription (105). Cytokines are

released from a variety of cell types including immune, endothelial and VSMCs (29,105). The circulating levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines increase rapidly after pathogenic insult in human and rat models of septic shock (105,247). Excessive release of pro-inflammatory cytokines into the circulation contributes to the overwhelming systemic inflammation that arises with pathogenic invasion of the bloodstream.

Tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), interleukin 1-beta (IL- β), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and interleukin-8 (IL-8), the so-called pro-inflammatory cytokines, have been considered as the cytokines most prominently involved in the early events of septic shock (29,105). A major source of cytokines is the macrophage (29), and the spleen houses a large quantity of this type of immune cell. However, in the absence of the cytokine production from sources such as the spleen (as a consequence of splenectomy) (221), other tissues are capable of producing significant amounts of these proteins (29). Indeed, endotoxin has been shown to stimulate the production of the key cytokines IL-1, TNF and IL-6 in both cultured VSMCs (250) and in an isolated rat aortic ring preparation (163). This suggests that *in vivo*, blood vessels are one of perhaps many tissues that may contribute to an endotoxin-induced elevation in plasma cytokines (105).

1.6 MEDIATORS OF LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE-INDUCED HEMODYNAMIC PERTURBATIONS

ADM, NO, endothelin-1 (ET-1) and ANF plasma levels are elevated during septic shock (5,114,139,179,183,227,245,254). These vasoactive agents may play a role in the hemodynamic perturbations that occur in endotoxemia. Specifically, each of these

vasoactive agents may affect splenic hemodynamics in a manner that elevates intrasplenic P_C and causes increased iso-oncotic fluid extravasation from the splenic circulation. These mediators will be discussed below.

1.6.1 Adrenomedullin

ADM is a vasodilator peptide (140) that is produced and secreted by VSMCs (226) and endothelial cells (225). Physical factors such as volume overload and rapid ventricular pacing can activate ADM gene transcription (131), but the most well characterized activators of ADM production are LPS and the cytokines (227). Binding site analysis in the rat has indicated dense populations of ADM receptors within the spleen and other tissues (188). ADM receptors and associated signal transduction pathways leading to vasorelaxation of VSMCs have been reviewed (170) (Fig. 9), as have the known natriuretic and diuretic actions of this peptide (210).

Plasma concentrations of ADM have been reported to increase approximately 45-fold in patients with septic shock (114,183). Intravenous infusion of LPS has also been reported to induce an increase in plasma ADM levels and in tissue ADM mRNA levels in the rat (218). The LPS-induced mediators, TNF and IL-1, increase production of ADM (227). The time-course of the increase in plasma ADM levels during endotoxemia in the rat, induced either by cecal ligation and puncture (CLP) or intravenous infusion of LPS, has been reported (170,248). The results suggest that the levels of ADM rise quickly (within a few hours) in response to a pathogenic insult.

The reduced vascular tone that characterizes septic shock has been suggested to be partly a consequence of increased levels of circulating vasodilators such as ADM (183). ADM could also affect intravascular volume by causing excessive arteriolar vasodilation, which would promote the extravasation of fluid from capillaries into the interstitium (Fig. 5). Thus, ADM may contribute to the early LPS-induced fall in plasma volume and MAP via its effects on vascular tone and fluid exchange in capillary beds. Moreover, the vasodilatory actions of ADM on splenic resistance vessels could specifically affect splenic pre- versus post-capillary tone and thus the intrasplenic P_C , thus driving isooncotic fluid shifts within the splenic circulation.

1.6.2 Atrial natriuretic factor

3

ANF is a peptide involved in cardiovascular homeostatic mechanisms through its actions on the vasculature, kidneys, and brain (146). Although ANF is typically considered as a vasodilator, there is evidence that ANF has vasoconstrictor actions on the splanchnic and coronary vasculature (228,259-261). ANF and the receptors for this peptide have been found in the spleen (144,236). Evidence from an anesthetized blood-perfused spleen preparation in the rat shows that direct infusion of ANF into the spleen predominantly causes post-capillary vasoconstriction (228). The A-type natriuretic peptide receptor has been suggested to mediate this ANF-induced vasoconstriction (228), perhaps uncharacteristically via a pathway involving cGMP production (246) or by provoking the secondary release of an autocrine- or paracrine-released vasoconstrictor such as ET-1 (71) (Fig. 10).



Figure 9. Adrenomedullin (ADM) in the vascular wall and mechanisms of vasorelaxation. Reproduced from Minamino et al (1998) (170).

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Exogenous ANF administration causes hemoconcentration and hypovolemia (6), which cannot be accounted for by urinary excretion (61). Indeed, these early ANF-induced effects are significantly attenuated by splenectomy (134). Hence, a possible link between ANF-induced reduction in intravascular volume and intrasplenic fluid extravasation has been proposed (134). Intrasplenic infusion of ANF into anesthetized rats causes a dose-dependent increase in splenic venous hematocrit in comparison to the arterial hematocrit (66) i.e. there is loss of cell-free fluid within the splenic circulation. Moreover, in response to volume loading or atrial distention (both stimulants for ANF release) there was also a relative increase in the hematocrit of blood draining from the splenic circulation (135).

Direct infusion of ANF into a blood-perfused spleen of a rat has been shown to cause a dose-dependent increase in intrasplenic P_C (228). Altogether, the major conclusion from these studies is that the spleen has an important role in the reduction in plasma volume caused by physiological doses of ANF, due to enhanced intrasplenic P_C and subsequent shift of iso-oncotic fluid from the intravascular compartment into the systemic lymphatic system.

The time-course and amount of ANF release are important with respect to the link between septic shock, plasma ANF concentration, and regulation of intravascular volume. Circulating concentrations of endogenous ANF rise in response to intravenous endotoxin infusion in the rat (5). The rise in circulating ANF levels occurs within hours of the administration of a bolus dose of LPS (5). Hence, it is plausible to propose that

vasoconstrictor released e.g. ET-1?



Figure 10. Possible cellular mechanisms of atrial natriuretic factor (ANF) to produce vasoconstrictor effect. Illustration adapted from Levin et al (1998) (146).

increased ANF levels during endotoxemia may contribute to the intrasplenic hemodynamic changes that promote fluid shift from the splenic circulation.

1.6.3 Endothelin-1

ET-1 is a potent vasoconstrictor peptide (266) whose synthesis is enhanced by numerous stimuli, including LPS and the cytokines (205). The main regulatory point determining the bioavailability of this peptide is the transcription of the ET-1 gene (44). The vascular endothelial cell, which constitutively releases ET-1, appears to be the major source of this vasoactive peptide (44). Two receptor subtypes, designated ET_A and ET_B , mediate the vasoconstrictor effects of ET-1 on VSMCs, but ET_B receptors situated on endothelial cells mediate ET-1-induced vasorelaxation (44) (Fig. 11). ET-1-induced vasoconstriction is long lasting and occurs in both arteries and veins. However, there is evidence that veins are more sensitive to ET-1-induced vasoconstriction than arteries in mesenteric (62) and pulmonary (208) vessels.

The plasma concentration of ET-1 is elevated in septic patients (254) and in rats administered LPS intravenously (179). Hence, the LPS-induced increase in ET-1 levels may contribute to the hemodynamic perturbations that arise during endotoxemia. In terms of the splenic circulation during infusion of LPS into the bloodstream, ET-1 may contribute to the vascular tone developed by pre- versus post-capillary splenic resistance vessels. If ET-1 was a more potent vasoconstrictor of splenic resistance veins than arteries, as appears the case in other parts of the microcirculation (62,208), then this vasoactive peptide may be proposed to contribute to a rise in intrasplenic P_C.



Figure 11. Cellular mechanisms of endothelin-1 (ET-1) mediated effects on vascular tone. Reproduced from Chabrier (1993) (44).

1.6.4 Nitric oxide

NO plays a primary role in determining vascular tone of resistance vessels (98). NO is a short-acting, highly labile molecule synthesized by endothelial cells (84) and by VSMCs (45) through the activity of the enzyme, nitric oxide synthase (NOS). NOS enzymes exist in three isoforms, designated as NOS I (or neural constitutive NOS or ncNOS), NOS II (or inducible NOS or iNOS), and NOS III (or endothelial constitutive NOS or ecNOS) (83,141). Shear stress is a major physical stimulant of ecNOS-derived NO from the endothelium, and LPS is a major stimulant of iNOS-derived NO in the cardiovascular system (83). Activation of iNOS results in an uncontrolled production of large quantities of NO, unlike the more limited release of NO derived from ecNOS or ncNOS isoforms. Hormones such as ADM exert their vasorelaxant actions, at least partly, through NO generation (170) (Fig. 9). The routes for NO-induced vasorelaxation in vivo and in vitro are by direct action on VSMCs (55) (Fig. 12), or through inhibition of sympathetic nerveinduced vasoconstriction in vivo (269). Hence, the basal release of endothelial NO provides a vasorelaxant effect that opposes sympathetic vasoconstriction. Furthermore, NO has been reported to antagonize the actions of the endothelium-derived vasoconstrictor, ET-1 (92).

NO formation, which increases in human septic shock and endotoxemia in animals (139,245), serves a dual role for the host following pathogenic invasion: i) it has antimicrobial effects (181) but, ii) when overproduced, it can cause circulatory abnormalities (153). Although the role of NO in sepsis is still an area of debate (139,245), NO is

40



Figure 12. Mechansims of nitric oxide (NO)-induced vasorelaxation. Reproduced from Cocks (1996) (55).

generally considered as one of the major mediators involved in the cardiovascular pathophysiology of septic shock and endotoxemia (139,192,245). The rapid time course of the LPS-induced elevation of iNOS expression (149) and subsequent excessive NO production implicates this vasoactive agent in the early hemodynamic perturbations that arise in endotoxemia. Consequently, inhibition of NO biosynthesis has been investigated as a potential strategy for the treatment of septic shock (139,245).

LPS increases the expression of iNOS in numerous tissues of the rat, including the spleen (148,171). Specifically, an early LPS-induced increase in NO within the splenic circulation may contribute to the augmentation of the hemodynamics within this vascular bed. Indeed, close infusion of NO into the splenic artery increases intrasplenic P_C and fluid efflux from the splenic circulation of an anesthetized rat (8). Thus, the mechanism through which NO may alter pre- versus post-capillary tone of splenic resistance vessels *in vivo* to increase intrasplenic P_C , could be either through NO-induced inhibition of SSNA-induced pre-capillary vasoconstrictor tone and/or through differential vasoreactivity of pre- and post-capillary resistance vessels to NO-induced vasorelaxation. The former is supported by evidence that NO blunts the increased SSNA typically observed in rats after endotoxin infusion (95). The latter was addressed in this thesis by assessing the vasoreactivity of isolated splenic resistance arteries and veins to NO.

1.7 A RAT MODEL OF SEPTIC SHOCK

Developing an animal model of septic shock that is clinically relevant is fraught with complications (80,257). Essentially four main approaches have been used to initiate

features of septic shock in animal models (257): (1) the intravenous infusion of live bacteria, (2) the administration of fecal material or live organisms into the peritoneal cavity, (3) the placement of infected foreign material into soft tissues of the body in an attempt to produce abcesses, and (4) surgical operations that partially destroy the normal barriers of the gastrointestinal tract. Each of these approaches has drawbacks and each simulates only part of the hemodynamic and metabolic alterations that arise during septic shock in humans (80,85).

Host responses to endotoxin, the infusion of which is widely used to simulate gramnegative sepsis, are affected by such factors as the dose, route of administration, diurnal rhythm, interspecies differences in sensitivity to endotoxin, and light/dark cycles (38,198), although the systemic response of the host does not appear to be affected by the type of invading pathogen (258). Differences in response to endotoxin between species plus the variability caused by the aforementioned factors, has frustrated the development of a clinically relevant animal model of septic shock.

The basic response to sepsis (namely hypotension, increased cardiac index, and reduced vascular resistance) that arises in humans is also found in rat models (80,257). We chose to use a continuous low dose infusion of LPS (E. coli serotype 055:B5; $150\mu g/kg/hr$) in conscious unrestrained male rats, because we were interested in the early phase of clinical septicemia, where there is an insidious and progressive onset of cardiovascular anomalies. Indeed, this model of low dose infusion of LPS into rats has been reported to produce hemodynamic features similar to the early stages of septic shock in humans

(namely a hyperdynamic response) (88). Many rat model studies of septic shock have used high dose bolus infusions of LPS that have evoked high mortality rates and restricted observation times, and the clinical relevance of such an experimental approach has been criticized (257). A single bolus dose infusion of LPS is not representative of the human condition where a patient suffering from septic shock is exposed to a continuous slow leakage of endotoxin into the bloodstream (80,257). Although CLP is arguably the model of sepsis that most closely resembles the clinical development of septic shock, where there is typically a nidus of infection (257), there are significant differences between CLP and intravenous infusion of endotoxin (257). There are differences with respect to the evoked release of secondary mediators released by the host and the plasma levels of endotoxin that have been measured in each model (42,72,155,243). In brief, the studies that have compared these two models have reported that the expression of IL-1 and TNF is dissimilar (72), and the plasma levels of LPS achieved 1 hr after an intraperitoneal bolus injection of endotoxin was 40-fold higher than those found 2 hr after CLP (243). However, it should be noted that the bolus dose of LPS used in the Villa et al (1995) study (243) was approximately 200-fold higher than the total dose of LPS administered in 1 hr in the rat model of endotoxemia used by Gardiner et al (1994) (88).

We chose to use a rat model to examine the role of the spleen in the control of plasma volume and blood pressure during early hemodynamic perturbations induced by LPS. First, the rat spleen is functionally and anatomically similar to the human spleen (199): as the rat possesses a similar sinusoidal network and splenic microcirculatory pathways (fast and slow routes of blood flow) as do humans, and red blood cell washout experiments

have also been quantitatively similar (100,101). Second, the absence of splenic storage of blood volume and hypovolemia-induced expulsion of high hematocrit blood into the circulation in the rat, as occurs for example in the dog and horse (199), would not undermine interpretation of hemodynamic measurements during endotoxemia.

1.8 EXPERIMENTAL PREPARATIONS AND HYPOTHESES

We utilized four main experimental preparations during our investigations, which were:

- 1. *in vivo* experiments using conscious unrestrained rats infused with non-lethal, low dose LPS over a period of 18 hours, during which time hemodynamic measurements were taken. Comparisons were made between rats that were: i) intact versus splenectomized, and ii) intact versus splenic denervated.
- 2. *in vivo* experiments using anesthetized rats, in which splenic arterial and venous hematocrit were measured during intrasplenic infusion of ADM and a NO donor agent into the splenic artery.
- 3. a blood-perfused spleen preparation utilizing anesthetized animals, in which ADM was infused directly into the splenic artery, and the effect on intrasplenic P_C was assessed.
- 4. an *in vitro* wire myograph preparation, which was used to assess the vascular reactivity of splenic resistance arteries and veins (that were either normal or had been exposed to LPS for 3 hours *in vivo*) to the vasoactive agents ADM, ANF, ET-1, and NO.

The first series of *in vivo* experiments examined the effect of splenectomy on the hemodynamic perturbations following infusion of LPS. Based on evidence that the spleen was a pathway for iso-oncotic fluid efflux (46,134,135), we proposed that:

splenectomy would significantly blunt the early LPS-induced hypotension, hemoconcentration, and hypovolemia.

The second series of *in vivo* experiments investigated the effect of splenic denervation. We proposed that the LPS-induced increase in SSNA limits the rise in intrasplenic P_C . Therefore, in the absence of splenic innervation, a greater rise in intrasplenic P_C would be possible. Thus, we considered that splenic denervation should exacerbate intrasplenic fluid efflux during endotoxemia, and so exaggerate the hemodynamic perturbations following infusion of LPS. We sought to test the hypothesis that:

splenic denervation would significantly exacerbate the initial LPS-induced hypotension, hemoconcentration, and hypovolemia.

Part of the evidence for intrasplenic fluid efflux was an elevation in the hematocrit of blood leaving the spleen via the splenic vein compared to the splenic artery in response to stimuli such as hypervolemia and ANF (134,135). On the basis of these findings, we sought to measure the changes in splenic arterial and venous hematocrit following the close infusion of ADM and NO into the splenic artery of anesthetized rats. We hypothesized that:

both ADM and NO would significantly increase splenic venous hematocrit compared to splenic arterial hematocrit.

46

An elevation in intrasplenic P_C has been suggested to be the force that drives intrasplenic fluid efflux (228). Since ADM levels increase approximately 40-fold during septic shock (114,183), we sought to investigate whether intrasplenic infusion of ADM would elevate intrasplenic P_C . To this end, the double vascular occlusion technique was utilized in a blood-perfused spleen to determine ADM-induced changes in intrasplenic P_C (20,228,238). We hypothesized that:

ADM would significantly increase intrasplenic P_c.

As previously discussed, differential vasoreactivity of splenic resistance vessels to vasoactive agents could underlie the necessary net increase in intrasplenic P_C that drives intrasplenic fluid extravasation. *In vitro* studies of splenic resistance vessels, mounted on a wire myograph, assessed vasoreactivity to ADM, ANF, ET-1, and NO. Each of these vasoactive agents increase in both human and animal studies of septic shock, and are implicated in the hemodynamic perturbations that follow LPS infusion. Our hypothesis stated that:

there would be differential vasoreactivity between splenic resistance arteries and veins to ADM- and NO-induced vasorelaxation, and ANF- and ET-1-induced vasoconstriction.

In addition, given the characteristic development of vascular hyporesponsiveness to vasoactive agents in septic shock, we investigated whether there was maintenance of this vascular reactivity to ADM, NO and ET-1 in 3-hr LPS-exposed splenic resistance vessels. Our hypothesis stated that:

differential vasoreactivity would be maintained between 3 hr LPS-exposed splenic resistance arteries and veins to ET-1-induced vasoconstriction, and NO- and ADMinduced vasorelaxation.

•

2

CHAPTER 2.

:

.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

The *in vivo* experiments (A, B, C and D) were examined by the local Animal Welfare Committee, University of Alberta and found to be in compliance with the guidelines issued by the Canada Council on Animal Care. At the completion of an experiment, all animals were killed with an anesthetic overdose (0.3 ml Euthanyl; intravenous, iv; 240mg/ml sodium pentobarbital; MTC Pharmaceuticals, Cambridge, Ontario, Canada).

Animal model: Male Long Evans rats (450-600g) were obtained from Charles River, St. Foy, Quebec, Canada. They were held in the University Animal Facility for at least one week prior to experimental procedures, exposed to light of 12/12 hour cycle, in a humidity and temperature controlled environment, and maintained on a 0.3% sodium diet and water ad libitum.

EXPERIMENT A: EFFECT OF SPLENECTOMY ON LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE (LPS)-INDUCED HYPOTENSION, HEMOCONCENTATION AND HYPOVOLEMIA IN CONSCIOUS MALE RATS.

Surgery (Expt A): Sodium pentobarbital (62 mg/kg body wt.) was administered i.p., followed by penicillin (0.1 ml i.m. Ethacillin Rogas/STB Inc, London, Ont. Canada) and atropine (0.1 ml, 0.4 mg/ml). Buprenorphine (0.01mg/kg) was given after the completion of surgery. Throughout the surgical procedures, the rats were maintained on a Deltaphase isothermic heating pad (Braintree Scientific, Inc., Mass., USA) which maintained body temperature at \sim 37°C. Isotonic saline (4 ml/hr) was infused i.v. into each animal throughout the surgery.

The jugular vein was cannulated using Silastic tubing (0.51 mm ID x 0.94 mm OD). A mid-line laparotomy was then performed. Two cannula were placed non-occlusively into the inferior vena cava (Silastic 0.51 mm ID x 0.94 mm OD, and polyethylene (PE10, 0.28mm ID x 0.61mm OD) (133); these were for blood sampling and injection of the Evan's Blue dye respectively. A pressure transmitter (PA-C40, Data Sciences International, Minnesota, USA), was implanted in the abdominal aorta (mid-way between the branch to the left renal artery and the bifurcation to the femoral arteries). This latter device enabled continuous measurement of MAP. Rats were subjected to either splenectomy or sham-operated (but left intact). All animals were allowed one week to recover from surgery and to regain their preoperative body weight.

Measurement of hematocrit, plasma protein concentration and urine output (Expt A): Blood samples (50µl) were taken from the central venous catheter into heparinized microhematocrit tubes. They were centrifuged and read immediately after collection. The protein content of the plasma (which was separated from the red blood cell mass) was read immediately using a refractometer. Urine volume (over a 24 hr period) was collected in a graduated urine volume separator.

Measurement of heart rate (Expt A): The heart rate (beats/min) was calculated by analysis of the MAP data using Windaq software (Windaq, DATAQ Instruments Inc, Akron, Ohio). Heart rate was determined by counting the number of spikes in the MAP recordings from data collected for a 5 min period before each timed blood sample
collection; at 0 min, 20 min, 40 min, 60 min, 90 min, 3 hr, 8hr and 18 hr post-LPS or saline infusion.

Measurement of blood volume (Expt A): Plasma volume was determined by means of the Evan's blue dye dilution method. In short, initial blood samples (0.25 ml) were taken. A solution (0.3 ml, 0.5 g/100ml in sterile isotonic saline) of Evan's blue (Baker Chemical Co., Phillipsburg, NJ) was injected via the smaller indwelling venous cannula. The line was flushed with 0.2 ml saline. At 10, 20, 30, 40, and 60 min, blood samples (0.15 ml) were taken from the larger venous cannula, rapidly transferred to heparinized Fisherbrand Caraway tubes (Fisher Scientific, Edmonton) and centrifuged. The hematocrit was measured and the plasma was separated from the red blood cells. Meanwhile, the blood sample was replaced with the same volume of saline. The plasma samples (50 μ l) were (LKB Biochrom, model 4049, Cambridge, England). The readings were compared with standards obtained by adding 0, 1, 2 μ l of the 0.5 % Evan's blue solution to 50 μ l initial plasma plus 950 μ l saline. The plasma volume and blood volume were calculated by extrapolation back to time zero.

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) infusion (Expt A): LPS (150 μ g/kg/hr), derived from Escherichia coli (serotype 055:B5), was supplied by Sigma Chemicals as a lyophilized powder, chromatographically purified by gel filtration, with a protein content of <1 %. One week after surgery to implant the indwelling cannulae, an osmotic mini-pump (Alza Corporation, Palo Alto, CA, USA) was implanted under isoflurane anesthesia (Abbott Labs, Montreal, Canada) and connected to the jugular vein cannula. The length of the jugular cannula (80 mm) gave a "lead-in" time of exactly 2 hr at the delivery rate of 8 μ l/hr i.e. time zero was 2 hr after implantation of the pump, at which time the rat was conscious and fully recovered from the brief period of anesthesia. Infusion of LPS continued over the entire 18 hr experimental period, and with a mean body weight per rat of 530 \pm 7 grams the total dose of LPS over the entire 18 hr infusion period was approximately 1.43 \pm 0.1 mg.

Protocol for MAP (Expt A): Basal (-24 hr) measurements of MAP were determined on the day before the start of the experiment. The start of the experimental measurements (time "0 min") was defined as the commencement of LPS (or saline) infusion into the jugular vein. MAP was continuously recorded and later analyzed (Windaq, DATAQ Instruments Inc, Akron, Ohio). MAP was derived from data collected for a 10 min period before each timed blood sampling.

Protocol for hematocrit, plasma protein concentration and urine volume (Expt A): Basal (-24 hr) measurements of hematocrit were determined on the day before the start of the experiment. Serial measurements of hematocrit and plasma protein concentration were derived from blood samples taken at 0 min, 20 min, 40 min, 60 min, 90 min, 3 hr, 8 hr, and 18 hr post-saline/LPS infusion into the jugular vein. Urine volume was collected 24 hours before the start of the experiment, and over a 24 hour period starting at time=0. **Protocol for blood volume (Expt A):** Basal (-24 hr) blood volume was determined on the day before the start of the experiment, and then the following day at 90 min post-saline/LPS infusion into the jugular vein.

Experimental groups (Expt A): There were four experimental groups that were investigated in a randomized order: (i) non-splenectomized (intact) rats given LPS (n=9); (ii) non-splenectomized (intact) rats given isotonic saline (n=4); (iii) splenectomized rats given LPS (n=7); (iv) splenectomized rats given isotonic saline (n=4).

Statistical analysis (Expt A): The significance of changes in MAP, percent hematocrit, plasma volume, plasma protein concentration and urine output across time were analyzed by a one-way repeated measures ANOVA. Differences between experimental groups at each time period was analyzed using a two-way repeated measures ANOVA, followed by the Student-Newman Keuls method to identify the individual points of significance. If the data were not normally distributed, a repeated measures ANOVA on ranks was used, followed by Dunn's method to identify individual points of significance. Plasma volume was analyzed using an unpaired Student's t-test to assess the absolute decrease in plasma volume between intact and denervated LPS-infused groups. Significance was accepted at p<0.05.

EXPERIMENT B: EFFECT OF SPLENIC DENERVATION ON LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE (LPS)-INDUCED HYPOTENSION, HEMOCONCENTRATION AND HYPOVOLEMIA IN CONSCIOUS MALE RATS.

Surgery and cannulations (Expt B): As described in experiment A.

Denervation of the spleen (Expt B): The splenic nerve was first visualized under a microscope and the splenic bundle (which consists of the splenic artery, splenic vein and splenic nerve) was carefully cleared from the surrounding pancreatic and connective tissue. At the cleared section of splenic bundle, the splenic nerve was detached from the splenic vessels, and a 2 mm section of nerve was cut away and discarded. The severed ends of the splenic nerve were painted with liquefied phenol solution (Fisher Scientific, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada).

Implantation of MAP recording device (Expt B): As described in experiment A.

Implantation of blood flow probes (Expt B): The use and calibration of these probes has been previously described (46). Flow probes (1RB series: Transonic Systems Inc, Ithaca, NY, USA) (Appendix A) were placed around the splenic artery and vein and the probe leads sutured securely to the body wall. Splenic blood flows were continuously recorded on-line using a flowmeter (Transonic Systems Inc, Ithaca, NY, USA) plus Windaq software (Windaq, DATAQ Instruments Inc, Akron, Ohio).

Measurement of hematocrit and blood volume (Expt B): As described in experiment A.

Measurement of plasma renin activity (PRA) (Expt B): PRA was determined in blood samples collected at time intervals of basal (- 24 hr), and then at 90 min, 8 hr, and 18 hr post-infusion of either saline or LPS. The PRA was measured using an Angiotensin I radioimmunoassay kit (Mandel Scientific, Guelph, Ontario, Canada). The subsequent reports on the accuracy, precision, and sensitivity of this assay are taken from data provided in the NEN Angiotensin I radioimmunoassay kit handbook. The accuracy of the method for the PRA assay was evaluated by determining the recovery of 0, 1, 2, 5, and 10 ng of Angiotensin I added per ml of plasma sample, and the reported percent recovery was >90 %. The intra-assay and inter-assay coefficient of variation was evaluated by analysis of replicate aliquots of four plasma pools and the precision for each of these measurements was <5 % and <6 %, respectively. Moreover, the method reports an absence of non-specific interference in the assay by plasma constituents. The sensitivity of the method, defined as the mass equivalent to twice the standard deviation of the zero binding, is approximately 40 pg/ml.

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) infusion (Expt B): As described in experiment A.

Measurement of total catecholamine content of splenic tissue after denervation (Expt

B): The total catecholamine content of intact and denervated splenic tissue (post-infusion of either saline or LPS) was measured using a catecholamine $[^{3}H]$ radioenzymatic assay system (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Baie d'Urfe, Quebec, Canada). The subsequent reports on the sensitivity and precision of this assay are taken from data provided in the catecholamine $[^{3}H]$ radioenzymatic assay system handbook. The expected sensitivity of

this assay for each individual catecholamine (noradrenaline, adrenaline and dopamine) is from 2.5 pg for noradrenaline and adrenaline and 15-20 pg for dopamine per 50 μ l volume of plasma analyzed. The intra-assay coefficient of variation for noradrenaline, adrenaline and dopamine measurements was <5 %. The inter-assay coefficient of variation for each of these catecholamines was <15 %.

Measurement of wet splenic tissue weight (Expt B): Following the 18 hr infusion of saline or LPS, the rats were decapitated and the spleen removed. The wet weight of the spleen was measured.

Measurement of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) in plasma (Expt B): The TNF- α concentration was determined in plasma samples collected at time intervals of basal (- 24 hr), 90 min and 3 hr post-infusion of either saline or LPS. The TNF- α concentration of plasma was measured using a TNF- α [(r) TNF- α] rat ELISA system (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Baie d'Urfe, Quebec, Canada). The subsequent reports on the specificity, precision, sensitivity and recovery of this assay are taken from data provided in the handbook that accompanied the assay (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Baie d'Urfe, Quebec, Canada). The ELISA is specific for measurement of natural and recombinant rat TNF- α ; it does not cross-react with rat IL-1 α or IL-1 β . All our plasma samples were analyzed in a single assay. The intra-assay coefficient of variation of the ELISA was determined to be <10 %. The reported sensitivity and cytokine recovery of this ELISA in plasma was reported as <10 pg/ml and ≥100 %, respectively.

57

Measurement of heart rate (Expt B): The heart rate (beats/min) was calculated by analysis of the MAP data using Windaq software (Windaq, DATAQ Instruments Inc, Akron, Ohio). Heart rate was determined by counting the number of spikes in the MAP recordings from data collected for a 5 min period before each timed blood sample collection; at 0 min, 20 min, 40 min, 60 min, 90 min and 3 hr post-LPS or saline infusion.

Protocol for splenic blood flow (Expt B): The start of the experimental measurements (time "0 min") was defined as the commencement of LPS (or saline) infusion into the jugular vein. Splenic blood flows were derived from data collected for a 10 min period before each timed blood sample collection; at 0 min, 20 min, 40 min, 60 min, 90 min, 3 hr, 8 hr, and 18 hr post-LPS infusion into the jugular vein. Splenic arterial and venous blood flows were continuously recorded and later analyzed (Windaq, DATAQ Instruments Inc, Akron, Ohio).

Protocol for MAP, hematocrit and blood volume (Expt B): As described in experiment A.

Protocol for TNF-\alpha ELISA (Expt B): Serial measurements of plasma TNF- α concentration were derived from blood samples taken at 0 min, 90 min and 3 hr post-saline/LPS infusion into the jugular vein.

Protocol for PRA (Expt B): Blood samples for determination of PRA were drawn 24 hours before the onset of saline/LPS infusion, and at 90 min, 8 hr, and 18 hr post-saline/LPS infusion into the jugular vein.

Experimental groups (Expt B): There were four experimental groups that were investigated in a randomized order: i) intact rats infused with isotonic saline (n=8); ii) intact rats infused with LPS (n=8); iii) splenic denervated rats infused with isotonic saline (n=7); iv) splenic denervated rats infused with LPS (n=10).

Statistical analysis (Expt B): The significance of changes in splenic arterial and venous blood flows, splenic A-V difference, MAP, heart rate, percent hematocrit, plasma volume, plasma TNF- α concentration and PRA across time were analyzed by a one-way repeated measures ANOVA. Differences between experimental groups at particular time periods were analyzed by the two-way repeated measures ANOVA, followed by the Student-Newman Keuls method to identify the individual points of significance. If the data were not normally distributed the repeated measures ANOVA on ranks was used, followed by Dunn's method to identify individual points of significance. Plasma volume was analyzed using an unpaired Student's t-test to assess the absolute decrease in plasma volume between intact and denervated LPS-infused groups. Total catecholamine content was analyzed using an unpaired Student's t-test. Differences in the splenic wet weight were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA on ranks plus Dunn's test for multiple comparisons. Significance was accepted at p<0.05.

EXPERIMENT C: EFFECT OF INTRASPLENIC INFUSION OF ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM) AND S-NITROSO-N-ACETYL-D,L-PENICILLAMINE (SNAP) ON SPLENIC ARTERIAL VERSUS VENOUS HEMATOCRIT AND WET SPLENIC TISSUE WEIGHT IN ANESTHETIZED MALE RATS.

Surgery (Expt C): Anesthesia was induced with sodium pentobarbital (60 mg/kg body weight; intraperitoneal, i.p.) and maintained with Inactin (ethyl-(1-methyl-propyl)-malonyl-thio-urea, 80 mg/kg body weight; subcutaneous, s.c.). Body temperature was maintained by placing the rat on a heating pad (Deltaphase Isothermal pad, Braintree Scientific, Braintree, MA, USA). Access to the abdominal organs was through a midline laparotomy. In order to ensure that the artery and vein supplied and drained only the spleen, all accessory branches running from the splenic vessels to the pancreas, stomach and surrounding tissue were ligated (Fig. 39; Appendix D). At the end of the experiment, vascular isolation was verified by infusing dye into the splenic artery (135).

Cannulations (Expt C): The spleen was carefully cleared from its attachments to the stomach and replaced in its natural position in the abdominal cavity. The stomach was then delivered through the abdominal incision, and laid on the thorax of the rat. The gastric artery, gastric vein, splenic artery and splenic vein were cleared carefully and with minimal handling given their extreme vasoreactivity. The gastric artery was cannulated with drawn-out Tygon tubing (nominal dimensions: 0.25 mm ID, 0.5 mm OD) and the gastric vein with Silastic (Dow Corning, 0.30 mm ID, 0.64 mm OD). Polyethylene (0.58

mm ID, 0.97 mm OD) and Silastic (Dow Corning, 0.51 mm ID, 0.94 mm OD) cannulae were placed in the femoral artery and vein, respectively. The arterial cannula was used as a site for arterial blood sampling. The venous cannula was used for saline infusion.

Measurement of hematocrit (Expt C): Blood samples (50 µl) were taken from the gastric vein cannula (which represents blood flow out of the spleen) and femoral artery cannula (which represents blood composition that would flow into the spleen) into heparinized microhematocrit tubes. They were then centrifuged and read immediately after collection.

Protocol (Expt C): After cannulation of the femoral vein, saline infusion was started (3 ml/hr) and continued over the duration of the experiment. The femoral artery was then cannulated. The arterial cannula was the site for blood sampling. The preparation was allowed to stabilize for 45 min. Femoral artery and gastric vein blood samples were taken after the stabilization period for hematocrit measurements. ADM was infused for 15 min at 9 ng/ml through the splenic artery. For the SNAP experiments (which utilized separate animals), the NO donor was infused for 15 min at 0.3 μ g/ml through the splenic artery. At the end of the ADM (or SNAP) infusion period, blood samples were again taken from the femoral artery and gastric vein. Control experiments received saline infusion for 15 min. The splenic vessels were then ligated, and the spleen removed and weighed.

Statistical analysis (Expt C): Arterial and venous hematocrits after saline versus ADM or SNAP infusion into the splenic artery were compared using a Student's t-test for unpaired

data. Wet splenic tissue weight after saline versus ADM or SNAP infusion was compared using a Student's t-test for unpaired data. Significance was accepted at p<0.05.

EXPERIMENT D: EFFECT OF ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM) ON INTRASPLENIC MICROVASCULAR PRESSURE.

Surgery (Expt D): Anesthesia was induced with isoflurane (2.5%; IsoFloTM, Abbott Laboratories, U.S.A), and continued until the femoral vein was cannulated, at which time Somnotol (sodium pentobarbital, 65 mg/ml, i.v.; MTC Pharmaceuticals, Cambridge, Ontario, Canada) was infused (50 mg/kg). Inactin (ethyl-(1-methyl-propyl)-malonyl-thio urea; 80 mg/kg, s.c.; BYK, Germany), given at the end of surgery, maintained the rat under a surgical plane of anesthesia (no paw-pinch response) for the duration of the experiment.

In order to ensure that the splenic artery and vein supplied and drained only the spleen, all branches running from the splenic vessels to the pancreas, stomach and other surrounding tissues were ligated and divided (Fig. 39; Appendix D). Vascular isolation of the spleen using this method has been confirmed elsewhere (135). Silastic (Dow Corning, USA; 0.51 mm ID, 0.94 mm OD) and PE-50 (Intramedic, USA; 0.58 mm ID, 0.965 mm, OD) cannulae were placed in the femoral vein and artery, respectively. MAP was monitored at the femoral artery, and Somnotol was administered through the femoral vein. The venous line was also used to infuse saline (3 ml/hr) to maintain adequate hydration of the animal throughout the duration of the experiment. The right common carotid artery was occlusively cannulated using PE-90 (0.86 mm ID, 1.27 mm OD) to provide the source of oxygenated-blood for splenic perfusion.

The spleen was carefully cleared from the stomach and replaced in its natural position in the abdominal cavity. The stomach was then placed on top of the thoracic cavity and retracted, thereby exposing the gastric artery and vein, which were used to access the splenic artery and vein. The gastric artery was cannulated with drawn out PE-50 tubing (0.58 mm ID, 0.965 mm, OD), while the gastric vein was cannulated with microrenethane (Braintree, USA; 0.30 mm ID, 0.64 mm OD). The gastric artery cannula was connected, via a 3-way adapter, to a pressure transducer (which monitored splenic arterial perfusion pressure), and to a peristaltic pump. The venous cannula was advanced to the junction of the gastric vein and the splenic vein, and was connected to a pressure transducer (which monitored venous pressure of the blood-perfused spleen). When the surgery was completed, splenic perfusion was started. At the start of splenic perfusion, heparin (0.15 ml; 10,000 i.u./ml, i.v.) was injected. The splenic perfusion consisted of oxygenated blood taken from the carotid artery, and perfused into the splenic artery via the peristaltic perfusion pump (1.0 ml/min). Systemic blood pressure and splenic arterial and venous perfusion pressures, were monitored online using a data acquisition system (D1-400, DATAQ Instruments, Akron Ohio, USA) and recorded using DATAQ's own software (WINDAQ).

Intrasplenic microvascular pressure (Expt D): In the blood-perfused spleen, microvascular pressure (P_C) was determined using the double vascular occlusion

technique (238). After stabilization, both inflow and outflow cannulas were simultaneously occluded. Arterial pressure (P_A) and venous pressure (P_V) equilibrated rapidly to a value reflective of P_C . If P_A and P_V did not exactly equilibrate to the same pressure upon double occlusion, then the mean of both pressures was determined and was defined as P_C (20) (Fig. 36; Appendix B). Results of other studies have shown that P_C measured by double vascular occlusion is equivalent to P_C measured by other classical means, such as the micropuncture technique (77,107).

Protocol (Expt D): Animals were allowed to stabilize for 30 min before any hemodynamic variables were measured. ADM (9 ng/ml) was then infused into the splenic artery at a rate of 0.05 ml/min; this dose achieved approximately the same plasma concentration of ADM reaching the spleen as in Experiment C, given the difference in arterial blood flow. A double vascular occlusion was conducted 5 min after the infusion of ADM was started. The double occlusion was performed by simultaneously tightening a snare placed around the splenic vein (Fig. 1) while the perfusion pump was stopped and the tubing clamped, so that arterial inflow was blocked for a period of ~5 seconds (107) (Fig. 36; Appendix B). Control animals, implanted with the same cannulae and treated in the same manner as the experimental animals, were infused with saline and subjected to the same protocol.

The circulation of blood through the spleen may be represented by a simple linear model where P_A is separated from P_C by a pre-capillary resistance (R_A), and P_C is separated

64

from P_V by a post-capillary resistance (R_V) (20). The pre- and post-capillary resistances may be calculated using the following equations:

 $R_A = (P_A - P_C)/Q$ and $R_V = (P_C - P_V)/Q$, where Q is equal to flow (ml/min).

Statistical analysis (Expt D): The significance of the saline versus ADM-induced alterations in pre-and post-capillary resistances, and intrasplenic P_C was assessed using the Student's t-test for unpaired data. The level of statistical significance was defined at p < 0.05.

EXPERIMENT E: EFFECT OF ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM), ATRIAL NATRIURETIC FACTOR (ANF), ENDOTHELIN-1 (ET-1), SODIUM NITROPRUSSIDE (SNP) AND S-NITROSO-N-ACETYL-D,L-PENICILLAMINE (SNAP) ON VASOREACTIVITY OF ISOLATED NORMAL SPLENIC RESISTANCE ARTERIES AND VEINS.

Vessel preparation (Expt E): Rats were decapitated. The spleen and its associated vascular arcade were rapidly removed through a midline laparotomy, and placed in icecold HEPES-buffered phosphate saline solution (HEPES-PSS). Hilar arteries (125-200 μ m) and veins (350-450 μ m), that led directly into or out from the splenic tissue itself, were dissected free from surrounding adipose tissue, cut into ~2 mm lengths, and mounted on an isometric tension myograph system (Kent Scientific Corp., Litchfield, CA, USA). The blocks were positioned in an organ bath with 5 ml of HEPES-PSS solution kept at 37°C. Two separate organ baths were used to study matched arterial and venous segments, and changes in isometric force were recorded on a data acquisition system (Windaq, DATAQ Instruments Inc, Akron, Ohio).

Resting length-tension curve (Expt E): After mounting, vessels were allowed to stabilize for 30 min in HEPES-PSS buffer under no tension, during which time the buffer solution was changed at 10 min intervals. This was followed by a preconditioned stretch of approximately 0.6 mN, after which vessels were rested at 0.1-0.2 mN/mm and allowed to stabilize in HEPES-PSS buffer for a further 10 min. This was followed by generation of a resting length-tension curve. From Laplace's law, the L_{100} or L_5 was calculated from the exponential curve fit of tension generated versus internal vessel circumference. The L_{100} is the circumference that an artery would have at a transmural pressure of 100 mmHg, and L_5 is the circumference that a vein would have at a transmural pressure of 5 mmHg. Preliminary studies on hilar arteries and veins indicated that the point on the passiveactive tension characteristics curve obtained at 0.65 L_{100} and 0.8 L_5 provided the maximum active tension with least passive tension for arteries and veins, respectively (Appendix C). Vessels were set to their determined optimal tension and allowed to stabilize for 30 minutes in HEPES-PSS buffer, with buffer changed at 10 min intervals, prior to generation of a dose response curve.

Solutions and drugs (Expt E): The HEPES-PSS solution which was maintained at a pH of 7.4, contained (mM) sodium chloride 142, potassium chloride 4.7, magnesium sulphate 1.17, calcium chloride 1.56, potassium phosphate 1.18, HEPES 10, and glucose 5.5. Stock solutions of L-phenylephrine hydrochloride and SNP (Sigma Chemical Co,

Ontario, Canada) and SNAP (World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL, USA) were prepared in water at concentrations of 10M, 1.68×10^{-2} M and 4.5×10^{-3} M, respectively. Appropriate dilutions of all stocks were obtained using HEPES-PSS.

Protocol (Expt E): The optimal tension was set for each vessel prior to assessing the vasoconstrictor or vasodilator responses. A single vessel was used per dose-response measurement. After a 30 min stabilization period, during which time the organ bath was changed with fresh buffer every 10 min, vessels were used for subsequent determination of vasoconstrictor responses to ANF $(1x10^{-12}-1x10^{-6} \text{ M})$ or ET-1 $(1x10^{-11}-1x10^{-7} \text{ M})$. Vessels were treated for 4 min at each cumulative dose of ANF, and 10 min for each cumulative dose of ET-1. Preliminary experiments confirmed that the maximal vasorelaxant response at each dose was achieved by this time for each vasoactive agent. For vessels used to assess the vasorelaxant response to ADM and the NO donor agents, a cumulative dose response curve to phenylephrine $(1x10^{-8}-1x10^{-3} \text{ M})$ was first generated. The dose of phenylephrine needed to achieve an 80% maximal constriction (EC₈₀) over this concentration range was chosen (Fig. 44; Appendix I), as the preconstrictor value for both hilar arteries and veins, in order to assess the vasorelaxant properties of vessels that had the same *degree* of preconstrictor tone relative to maximal constriction for that vessel. However, it is acknowledged that the absolute tension would be greater in hilar arteries than veins. After a 30 min stabilization period, during which time the organ bath was changed with fresh buffer every 10 min, the determined EC₈₀ to phenylephrine was used to preconstrict the vessel for subsequent vasorelaxant responses to SNP (1x10⁻¹²- 1×10^{-4} M) or SNAP (1×10^{-10} - 3×10^{-4} M). Vessels were treated either with ADM, SNP or

SNAP for 4 min periods at each cumulative dose. Preliminary experiments confirmed that the maximal vasorelaxant response at each dose was achieved by this time.

Statistical analysis (Expt E): The significance of changes in tension at each of the cumulative doses for each vasoactive agent was analyzed by the one-way repeated measures ANOVA, followed by the Student-Newman-Keuls method to identify the individual points of significance. Where data were not normally distributed, a repeated measures ANOVA on ranks was used. The significance of differences between arteries and veins at particular doses, was analyzed by a two-way repeated measures ANOVA. The significance of differences between hilar arteries and veins, in the EC₅₀ concentration of the dose-responses to ANF and ET-1, was determined by a Mann-Whitney rank sum test as the data was not normally distributed. The significance of differences in maximal vasorelaxation to ADM, SNP and SNAP between arteries and veins was determined by a Student's t-test for unpaired data. The significance of differences in maximal vasorelaxation between arteries and veins treated with SNP and SNAP was determined by a one-way ANOVA plus Dunn's test for multiple comparisons. Significance was accepted at p < 0.05.

EXPERIMENT F: EFFECT OF N^G-MONOMETHYL-L-ARGININE (L-NMMA) ON ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM)-INDUCED RELAXATION OF ISOLATED NORMAL SPLENIC RESISTANCE ARTERIES.

Vessel preparation (Expt F): Splenic hilar arteries and hilar veins were obtained in an identical manner as described in experiment E. After characterization of the activepassive tension curves for each vessel, a cumulative dose response curve to phenylephrine $(1x10^{-8}-1x10^{-3} \text{ M})$ was generated. From this curve the dose required to achieve 80% maximal constriction (EC₈₀) to phenylephrine was determined. The effect of NO synthase inhibition was investigated by incubating the vessels with N^G-monomethyl-L-arginine (L-NMMA) (10⁻⁴ M) or the inactive enatiomer N^G-monomethyl-D-arginine (D-NMMA) (10⁻⁴ M) (Calbiochem, LaJolla, CA., USA) for 15 min before pre-constriction and construction of the ADM dose-response curve. After a 30 min stabilization period, during which time the organ bath was changed with fresh buffer every 10 min, phenylephrine (the EC₈₀ concentration) was used to pre-constrict the vessel for determination of the vasodilatory response to ADM ($1x10^{-11}-1x10^{-6}$ M).

Statistical analysis (Expt F): The significance of changes in tension at each of the cumulative doses for hilar arteries treated with ADM plus D-NMMA and those hilar arteries treated with ADM plus L-NMMA was analyzed by a one-way repeated measures ANOVA, followed by the Student-Newman-Keuls method to identify the individual points of significance. Where data were not normally distributed, a repeated measures ANOVA on ranks was used. The significance of differences between each of these treated groups at a particular dose of ADM was analyzed by the two-way repeated measures ANOVA. The significance of differences in maximal vasorelaxation between ADM plus D-NMMA versus ADM plus L-NMMA treated hilar arteries was determined by a Student's t-test for unpaired data. Significance was accepted at p < 0.05.

EXPERIMENT G: EFFECT OF PHENYLEPHRINE, ENDOTHELIN-1 (ET-1), S-NITROSO-N-ACETYL-D,L-PENICILLAMINE (SNAP) AND ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM) ON VASOREACTIVITY OF ISOLATED LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE (LPS)-EXPOSED (150µg/kg/hr for 3 hr *in vivo*) SPLENIC RESISTANCE ARTERIES AND VEINS.

Vessel preparation (Expt G): Rats were prepared as in the *in vivo* experiments, but in this instance for infusion of LPS (150 μ g/kg/hr) into the bloodstream for a period of 3 hr only. At the end of the 3 hr LPS infusion period the animal was decapitated. The spleen and its associated vascular arcade were rapidly removed and mounted on the wire myograph system as described in experiment E.

Resting length-tension curve (Expt G): Mounted vessels were treated as previously described in experiment E. Preliminary studies on 3 hr LPS-exposed hilar arteries and veins indicated that the point on the passive-active tension characteristics curve obtained at $0.65L_{100}$ and $0.8L_5$ provided the maximum active tension with least passive tension for arteries and veins, respectively.

Solutions and drugs (Expt G): These were prepared as described in experiment E.

Protocol (Expt G): The generation of cumulative dose-responses to phenylephrine, ET-1, ADM and SNAP were as previously described in experiment E.

70

Statistical analysis (Expt G): The significance of changes in tension at each of the cumulative doses for phenylephrine, ET-1, ADM and SNAP was analyzed by a one-way repeated measures ANOVA, followed by the Student-Newman-Keuls method to identify the individual points of significance. Where data were not normally distributed, a repeated measures ANOVA on ranks was used. The significance of differences between arteries and veins at a particular concentration, was analyzed by a two-way repeated measures ANOVA. The significance of differences between 3 hr LPS-exposed hilar arteries and veins (and between the vessels used in experiment E) in the phenylephrine EC₈₀ concentration was determined by a one-way ANOVA plus Dunn's test for multiple comparisons. The significance of differences between 3 hr LPS-exposed hilar arteries and veins (and between the vessels used in experiment E) in the EC_{50} concentration of ET-1 was determined by a Mann-Whitney rank sum test, as the data was not normally distributed. The significance of differences in maximal vasorelaxation to ADM and SNAP between 3 hr LPS-exposed hilar arteries and veins versus the vessels used in experiment E was determined by a one-way ANOVA plus Dunn's test for multiple comparisons. Significance was accepted at p < 0.05.

CHAPTER 3.

·

2

RESULTS

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

.

EXPERIMENT A: EFFECT OF SPLENECTOMY ON LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE (LPS)-INDUCED HYPOTENSION, HEMOCONCENTRATION AND HYPOVOLEMIA IN CONSCIOUS MALE RATS.

There were no significant differences between the basal measurements of MAP in any of the four groups of animals, nor were there any changes in MAP in either the intact or splenectomized, saline-infused groups (Fig. 13A). However, LPS infusion caused a significant decrease in MAP throughout the duration of the experimental period in the intact animals, relative both to the basal values and compared with the saline-infused intact group (Fig. 13B). Splenectomy abolished this response i.e. there was no significant change in MAP in the splenectomized rats infused with LPS compared with the salineinfused splenectomized group. Blood pressure was significantly lower in the intact rats than in the splenectomized rats at all points following initiation of the LPS infusion.

There were no significant differences between the basal values of hematocrit in any of the four groups of animals, nor were there any significant changes in hematocrit in either the intact or splenectomized, saline-infused groups (Fig. 14A). In the intact animals, LPS infusion resulted in a significant increase in hematocrit at 20 min, 40 min, 60 min, 90 min post-LPS infusion relative both to the basal/0 values and compared to the saline-infused, intact control group (Fig. 14B). By contrast, LPS infusion failed to induce any change in hematocrit in the splenectomized group. Hematocrit was significantly higher in the intact rats than in the splenectomized rats at 20, 40, 60 and 90 min following initiation of the LPS infusion.



Figure 13. Mean arterial pressure (MAP) in conscious intact (open circles, n=7) and splenectomized rats (closed circles, n=9) infused with A) saline and B) lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150 µg/kg/hr). Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. *, Significant difference between intact and splenectomized LPS-infused rats and between intact LPS-infused group and its respective saline-infused control group, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.



Figure 14. Hematocrit (Hct) in conscious intact (open circles, n= 7) and splenectomized rats (closed circles, n=9) infused with A) saline and B) lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150 μ g/kg/hr). Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. *, Significant difference between intact and splenectomized LPS-infused rats and between intact LPS-infused group and its respective saline-infused control group, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.

There were no significant differences between the basal values of heart rate in any of the four experimental groups, nor were there any significant changes in heart rate in either the intact or splenectomized, saline-infused groups (Fig. 15). There was a significantly greater tachycardia in the intact LPS-infused group compared to the splenectomized LPS-infused group and its respective saline-infused control at 60 min, 90 min, 8 hr and 18 hr post-LPS infusion (*, p<0.05) (Fig. 15).

After 90 min LPS infusion, plasma volume was significantly reduced in the intact animals, but remained unchanged in the splenectomized group (Fig. 16). During the period of determination of plasma volume (between 90-140 min post-LPS infusion), there was no significant change in hematocrit in saline-infused controls (p>0.05). It may thus be assumed that plasma volume was in a steady state at this time.

There were no significant differences between the basal values of plasma protein concentration in any of the four experimental groups, nor were there any significant changes in plasma protein concentration in either the intact or splenectomized, saline-infused groups (Fig. 17A). In both the intact and splenectomized rats, plasma protein concentration significantly decreased at 3 hr, 8 hr and 18 hr post-LPS infusion in comparison to their relative basal/saline-infused control values (Fig. 17B) (p<0.05). There was no significant change in plasma protein concentration in the early hours of LPS infusion in either group (between 0-3 hr post-LPS infusion).

76

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 15. Heart rate in conscious intact (open circles, n=7) and splenectomized rats (closed circles, n=7) infused with A) saline and B) lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150 μ g/kg/hr). Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. *, Significant difference between intact and splenectomized LPS-infused rats and between intact LPS-infused group and its respective saline-infused control group, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.



Figure 16. Plasma volume of intact (n=4) and splenectomized (splenx, n=4) rats before (solid bars) and after (open bars) 90 min infusion of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150 μ g/kg/hr) into conscious rats. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. *, Significant difference between intact and splenectomized LPS-infused rats and between intact LPS-infused group and its respective saline-infused control group, p<0.05. One-way ANOVA on ranks plus Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.



Figure 17. Plasma protein concentration in conscious intact (open circles, n=7) and splenectomized rats (closed circles, n=9) infused with A) saline and B) lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150 μ g/kg/hr). Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. *, Significant difference between saline-infused and LPS-infused rats from both intact and splenectomized groups, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.



Figure 18. Average volume of urine output in intact conscious rats, 24 hours before infusion period (basal values) (solid bars) and over 24 hours of either lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150 μ g/kg/hr) (n=7) or saline infusion (open bars) (n=7). Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. *, Significant difference between intact saline-infused and LPS-infused rats and between intact LPS-infused group and respective basal value, p<0.05. One-way ANOVA on ranks plus Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

The average volume of urine output in intact conscious rats over the 24 hr period prior to infusion of either saline or LPS were not significantly different (p>0.05). There was a significant decrease in the average volume of urine output between the intact LPS-infused group and its respective basal value/saline-infused control over the 24 hr infusion period (p<0.05) (Fig. 18).

EXPERIMENT B: EFFECT OF SPLENIC DENERVATION ON LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE (LPS)-INDUCED HYPOTENSION, HEMOCONCENTRATION AND HYPOVOLEMIA IN CONSCIOUS MALE RATS.

There were no significant differences between the intact and denervated groups in the resting (time=0) splenic arterial or venous blood flows, or in the resting (time = 0) A-V flow differential (fluid efflux) (Fig. 19) (p>0.05). Nor were there any significant changes in splenic blood flows or A-V flow differential over the course of 18 hours in the respective saline-infused control groups (Fig. 40; Appendix E) (p>0.05). Following infusion of LPS, splenic arterial blood flow increased significantly in both intact and denervated groups with regard to both basal values and their respective saline-infused control (Fig. 19A) (§, p<0.05). The LPS-induced increase in splenic arterial blood flow was significantly greater in the denervated group than the intact group at 60 min, 90 min and 3 hr post-infusion (Fig. 19A) (*, p<0.05). There was no significant difference in venous blood flow between denervated and intact groups infused with LPS (Fig. 19B) (p>0.05). The A-V flow differential significantly increased in response to LPS in both the denervated and intact groups, both with regard to basal values and their respective saline-infusion (Fig. 19C) (§, p<0.05). The LPS-induced increase in fuse in the denervated and intact groups infused with LPS (Fig. 19B) (p>0.05). The A-V flow differential significantly increased in response to LPS in both the denervated and intact groups, both with regard to basal values and their respective saline-infused control group (Fig. 19C) (§, p<0.05). The LPS-induced rise in intrasplenic fluid



Fig. 19. Splenic A) arterial and B) venous blood flows in denervated (open circles, n=10) and intact (solid circles, n=8) conscious rats during lipopolysaccharide (LPS) infusion ($150\mu g/kg/hr$), and C) fluid efflux (A-V difference) in denervated (open circles, n=8) and intact (solid circles, n=8) groups. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. §, Significant difference between LPS-infused groups and their respective saline-infused control groups (Fig. 40; Appendix E) and between the LPS-infused groups and their respective pre-infusion (0 min) basal values, p<0.05. *, Significant difference between intact and denervated LPS-infused groups, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.

efflux was significantly greater in the splenic denervated than the intact group at 60 min, 90 min, 3hr and 8 hr post-infusion (Fig. 19C) (*, p<0.05). The mean increase in intrasplenic fluid efflux over the 18 hr LPS infusion period was significantly greater in the denervated (+0.41 \pm 0.08 ml/min, n=7) than in the intact (+0.21 \pm 0.06 ml/min, n=8) group (p<0.05).

There was no significant difference in basal (-24 hr) MAP between the intact and denervated groups (Fig. 20A) (p>0.05), nor were there any significant changes in MAP over the course of 18 hours in the respective saline-infused controls (Fig. 41A; Appendix F) (p>0.05). A significant decrease in MAP occurred at all time points in both intact and denervated LPS-infused groups relative to their respective basal (-24 hr) and saline-infused control values (Fig. 20A) (§, p<0.05). MAP was significantly lower in the denervated LPS-infused group compared to the intact LPS-infused group at all time points except 90 min (Fig. 20A, 21B) (*, p<0.05).

There was no significant difference in basal (-24 hr) hematocrit between the intact and denervated groups (Fig. 20B) (p>0.05), nor were there any significant changes in hematocrit over the course of 18 hours in the respective saline-infused controls (Fig. 41B; Appendix F) (p>0.05). In response to LPS infusion, hematocrit increased in both the intact and denervated groups with regards to respective basal values and saline-infused controls (Fig. 20B) (\S , p<0.05). However, the increase in hematocrit was significantly greater in the denervated group compared to the intact group at 90 min, 3 hr, and 8 hr post-LPS infusion (*, p<0.05).



Figure 20. A) Mean arterial pressure (MAP) and B) hematocrit (Hct) during intravenous infusion of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) ($150\mu g/kg/hr$) in intact (solid circles, n=8) and splenic denervated (open circles, n=8) conscious rats. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. §, Significant difference between LPS-infused groups (intact and denervated) and their respective basal values and saline-infused groups (Fig. 41; Appendix F). *, Significant difference between intact and denervated LPS-infused groups, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.

There was no significant difference in basal (-24 hr) heart rate between the intact and denervated groups (Fig. 21D) (p>0.05), nor were there any significant changes in heart rate over the course of 18 hours in the respective saline-infused controls (data not shown) (p>0.05). In response to LPS infusion, heart rate increased in both the intact and denervated groups compared with their respective basal values and saline-infused controls (Fig. 21D; Fig. 42D; Appendix G) (§, p<0.05). However, the increase in heart rate was significantly greater in the denervated group compared to the intact group at 60 min, 90 min, and 3 hr post-LPS infusion (Fig. 21D) (*, p<0.05).

Basal (-24 hr) plasma volume was significantly greater in the splenic denervated group than the intact group (Fig. 22) (§, p<0.05). Following 90 min of LPS infusion there was a significant fall in plasma volume from respective basal control values in both intact (†, p<0.05) and denervated (@, p<0.05) groups (Fig. 22). There was a significant difference in plasma volume between the intact and denervated groups at 90 min post-LPS infusion (Fig. 22) (*, p<0.05). Moreover, the decrease in plasma volume from basal to 90 min post-LPS infusion was significantly greater in the denervated group (1.1 ± 0.2 ml/100g B. Wt, n=7) than the intact group (0.54 ± 0.1 ml/100g B. Wt, n=8) (p<0.05). The decrease in plasma volume is physiologically significant, given that the relative loss of intravascular fluid in both experimental groups is greater than 10% of the typical plasma volume of a rat (with plasma volume per animal body weight taken into account).

Basal (-24 hr) plasma renin activity (PRA) tended to be higher in the denervated salineinfused control group (7.5 ± 0.5 ng AI/ml/hr, n=7) than the intact saline-infused control



Figure 21. A) Splenic (A-V) difference B) mean arterial pressure (MAP) C) hematocrit (Hct) and D) heart rate during intravenous infusion of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (150 μ g/kg/hr) in intact (solid circles) and splenic denervated (open circles) conscious rats. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. §, Significant difference between LPS-infused groups (intact and denervated) and their respective basal values and saline-infused groups (Fig. 42; Appendix G). *, Significant difference between intact and denervated LPS-infused groups, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.



Figure 22. Plasma volume at basal (-24 hr) and 90 min post-infusion of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) ($150\mu g/kg/hr$) in intact (closed bars, n=8) and denervated (open bars, n=7) conscious rats. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. \dagger , Significant difference in plasma volume in intact rats at basal versus 90 min post-LPS infusion, p<0.05. @, Significant difference in plasma volume in denervated rats at basal versus 90 min post-LPS infusion, p<0.05. §, Significant difference in basal plasma volume between intact and denervated groups, p<0.05. *, Significant difference in plasma volume at 90 min post-LPS infusion between intact and denervated LPS-infused groups, p<0.05. One-way ANOVA on ranks plus Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.
group (4.7±0.3 ng AI/ml/hr, n=7) (p=0.323). There was no significant change in PRA over the 18 hr period of saline infusion in intact or denervated saline-infused controls (Fig. 43; Appendix H) (p>0.05). LPS caused a significant time-dependent increase in PRA in both intact (@, p<0.05) and denervated (†, p<0.05) groups (Fig. 23). Moreover, the increase in PRA was significantly greater in the denervated group than in the intact group at 90 min, 8 hr, and 18 hr post-LPS infusion (Fig. 23) (*, p<0.05). The intra-assay and inter-assay variability of the PRA measurements were 6 % and 11 %, respectively.

Total catecholamine content of splenic tissue at 18 hr post-saline/LPS infusion was significantly less in denervated (32 ± 8 ng/ml, n=10) than intact (222 ± 34 ng/ml, n=10) groups (p<0.05). The intra-assay variability of the catecholamine measurements was 2 %.

Basal (-24 hr) plasma TNF- α concentration in the denervated and intact groups was below the detection limit of the assay. There was no detectable change in plasma TNF- α concentration in either intact or denervated control groups at 90 min and 3 hr post-saline infusion. LPS caused a significant increase in plasma TNF- α concentration in both intact (90 min: 2244 ± 654 pg/ml; 3 hr: 1606 ± 113 pg/ml, n=4) and denervated (90 min: 2231 ± 532 pg/ml; 3 hr: 2006 ± 577 pg/ml, n=4) groups compared to their respective basal value and saline-infused controls (p<0.05). Plasma TNF- α concentrations were not significantly different between the denervated and intact groups at 90 min or 3 hr post-LPS infusion (p>0.05). The intra-assay variability of the plasma TNF- α measurements was 5 %.



Figure 23. Plasma renin activity (PRA) before (-24 hr) and during intravenous infusion of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) ($150\mu g/kg/hr$) in intact (closed bars, n=8) and splenic denervated (open bars, n=9) conscious rats. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. @, Significant difference between intact LPS-infused group and its saline-infused control group (Fig. 43; Appendix H), p<0.05. **†**, Significant difference between intact and denervated LPS-infused group and its saline-infused control group (Fig. 43; Appendix H), p<0.05. **†**, Significant difference between intact and denervated LPS-infused groups, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.

There were no significant differences in the wet weight of splenic tissue at 18 hr postinfusion between intact saline-infused $(1.27 \pm 0.1 \text{ g}, n=13)$, intact LPS-infused $(1.28 \pm 0.1 \text{ g}, n=10)$, denervated saline-infused $(1.27 \pm 0.1 \text{ g}, n=11)$, and denervated LPS-infused $(1.26 \pm 0.1 \text{ g}, n=13)$ groups (p>0.05).

EXPERIMENT C: EFFECT OF INTRASPLENIC INFUSION OF ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM) AND S-NITROSO-N-ACETYL-D,L-PENICILLAMINE (SNAP) ON SPLENIC ARTERIAL VERSUS VENOUS HEMATOCRIT AND WET SPLENIC TISSUE WEIGHT IN ANESTHETIZED

There was an ADM-induced increase in splenic venous hematocrit (saline: $42.0 \pm 0.3\%$, n=6 versus ADM-infused: $43.9 \pm 0.3\%$, n=7) compared to arterial hematocrit (saline: $41.2 \pm 0.2\%$, n=6 versus ADM-infused: $40.7 \pm 0.2\%$, n=7) (p<0.05), but no change in wet splenic tissue weight (ADM-infused: $1.0 \pm 0.01g$, n=7 versus saline-infused: $0.99 \pm 0.03g$, n=6) (p>0.05) i.e. there was an ADM-induced increase in loss of cell-free fluid within the splenic circulation. There was a SNAP-induced increase in splenic venous hematocrit (saline: $41.0 \pm 0.4\%$, n=3 versus SNAP-infused: $43.5 \pm 0.5\%$, n=3) compared to arterial hematocrit (saline: $40.0 \pm 0.3\%$, n=3 versus SNAP-infused: $41.0 \pm 0.4\%$, n=3) (p<0.05), but no change in wet splenic tissue weight (SNAP-infused: $1.1 \pm 0.05g$, n=3) versus saline-infused: $1.0 \pm 0.05g$, n=3) (p>0.05) i.e. there was a SNAP-infused: $1.1 \pm 0.05g$, n=3 versus saline-infused: $1.0 \pm 0.05g$, n=3) (p>0.05) i.e. there was a SNAP-infused: $1.1 \pm 0.05g$, n=3 versus saline-infused: $1.0 \pm 0.05g$, n=3) (p>0.05) i.e. there was a SNAP-infused: $1.1 \pm 0.05g$, n=3 versus saline-infused: $1.0 \pm 0.05g$, n=3) (p>0.05) i.e. there was a SNAP-infused: $1.1 \pm 0.05g$, n=3 versus saline-infused: $1.0 \pm 0.05g$, n=3) (p>0.05) i.e. there was a SNAP-infused: $1.1 \pm 0.05g$, n=3 versus saline-infused: $1.0 \pm 0.05g$, n=3) (p>0.05) i.e. there was a SNAP-infused: $1.1 \pm 0.05g$, n=3 versus saline-infused: $1.0 \pm 0.05g$, n=3) (p>0.05) i.e. there was a SNAP-infused increase in loss of cell-free fluid within the splenic circulation.

EXPERIMENT D: EFFECT OF ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM) ON INTRASPLENIC MICROVASCULAR PRESSURE.

In the isolated, blood-perfused spleen, intrasplenic infusion of ADM resulted in a significant decrease in pre-capillary resistance (saline-infused: $95 \pm 1.3 \text{ mmHg/ml}$, n=5 versus ADM-infused: $89 \pm 1.4 \text{ mmHg/ml}$, n=6) (p<0.05), no change in post-capillary resistance (saline-infused: $9 \pm 0.3 \text{ mmHg/ml}$, n=5 versus ADM-infused: $10 \pm 0.4 \text{ mmHg/ml}$, n=6) (p>0.05), and a significant increase in intrasplenic P_c (saline-infused: $11.0 \pm 0.3 \text{ mmHg}$, n=5 versus ADM-infused: $13.4 \pm 0.2 \text{ mmHg}$, n=6) (p<0.05).

2

EXPERIMENT E: EFFECT OF ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM), ATRIAL NATRIURETIC FACTOR (ANF), ENDOTHELIN-1 (ET-1), SODIUM NITROPRUSSIDE (SNP), AND S-NITROSO-N-ACETYL-D,L-PENICILLAMINE (SNAP) ON VASOREACTIVITY OF ISOLATED NORMAL SPLENIC RESISTANCE ARTERIES AND VEINS.

There was a significant concentration-dependent $(1 \times 10^{-8} \text{ to } 1 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M})$ increase in tension to phenylephrine in both hilar arteries (n=9) and hilar veins (n=11) (p<0.05). The maximal tension generated at the highest dose of phenylephrine $(1 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M})$ was 2.1 ± 0.1 mN/mm and 0.5 ± 0.03 mN/mm for hilar arteries and veins, respectively (Fig. 44; Appendix I). There was no significant difference in the phenylephrine EC₈₀ values between hilar arteries (4.86 x $10^{-6} \text{ M} \pm 0.9 \text{ x} 10^{-6} \text{ M})$ and veins (6.44 x $10^{-6} \text{ M} \pm 1.2 \text{ x} 10^{-6}$ M) (p<0.05) (Fig. 45; Appendix J) i.e. although the individual pre-constrictive EC₈₀ doses used for vessels varied slightly, the mean EC_{80} dose of phenylephrine applied to arteries was not significantly different from that used for veins. This 80% preconstriction value (EC_{80}) was chosen in order to assess the vasorelaxant properties of vasoactive agents on splenic resistance vessels that had the same *degree* of preconstrictor tone relative to maximal vasoconstriction for that vessel.

ADM caused a dose-dependent relaxation of phenylephrine-preconstricted splenic resistance arteries and veins (Fig. 24). However, the maximal relaxation was significantly greater in the hilar arteries ($60 \pm 1\%$, n=9) than in hilar veins ($43 \pm 2\%$, n=8) (p<0.05) i.e.

ANF caused a dose-dependent vasoconstriction of both splenic resistance arteries and veins (p<0.05) (Fig. 25). The potency of ANF was significantly greater on the veins than the arteries (EC₅₀= artery 8.1 x 10^{-9} M \pm 1.6 x 10^{-9} M versus vein 3.2 x 10^{-9} M \pm 1.0 x 10^{-9} M) (p<0.05).

ET-1 caused a dose-dependent vasoconstriction of both splenic resistance arteries and veins (p<0.05) (Fig. 26). The potency of ET-1 was significantly greater on the veins than the arteries (EC₅₀= artery 3.7 x 10^{-9} M \pm 4.5 x 10^{-9} M versus vein 6.8 x 10^{-10} M \pm 2.4 x 10^{-10} M) (p<0.05).



Figure 24. Effect of adrenomedullin (ADM) on vasorelaxation of splenic resistance arteries (closed circles, n=9) and veins (open circles, n=8). The vessels were preconstricted with phenylephrine (EC_{80}). *, Significant difference between % vasorelaxation of artery and vein, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.



Figure 25. Vasoconstrictor effect of atrial natriuretic factor (ANF) on splenic resistance arteries (closed circles, n=9) and veins (open circles, n=9). *, Significant difference between % vasoconstriction of artery and vein, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.



Figure 26. Vasoconstrictor effect of endothelin-1 (ET-1) on splenic resistance arteries (closed circles, n=9) and veins (open circles, n=8). *, Significant difference between % vasoconstriction of artery and vein, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.



Figure 27. Vasorelaxant effects of sodium nitroprusside (SNP) on hilar arteries (closed circles, n=9) and veins (open circles, n=10). Cumulative dose-response curves to SNP, following preconstriction with phenylephrine (EC_{80}). Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. *, Significant difference between splenic resistance artery and vein (p<0.05). Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.



Figure 28. Vasorelaxant effects of s-nitroso-n-acetyl-D, L-penicillamine (SNAP) on hilar arteries (closed circles, n=11) and veins (open circles, n=8). Cumulative dose-response curves to SNAP, following preconstriction with phenylephrine (EC_{80}). Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. *, Significant difference between splenic resistance artery and vein (p<0.05). Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.



Figure 29. Maximal vasorelaxation to sodium nitroprusside (SNP) and S-nitroso-Nacetyl-D,L-penicillamine (SNAP) in hilar arteries (closed bars; n=9 and n=11, respectively) and veins (open bars; n=10 and n=8, respectively). Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. *, Significant difference in maximal vasorelaxation of hilar arteries to SNP and SNAP. †, Significant difference between responses of hilar vessels to SNP and SNAP. One-way ANOVA on ranks plus Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

There was a dose-dependent decrease in tension (vasorelaxation) in phenylephrinepreconstricted vessels in response to both SNP (Fig. 27) and SNAP (Fig. 28). However, the maximum vasorelaxation to SNP was significantly greater in arteries (96 \pm 2%, n=9) than veins (26 \pm 2%, n=10) (p<0.05) (Fig. 27, 29) i.e. SNP was fully able to counteract the constrictive activity of phenylephrine in arteries, but not in veins. Similarly, the maximum vasorelaxation to SNAP was significantly greater in arteries (50 \pm 4%, n=11) than veins (32 \pm 2%, n=8) (p<0.05) (Fig. 28, 29). In splenic arteries, the maximum vasorelaxation to SNAP (96 \pm 2%, n=9) was significantly greater than to SNAP (50 \pm 4%, n=11) (*p<0.05) (Fig. 29). By contrast, in veins, there was no significant difference between the maximal vasorelaxation to SNP and SNAP (p>0.05) (Fig. 29).

EXPERIMENT F: EFFECT OF N^G-MONOMETHYL-L-ARGININE (L-NMMA) ON ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM)-INDUCED RELAXATION OF ISOLATED NORMAL SPLENIC RESISTANCE ARTERIES.

Neither L- nor D-NMMA caused a significant change in wall tension of phenylephrine preconstricted hilar arteries (ADM + L-NMMA: 0.02 ± 0.01 mN/mm, n=3 versus ADM + D-NMMA: 0.02 ± 0.01 mN/mm, n=3) (p<0.05). L-NMMA treated hilar arteries, but not D-NMMA treated hilar arteries, significantly inhibited the ADM-induced relaxation (maximal relaxation ADM + L-NMMA: $38 \pm 3\%$, n=5 versus ADM + D-NMMA: $60 \pm 3\%$, n=5) (p<0.05) (Fig. 30).

99



Figure 30. Effect of nitric oxide (NO) synthase inhibition on adrenomedullin (ADM)induced vasorelaxation of splenic resistance arteries. Vessels treated with ADM plus L-NMMA (closed circles, n=5) or with ADM plus D-NMMA (open circles, n=5). The vessels were preconstricted with phenylephrine (EC₈₀). *, Significant difference between % vasorelaxation, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.

EXPERIMENT G: EFFECT OF PHENYLEPHRINE, ENDOTHELIN-1 (ET-1), S-NITROSO-N-ACETYL-D,L-PENICILLAMINE (SNAP) AND ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM) ON VASOREACTIVITY OF ISOLATED LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE (LPS)-EXPOSED (150µg/kg/hr for 3 hr *in vivo*) SPLENIC RESISTANCE ARTERIES AND VEINS.

There was a significant concentration-dependent increase in tension with phenylephrine $(1x10^{-8} \text{ to } 1x10^{-3} \text{ M})$ in both 3 hr LPS-exposed hilar arteries (n=13) and hilar veins (n=9) (p<0.05). There was no significant difference in the phenylephrine EC₈₀ values between 3 hr LPS-exposed hilar arteries (6.1 x $10^{-6} \text{ M} \pm 1.0 \text{ x } 10^{-6} \text{ M})$ and veins (6.4 x $10^{-6} \text{ M} \pm 1.1 \text{ x } 10^{-6} \text{ M})$ (Fig. 45; Appendix J) (p<0.05) i.e. although the individual pre-constrictive EC₈₀ doses used for vessels varied slightly, the mean EC₈₀ dose of phenylephrine applied to arteries was not significantly different from that used for veins. Nor was there any significant difference in the phenylephrine EC₈₀ values between 3 hr LPS-exposed hilar arteries and veins and their respective normal hilar arteries and veins (experiment E) (Fig. 45; Appendix J) (p>0.05).

ET-1 caused a dose-dependent vasoconstriction of both splenic resistance arteries and veins (p<0.05) (Fig. 31). The potency of ET-1 was greater on the veins than the arteries (EC_{50} = artery 3.0 x 10⁻⁹ M ± 3.9 x 10⁻¹⁰ M, n=13 versus vein 6.0 x 10⁻¹⁰ M ± 5.9 x 10⁻¹⁰ M, n=8). There was no significant difference in the ET-1 EC₅₀ values between 3 hr LPS-exposed hilar arteries and veins and their respective normal hilar arteries and veins (experiment E) (Fig. 46; Appendix K) (p<0.05).



Figure 31. Vasoconstrictor effect of endothelin-1 (ET-1) on 3 hr lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-exposed splenic resistance arteries (closed circles, n=13) and veins (open circles, n=8). *, Significant difference between % vasoconstriction of artery and vein, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.



Figure 32. Vasorelaxant effects of s-nitroso-n-acetyl-D, L-penicillamine (SNAP) on 3 hr lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-exposed hilar arteries (closed circles, n=12) and veins (open circles, n=11). Cumulative dose-response curves to SNAP, following preconstriction with phenylephrine (EC₈₀). Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. *, Significant difference between splenic resistance artery and vein (p<0.05). Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.

There was a dose-dependent decrease in tension (vasorelaxation) in 3 hr LPS-exposed phenylephrine-preconstricted vessels in response to SNAP (p<0.05) (Fig. 32). The maximum vasorelaxation to SNAP was significantly greater in arteries ($59 \pm 4\%$, n=12) than veins ($37 \pm 3\%$, n=11) (p<0.05). There was no significant difference in the maximal vasorelaxation to SNAP between 3 hr LPS-exposed hilar arteries and veins and their respective normal hilar arteries and veins (experiment E) (Fig. 47; Appendix L) (p>0.05).

There was a dose-dependent decrease in tension (vasorelaxation) in 3 hr LPS-exposed phenylephrine-preconstricted vessels in response to ADM (p<0.05) (Fig. 33). The maximum vasorelaxation to ADM was significantly greater in arteries $(63 \pm 8\%, n=11)$ than veins $(43 \pm 7\%, n=9)$ (p<0.05). There was no significant difference in the maximal vasorelaxation to ADM between 3 hr LPS-exposed hilar arteries and veins and their respective normal hilar arteries and veins (as described in experiment E) (Fig. 48; Appendix M) (p>0.05).



Figure 33. Effect of adrenomedullin (ADM) on vasorelaxation of 3 hr lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-exposed splenic resistance arteries (closed circles, n=11) and veins (open circles, n=9). The vessels were preconstricted with phenylephrine (EC₈₀). *, Significant difference between % vasorelaxation of artery and vein, p<0.05. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.

CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION

:

?

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

EXPERIMENT A: EFFECT OF SPLENECTOMY ON LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE (LPS)-INDUCED HYPOTENSION, HEMOCONCENTRATION AND HYPOVOLEMIA IN CONSCIOUS MALE RATS.

These *in vivo* experiments were designed to investigate the importance of the spleen in the early hemodynamic perturbations in blood pressure and plasma volume during endotoxemia. In addition, measurements of urine output and plasma protein concentration over the period of LPS infusion were taken in order to determine if similarities existed between our rat model of endotoxemia and clinical septic shock. We reasoned that, if enhanced fluid extravasation from the splenic circulation into the lymphatic system does indeed contribute to a loss of cell-free fluid from the blood following intravenous infusion of LPS, then splenectomy should reduce or prevent the early perturbations in blood pressure and plasma volume during endotoxemia. This is exactly what was found.

In the intact rats, MAP fell from 101 ± 2 mmHg to 88 ± 4 mmHg (n=7), and then stabilized at about 90 mmHg (Fig. 13). Hematocrit rose from $41 \pm 1\%$ to $44 \pm 1\%$ at 90 min (Fig. 14), at which time there was tachycardia present (Fig. 15), and plasma volume had fallen from 4.7 ± 0.12 ml/100g body wt. to 4.0 ± 0.05 ml/100g body wt. (Fig. 16). In the splenectomized rats MAP did not fall, neither did hematocrit rise, and a significant tachycardia was present only in the latter hours of LPS infusion. Nor was there any change in plasma volume i.e. splenectomy prevented the hypotension, hemoconcentration and hypovolemia customarily induced by LPS. Splenic arterial and venous blood flows measured simultaneously in conscious intact rats infused with LPS indicated an LPS-induced increase in intrasplenic fluid efflux (experiment B) (Fig. 19C). There is no

denying that ultimately, LPS causes a generalized increase in capillary permeability (52,113,241). However, we have specifically examined the mechanisms underlying the *early* (specifically within the intial 3 hr period of endotoxemia) hemodynamic perturbations following i.v. infusion of LPS, before there is widespread endothelial damage. Indeed, our measurements of plasma protein concentration (Fig. 17) suggest that increased capillary permeability occurs during the latter hours of LPS infusion (by 3 hr and beyond) in our rat model of endotoxemia. However, early endotoxin-induced changes in plasma volume (at 90 min post-LPS infusion) (Fig. 16) precede the loss of integrity of the capillary wall (indicated by a reduced plasma protein concentration at ..., approximately 3 hr post-LPS infusion onwards) (Fig. 17). Furthermore, during this early period (considered to be between 0-3 hr of LPS infusion), plasma protein concentration (Fig. 14) and fall in plasma volume (Fig. 16).

Experiment B (Fig. 19C) shows that the infusion of LPS induced an average increase in splenic A-V flow difference of approximately 0.5 ml/min above baseline values in conscious rats. If this rate of fluid efflux occurred in experiment A, it can be estimated that during the initial 90 min period of LPS infusion in intact conscious rats. extravasation from the splenic circulation would have increased by about 45 ml. Normally, this extravasated fluid is continuously returned from the lymphatic system to the blood (119). During endotoxemia, the circulation of lymph is dysfunctional (70,94,128) and the capacity of the lymphatic system is increased by such agents as ANF (186), the circulating levels of which rise in endotoxic shock (5). This would allow for

storage of the approximately 3.5 ml that disappeared from the circulation after infusion of LPS for 90 min (Fig. 16). Considering that the blood volume of these rats is only about 35 ml (18), it is apparent that intrasplenic fluid efflux could contribute to the hypotension, hemoconcentration and hypovolemia observed after administration of LPS (Figs. 13, 14, 16).

It should be pointed out that, in contrast to our studies and those of Gardiner et al (1994) (88), many researchers in this field have used acute (bolus) administration of very much higher doses of endotoxin (25,171,176), or have not recorded hemodynamic data during the early stages on endotoxemia (81). Our rat model of endotoxemia possessed pathophysiological features, namely hypotension (Fig. 13), hemoconcentration (Fig. 14), tachycardia (Fig. 15), hypovolemia (Fig. 16), hypoproteinemia (Fig. 17), and oliguria (Fig. 18) that are consistent with the changes that have been reported to occur in septic shock (14,190,217). Although we may conclude that the systemic load of LPS achieved in our study was probably no greater than those found in animals subjected to CLP, the differences in the distribution of that load, and of the mechanisms underlying the development of cardiovascular derangement and circulatory shock, make it difficult to compare the changes in plasma volume obtained in experiment A with those obtained using CLP (249) where blood volume was reported to be reduced only after 20 hr.

Two particular questions arise from the initial results of experiment A. First, what is the mechanism of this intrasplenic fluid extravasation and second, why should the spleen respond in this way to endotoxemia? The increase in fluid efflux within the splenic

circulation does not appear to involve changes in capillary permeability, given the discontinuous endothelium that lines the splenic vasculature (232) and the fact that the splenic vascular system is normally freely permeable to albumin (46). Hence, the control must lie at pre-capillary sphincters controlling the route that blood takes once it enters the spleen. Under basal conditions, a large proportion of the splenic blood flow is shunted through A-V anastomoses, the so-called "fast route" (102). By altering the tone of selective sphincters, blood can be directed through the "slow route". We propose that, by altering the pre-/post-capillary resistance, changes can be brought about in the capillary P_C within the spleen, in much the same way as afferent/efferent arteriolar vasoconstriction or dilatation controls glomerular filtration rate in the kidney. As a consequence of this alteration in splenic capillary P_C, fluid moves from the blood into the extravascular space i.e. into the splenic lymphatic system.

The reason for this fluid extravasation may lie with the nature of the body's response to pathogenic insult. T-cells will be activated and released into the circulation. The major site of such activity is the spleen; the activated T-cells are disseminated, not by release directly into the venous outflow from the spleen, but through lymphatic drainage (32,124,193,211). An increase in lymph flow thus facilitates the immune response (43). Unfortunately, this fluid derives from the plasma. As a result, if the increase in lymph flow is very large, there will be a significant reduction in plasma volume. Loss of plasma volume contributes to the hemodynamic perturbations in MAP (Fig. 13) despite the activation of reflex and hormonal cardiovascular mechanisms that attempt to maintain a

physiologically optimal MAP (Figs. 4, 7, 8). We propose that this balance of fighting the infection and preserving the integrity of the circulation is perturbed in septic shock (7).

There are studies that suggest that splenectomy (which removes the pathway for intrasplenic fluid efflux from the intravascular compartment into the systemic lymphatic system) attenuates LPS-induced hemodynamic changes in dogs (51,63). In brief, these studies reported that splenectomized dogs were less prone than intact dogs to developing a characteristic hypotension and hemoconcentration following i.v. infusion of LPS. Therefore, we suggest that, the significance of intrasplenic fluid efflux in the regulation of plasma volume and MAP during endotoxemia is not peculiar to the rat. The results of experiment A indicate that the spleen may be crucially involved in the hemodynamic perturbations during the initial stages of endotoxemia (and perhaps beyond). Because of the dual roles of the spleen (immunologic and cardiovascular), together with the obvious ethical and clinical considerations, it would not be desirable to splenectomize patients in septic shock. However, an understanding of what controls intrasplenic fluid efflux could be beneficial. Therefore, neural control of this fluid efflux within the splenic circulation was addressed in experiment B.

EXPERIMENT B: EFFECT OF SPLENIC DENERVATION ON LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE (LPS)-INDUCED HYPOTENSION, HEMOCONCENTRATION AND HYPOVOLEMIA IN CONSCIOUS MALE RATS.

To our knowledge, there are no previously published studies concerning the effects of splenic denervation on the cardiovascular response to endotoxin in the rat or any other

species. This series of experiments sought to investigate the influence of the splenic nerves on the changes in intrasplenic fluid efflux and hemodynamic perturbations following infusion of LPS in conscious rats. Splenic denervation (verified by comparison of the total catecholamine content of intact and denervated splenic tissue) removes sympathetic vasoconstrictor tone, predominantly over pre-capillary splenic resistance vessels (3,22,180). This has two effects. First, splenic denervation impairs the contribution of the splenic vasculature to the reflex increase in TPR in response to the LPS-induced decrease in MAP (Fig. 20A). Second, splenic denervation prevents the LPSinduced increase in SSNA from limiting a rise in intrasplenic P_C (which drives intrasplenic fluid efflux) (157,228,229). Consequently, splenic denervation had been expected to exaggerate intrasplenic fluid efflux and thus worsen the hypotension, hemoconcentration, and hypovolemia following infusion of LPS. This is exactly what was found (Figs. 19, 20, 22).

Under euvolemic conditions in conscious rats, as much as 25 % of fluid flowing into the spleen is removed from the circulating blood (46). This is consistent with the splenic A-V flow differential of ~0.9 ml/min at time=0 (Fig. 19C) that occurs in both intact and denervated groups. In intact rats, infusion of LPS caused a significant increase in splenic A-V flow differential (Fig. 21), indicating enhanced intrasplenic fluid efflux into extravascular spaces. This was exacerbated in splenic denervated rats. The LPS-induced increase in intrasplenic fluid efflux was associated with hypotension (Fig. 20A), hemoconcentration (Fig. 20B), tachycardia (Fig. 21D) and hypovolemia (Fig. 22). Specifically, the early LPS-induced hypotension (Fig. 21B) was consistent with an

increase in splenic A-V flow differential (Fig. 21A), in both intact and denervated rats. Moreover, the LPS-induced hemodynamic perturbations were exacerbated in splenic denervated rats. Our finding that there were no significant differences in splenic tissue wet weight between intact and splenic denervated rats infused with LPS, despite significant differences in the splenic A-V flow differential, is consistent with the report that the rat spleen is non-compliant and cannot acutely store blood volume (199).

The time course of differences in intrasplenic fluid efflux and decreases in MAP, between intact and denervated rats infused with LPS, does not suggest a simple causal relationship. First, the more pronounced fall in MAP in the denervated rats (at 20 min and 40 min post-LPS infusion) precedes the differences in intrasplenic fluid efflux (Figs. 21A, 21B). But, shortly thereafter, the time course of differences in intrasplenic fluid efflux and decreases in MAP are correlated (at 60 min, 3 hr and 8 hr post-LPS infusion) (Figs. 19, 20A). The transient recovery of MAP in LPS-infused denervated rats (at 90 min) is correlated with an exaggerated increase in heart rate (Figs. 21B, 21D). We suggest that, the exaggerated hypotension may be driving the enhanced reflex tachycardia in denervated rats infused with LPS. At the time of significant increases in hematocrit and intrasplenic fluid efflux (90 min post-LPS infusion) (Figs. 21A, 21C), plasma volume in the denervated rats was significantly less than in the intact rats (Fig. 22). We propose that the reduced plasma volume in denervated rats compared to intact rats at 90 min post-LPS infusion (Fig. 22) was due to the exaggerated intrasplenic fluid efflux that occurred in the preceding time period in denervated as opposed to intact rats i.e. at 60 to 90 min post-LPS infusion (Fig. 21A). There was a significant time-dependent increase in PRA in

intact and denervated LPS-infused groups (Fig. 23). The exaggerated increase in PRA in the denervated rats is consistent with the greater fall in plasma volume. Although an exaggerated intrasplenic fluid efflux may not account entirely for the changes in MAP following LPS infusion into the bloodstream, our results do provide evidence that enhanced fluid extravasation from the splenic circulation may contribute to the exaggerated LPS-induced hypotension, hemoconcentration and hypovolemia in the early hours of endotoxemia in denervated rats. These results thus support the proposal that SSNA limits intrasplenic fluid efflux during endotoxemia.

We estimated lymphatic flow from the splenic circulation by measuring the difference between splenic arterial inflow and venous outflow (Fig. 19C). Although a direct measure of lymphatic flow from the spleen would have been preferred, this is not technically feasible in the rat, given that there are several branches of the splenic lymph duct that cannot be placed together in a blood flow probe without damaging them. However, vascular isolation of the spleen was ensured. Therefore, by the law of mass action, the difference between the volume of blood going into the spleen and the volume coming out must represent the fluid volume leaving the splenic circulation. Since the weight of the spleen did not change despite significant changes in splenic A-V flow differential (Fig. 19C), and since the volume of extravasate was many times the total volume capacity of the rat spleen, this extravasated fluid must have been transferred to another site, namely the systemic lymphatic system. The reported accuracy of the transonic flow probes is ± 2 % (Transonic Systems Inc., Ithaca, NY, USA), which relates to a detectable difference in A-V blood flows of ~0.05 ml/min. Hence, given such confidence in our reported values for splenic blood flow, the mean increase in splenic A-V flow difference between intact (control -0.01 ± 0.02 ml/min versus LPS $+0.21 \pm 0.06$ ml/min) and denervated (control -0.03 ± 0.01 ml/min versus LPS $+0.41 \pm 0.08$ ml/min) rats must be viewed with significance.

The fact that plasma volume was less in denervated than intact rats at 90 min post-LPS infusion (Fig. 22) is probably a combination of enhanced intrasplenic fluid efflux plus increased capacity of the lymphatic system to hold onto this extravasated fluid. The increase in PRA plus the tachycardia, in both intact and denervated LPS-infused groups, was anticipated considering that plasma volume contraction is a major stimulus for both increased PRA (41) and for tachycardia (26,117). The greater increase in PRA and the exaggerated increase in heart rate in the denervated compared to the intact LPS-infused group is consistent with the exaggerated loss of plasma volume in the denervated animals (Figs. 21D, 22).

Another consequence of splenic denervation, apart from the removal of sympathetic vasoconstrictor innervation of the splenic vasculature (3,22,180), would be removal of the sensory afferent innervation of the spleen. These sensory afferents have been proposed to form part of a neural reflex pathway between the spleen and kidney termed a spinal splenorenal reflex (112,164,165,252). The sensory afferent traffic from the spleen inhibits RSNA, thus limiting PRA. Removal of this inhibition (by splenic denervation) would consequently elevate RSNA, and thus eventually cause a rise in plasma volume over the long term i.e. over the one week period of recovery after surgery. The results in

experiment B lend credence to this proposal given that splenic denervated rats had increased basal PRA plus an expanded plasma volume compared to intact rats (Figs. 22, 23).

In interpreting our findings, it is important to distinguish between short-term (minutes to hours) and long-term (days) regulation of plasma volume and MAP. The long-term regulation is more likely to involve renal control of extracellular fluid volume. It is an alteration in these mechanisms that would be responsible for increasing *basal* plasma volume in the splenic denervated rats (Fig. 22). PRA in the splenic denervated, saline-infused control animals was elevated in comparison to the intact saline-infused controls (Fig. 23). The rise in PRA in denervated rats may be the primary driving force behind the elevated basal plasma volume observed in this series of experiments.

Experiment B showed an increase in splenic arterial blood flow following intravenous infusion of LPS (Fig. 19A); this has also been reported elsewhere (203). The increased splenic perfusion during endotoxemia (203) is perhaps not surprising given that the spleen is the primary lymphoid organ and comprises a large number of immune cells that need to migrate into the bloodstream in order to combat the pathogenic insult. Thus, the hemodynamic consequences of septic shock in the splanchnic circulation may involve a redistribution of blood flow to organs such as the spleen, which is necessary for host defense mechanisms (Fig. 2). Although there is no evidence directly pertaining to autoregulation within splenic vessels, there are reports of autoregulatory mechanisms within the hepatic arterial/portal venous and mesenteric vascular beds (97) (Fig. 2). It

may be speculated that the splenic circulation possesses strong autoregulatory mechanisms that help maintain a high rate of blood flow to the spleen, in order to ensure that splenic function is maintained.

As well as directly affecting the vascular tone of splenic resistance arteries, the splenic sympathetic nerve has been suggested to mediate central nervous system modulation of splenic immune cell function (116). Activation of immune cells elevates their production of vasoactive cytokines (91,132,163,166,212). Thus, sympathetic nerve activity can modulate the secretion of cytokines from LPS-exposed immune cells (158), thereby altering the production of vasoactive agents. Hence, denervation of the spleen may remove the inhibitory action of sympathetic nerves on the production of vasoactive cytokines by splenic immune cells. This alteration in production of vasoactive cytokines could potentially have contributed to the exaggerated hemodynamic perturbations found in the splenic denervated rats following infusion of LPS. However, our measurements of plasma TNF- α concentration do not support this proposal. TNF- α is one of the first primary cytokines released during sepsis (29) and it has been implicated in the LPSinduced hemodynamic changes (89,90,175,247). In experiment B, the plasma TNF- α concentration increased equally in the denervated and intact rats in response to LPS i.e. splenic denervation did not significantly attenuate the early LPS-induced increase in plasma TNF- α levels (p>0.05). Thus, altered production of vasoactive cytokines cannot account for the LPS-induced hemodynamic differences we have observed between intact and denervated rats.

The results from experiment B confirm the importance of the splenic nerves in influencing plasma volume and MAP homeostasis during endotoxemia. Splenic denervation enhances intrasplenic fluid efflux, and worsens LPS-induced hypotension, hemoconcentration and hypovolemia (9). We propose that in intact animals, SSNA limits intrasplenic fluid extravasation by opposing the activity of endotoxin-induced vasodilatory factors. Splenic denervation unmasks the full vasodilatory activity of these factors, thus increasing intrasplenic P_C , and subsequently exacerbating fluid extravasation from the intravascular compartment into the systemic lymphatic system. The consequence is an exaggerated LPS-induced loss in plasma volume and reduction in MAP. The hormonal control of intrasplenic fluid efflux is the topic of concern in the discussion of experiment C.

EXPERIMENT C: EFFECT OF INTRASPLENIC INFUSION OF ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM) AND S-NITROSO-N-ACETYL-D,L-PENICILLAMINE (SNAP) ON SPLENIC ARTERIAL VERSUS VENOUS HEMATOCRIT AND WET SPLENIC TISSUE WEIGHT IN ANESTHETIZED MALE RATS.

Intrasplenic infusion of ADM and SNAP caused a significant increase in splenic venous hematocrit compared to arterial hematocrit (p<0.05), but no change in wet splenic tissue weight (p>0.05) i.e. ADM and SNAP increased the loss of cell-free fluid from the splenic circulation into the systemic lymphatic system. Since the measured wet splenic tissue weight did not change and given evidence that the volume of translocated fluid from the

splenic circulation is many times larger than the total volume capacity of the spleen, the extravasated fluid from the splenic circulation cannot have been accommodated within the parenchyma of the spleen. Although NO (specifically derived from iNOS) has been suggested to increase capillary permeability (78), the importance of this effect in the splenic microcirculation would be minimal considering that the splenic vascular endothelium is discontinuous (232) and so readily allows the passage of protein-rich fluid from the intravascular compartment into extravascular spaces (46,135). Therefore, the ADM- and SNAP-induced increase in splenic A-V flow differential that has been observed (Kaufman, unpublished observation) (8), together with the results of experiment ..., C, must represent lymphatic drainage.

During endotoxemia, where there is increased biosynthesis of ADM and NO (73,93,183,218), the actions of ADM and NO on splenic resistance vessels may contribute to the increased intrasplenic fluid efflux following i.v. infusion of LPS (experiment B: Figs. 19C, 21A). The effects of intrasplenic infusion of ADM and SNAP on splenic arterial versus venous hematocrit could be a consequence of differential vasoreactivity of splenic resistance vessels to these vasoactive factors (experiment E).

EXPERIMENT D: EFFECT OF ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM) ON INTRASPLENIC MICROVASCULAR PRESSURE.

We hypothesized that ADM contributes to intrasplenic fluid extravasation by inducing greater vasorelaxation in splenic resistance arteries than veins, such that intrasplenic P_C

rises. In the isolated, blood-perfused spleen, intrasplenic infusion of ADM into an anesthetized rat caused an increase in intrasplenic P_C (p<0.05), due to a fall in precapillary resistance (p<0.05); there was no change in post-capillary resistance (p>0.05).

Intrasplenic infusion of SNAP into an anesthetized rat has been reported to cause a significant increase in intrasplenic P_C (8). This is relevant to experiment D, since ADM-induced vasorelaxation is partly mediated by NO (110) (experiment F) (Fig. 29). Moreover, there is evidence for differential vasoreactivity between splenic resistance arteries and veins to ADM (Kaufman, unpublished observation) (experiments E and G) (Figs. 24, 33), which we propose is the mechanism causing the ADM-induced increase in intrasplenic P_C. It may be calculated that, at a splenic blood flow (perfusion rate) of 1 ml/min, the plasma concentration of ADM that was created was approximately 10^{-8} M. At this concentration *in vitro*, ADM-induced vasodilation is significantly greater in the splenic resistance arteries than in the veins (Figs. 24, 33).

EXPERIMENT E: EFFECT OF ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM), ATRIAL NATRIURETIC FACTOR (ANF), ENDOTHELIN-1 (ET-1), SODIUM NITROPRUSSIDE (SNP), AND S-NITROSO-N-ACETYL-D,L-PENICILLAMINE (SNAP) ON VASOREACTIVITY OF ISOLATED NORMAL SPLENIC RESISTANCE ARTERIES AND VEINS.

We proposed that there would be a differential vasorelaxant response between splenic hilar arteries and veins to the vasoactive agents ADM, ANF, ET-1 and NO. The results validated our hypothesis. ANF and ET-1 caused a dose-dependent vasoconstriction of both splenic resistance arteries and veins (Figs. 25, 26) (p<0.05). The potency of ANF and ET-1 was greater on the veins than the arteries (Figs. 25, 26) (p<0.05). Vasoreactivity of preconstricted splenic resistance vessels to ADM, SNP and SNAP indicated a significantly greater relaxation of arterioles than of venules (Figs. 24, 27, 28). These results are consistent with our proposal that differential vasoreactivity of splenic resistance arteries and veins to ADM, ANF, ET-1 and NO elevates intrasplenic P_C. The results provide evidence for the mechanism causing the ANF-induced increase in intrasplenic P_C (228), the ADM-induced increase in intrasplenic P_C (experiment D) . (Kaufman, unpublished observation), and the SNAP-induced increase in intrasplenic P_C (8).

It may be calculated that, at a splenic blood flow of 2.5 ml/min in the intact anesthetized rat (8) and with a SNAP infusion rate of $0.3\mu g/10\mu l/min$, the splenic arterial plasma concentration of SNAP that caused increased intrasplenic fluid efflux was approximately 0.6×10^{-6} M. At this concentration in experiment E, the cumulative dose-response curves for hilar artery and vein diverge and reveal a significant difference in vasoreactivity to SNAP (Fig. 28). SNAP also had greater efficacy (maximal vasorelaxation) on hilar arteries than veins (Fig. 29). Thus, at the doses used in the Andrew et al study (8) that caused increased intrasplenic fluid efflux, the *in vitro* results of experiment E suggest that NO caused a greater vasorelaxation of the splenic resistance arteries than of the veins.

121

The differential response of splenic resistance arteries and veins to ADM- and NOinduced vasorelaxation may be due to a number of reasons. There may be variations between splenic resistance arteries and veins in their reliance upon NO as a vasodilator mechanism (12,55). This has been suggested to explain the divergent responses (both quantitative and qualitative) of different vessels within a single vascular bed to a common stimulus, specifically in regard to NO-induced vasorelaxation (12,55). Studies have reported that NO donors cause greater vasorelaxation of veins than arteries (86). Our results show the opposite, which may indicate that the response of the splenic vasculature is distinct and unique from that of the general circulation. Berthiaume et al (1995) reported that ADM induced a selective arterial vasodilation in a double-perfused mesenteric bed preparation of the rat, which is consistent with our findings in the spleen (27). Further possible reasons for the differential responses between splenic resistance arteries and veins to NO-induced vasorelaxation may reside in differences in the rate of NO generation at the cell surface of venous VSMCs versus arterial VSMCs, differences in cellular entry mechanisms for NO into VSMCs, and variation in sensitivity of different soluble guanylate cyclases in venous VSMCs versus arterial VSMCs (159).

Despite their biochemical differences (184), SNP and SNAP are both termed nitrovasodilators. These are vasorelaxants that act via the formation of NO and its subsequent activation of VSMC soluble guanylate cyclase (177). Our use of both SNP and SNAP as endothelium-independent NO donors was based on evidence of different NO redox species donated by these agents (75,222) and the possible influence this may have on NO-induced vasorelaxation in isolated vessels (86,159). The results suggest that

the efficacy (maximal relaxation) of SNAP and SNP on splenic resistance arteries (but not veins) is different (Fig. 29). The biochemical differences between SNAP and SNP may be reasoned to cause the variation in vasorelaxation achieved with each NO donor. Under physiological conditions, NO can interconvert between the redox forms of NO-, NO⁻, and NO⁺ (40,222). This redox versatility has impact on NO-induced vasorelaxation and, although controversial (13), it is suggested that guanylate cyclase activation has preference for the NO⁻ redox form (67). Since SNP releases less NO⁻ redox form than SNAP (76), a greater vasorelaxant response might be expected in vessels exposed to SNAP than SNP. However, we did not find this; there was significantly greater vasorelaxation with SNP than SNAP on splenic resistance arteries, but no significant difference in maximal vasorelaxation to either nitrovasodilator on veins (Fig. 29). The basis for these responses remains unclear.

EXPERIMENT F: EFFECT OF N^G-MONOMETHYL-L-ARGININE (L-NMMA) ON ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM)-INDUCED RELAXATION OF NORMAL SPLENIC RESISTANCE ARTERIES.

Our results show that ADM-induced vasorelaxation of splenic resistance arteries is attenuated by L-NMMA-mediated inhibition of NO synthase activity (Fig. 30). Whether splenic resistance veins behave in a similar manner is unknown. The source of this NO (endothelial or VSMCs) was also not determined.
A particular significance of the results of experiment F is that ADM mediates vasorelaxation partially through increasing production of NO (170). Hence, the ADM-induced vasorelaxation measured in experiments E and G may be partly a consequence of ADM induction of NO within the vessel wall. NO mediates only part of the ADM-induced vasorelaxation in splenic resistance arteries, as L-NMMA only partially inhibited the vasorelaxant response. There are other mechanisms of ADM-induced vasorelaxation that do not involve NO production (170). The NO-independent mechanisms that may account for that part of the ADM-induced vasorelaxation not inhibited by L-NMMA in splenic resistance arteries may relate to production of cAMP (170) (Fig. 9).

EXPERIMENT G: EFFECT OF PHENYLEPHRINE, ENDOTHELIN-1 (ET-1), S-NITROSO-N-ACETYL-D,L-PENICILLAMINE (SNAP) AND ADRENOMEDULLIN (ADM) ON VASOREACTIVITY OF ISOLATED LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE (LPS)-EXPOSED (150µg/kg/hr for 3 hr *in vivo*) SPLENIC RESISTANCE ARTERIES AND VEINS.

In experiment E, isolated normal splenic resistance vessels were used to measure differential vasoreactivity i.e. they had not been exposed to LPS. By contrast, the vessels used in experiment G were exposed to LPS for a period of 3 hr *in vivo* in order to determine whether the differential vasoreactivity (percent vasoconstriction or vasorelaxation dose-responses) to the vasoactive agents ADM, ET-1 and NO is altered during endotoxemia. Alterations in vascular reactivity to vasoactive agents in both conduit and resistance vessels is a characteristic feature of sepsis (30,224,263). However, not all vascular beds are affected (30,162). The decision to use splenic resistance vessels

that had been exposed to LPS for only a 3 hr period was based on our proposal that the early hemodynamic perturbations during endotoxemia (that arose within the first few hours of LPS exposure) were due, at least in part, to fluid extravasation within the splenic circulation. Hence, there was a need to show that the differential vasoreactivity of splenic resistance arteries and veins to vasoactive agents, which drives the increase in intrasplenic P_C and subsequent intrasplenic fluid efflux, still exists in vessels that have been exposed to LPS. The results of experiment G suggest that there was no significant difference in vasoreactivity between normal and 3 hr LPS-exposed splenic resistance arteries and veins to ET-1 in terms of the EC₅₀ values between unexposed and 3 hr LPS-exposed vessels (Fig. 46; Appendix K) (p<0.05), plus the maximal percent vasorelaxation to ADM and NO was not significantly different between unexposed and 3 hr LPS-exposed vessels (Figs. 47 and 48; Appendix L and M) (p<0.05).

Changes in vascular reactivity to vasoconstrictor and vasodilator agents are a characteristic feature of endotoxemia and septic shock (30,224,263). The absolute tension (in mN/mm of force) generated by splenic resistance vessels to the highest dose of phenylephrine ($1x10^{-3}$ M) was significantly greater in vessels that had not been exposed to LPS (Fig. 44; Appendix I) (p<0.05), although in terms of the percent vasoconstriction or EC₈₀ value there was no significant difference between unexposed and 3 hr LPS-exposed vessels (Fig. 45; Appendix J) (p>0.05). However, the dose-response curves showing the percent vasorelaxation (with SNAP and ADM) and vasoconstriction (with ET-1) were similar in both unexposed and 3 hr LPS-exposed vessels.

It is surprising that no changes in vascular reactivity to ADM, ET-1 and NO were evident in the 3 hr LPS-exposed splenic resistance vessels given that altered vascular responses is a characteristic feature of endotoxemia and septic shock. However, the absence of such changes in vascular reactivity is not unique to the splenic vasculature as vascular beds throughout the circulatory system respond differently during endotoxemia (30,162).

÷

CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSION

÷

2

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Based on the results presented in this thesis and their interpretation in the discussion, the following conclusions are made :

- 1. Splenectomy abolishes the hypotension, hemoconcentration and hypovolemia that typically occur following infusion of LPS into the bloodstream.
- 2. Splenic denervation exaggerates the intrasplenic fluid efflux, hypotension, hemoconcentration and hypovolemia that typically occur following infusion of LPS into the bloodstream. Hence, SSNA normally limits intrasplenic fluid efflux.
- 3. ADM and NO increase intrasplenic fluid efflux.
- 4. ADM increases intrasplenic P_C , due to the differential vasoreactivity of splenic resistance arteries and veins to this vasoactive factor.
- 5. Splenic resistance vessels (both normal and LPS-exposed) show differential vascular reactivity to ADM, ANF, ET-1, and NO, which are all vasoactive factors that increase in the plasma in response to LPS in the bloodstream.
- 6. The early hemodynamic perturbations in plasma volume and MAP following infusion of LPS are due, at least in part, to intrasplenic fluid efflux of iso-oncotic fluid.

Figure 34 provides a general overview of the proposed mechanism of intrasplenic fluid efflux and the factors that control it.



Figure 34. Proposed mechanism for extravasation of protein-rich fluid from the intravascular compartment into the systemic lymphatic system within the splenic circulation.

Methodological considerations and limitations

There are interspecies differences in the anatomy and physiological function of the spleen (199). This does pose difficulties in the applicability of the findings across studies using different animal models. The rationale behind the rat model of endotoxemia used in experiments A and B has been discussed previously (section 1.7). In addition, our use of surgically-recovered conscious unrestrained rats in experiments A and B enabled the hemodynamic measurements to be uncomplicated by the effects of anesthesia and surgical trauma (28,46).

A major difficulty in interpreting much of the data from animal studies is that the doses of LPS that have been used are very large (5-10 mg/kg), the doses have been administered as bolus infusions, and various different animal models have been employed (80,257). Animal studies using large bolus dose infusion of endotoxin invariably report a high mortality rate, with the death of animals occurring only hours after receiving LPS, which clearly suggests that the infusion caused massive vascular and tissue damage. In many instances, studies have utilized anesthetized animal preparations. Even in clinical studies there is a difficulty in interpreting human data (38), as patients have typically received medical treatment and have progressed far along the cascade of events leading to septic shock (118,217,244). Consequently, given these drawbacks, it has been difficult to extrapolate a clear time course of hemodynamic events during endotoxemia or septic shock. Attempts have been made to address this problem. There are animal studies that have involved the continuous infusion of low dose LPS (81,88) or have initiated septic shock through CLP (249,257).

Our use of the ultrasonic blood flow probes (1RB series, Transonic Systems Inc, Ithaca, NY, USA) (Appendix A) was supported by the validity, feasibility and reliability of this technique in the measurement of volume flow in small vessels (39,109,264), plus the validity of the calculated splenic A-V difference as a measure of fluid efflux from the splenic circulation (46). Furthermore, the anatomical feature of arteriovenous shunts in the spleen (100,102) makes it inappropriate to use other techniques of blood flow measurement such as the microsphere method (19). The major advantages of the ultrasonic flowmeter is that it measures volume flow, it does not disrupt blood flow in vessels, it is relatively insensitive to blood flow disturbances (changes in the pattern of blood flow), and it has a stable zero baseline (39,109,264). Moreover, the ultrasonic flowmeter and blood flow probes have been reported to have an accuracy comparable with other gold standard techniques of blood flow measurement (206,256,264). Another primary advantage of using the ultrasonic flow probes in experiment B was that the chronic implantation of the flow probes enabled volume flow measurements to be derived from rats that were fully recovered from surgery, conscious and unrestrained. The use of ultrasonic blood flow probes has been reported in the rat (46,256) and in the cat (264).

Close infusion of vasoactive agents into the splenic artery was an approach used in experiments C and D as it allowed much smaller drug concentrations to be administered, with limited peripheral repercussions. Measurements of splenic A-V difference, intrasplenic P_C , and splenic arterial versus venous hematocrit have been obtained from anesthetized rats (8,135,228) (Kaufman, unpublished observation). The use of a whole blood perfusion medium within a whole animal preparation (experiment D), as opposed to an isolated crystalloid perfusion medium in an *in* vitro preparation, was perhaps the more physiologically relevant choice for measuring P_C considering that rheological factors (such as blood viscosity) can impact on shear stress and patterns of flow through the spleen.

The double occlusion technique that we used to measure intrasplenic P_C (experiment D) has, in other tissues, provided results that are similar to those obtained using classical methods of capillary pressure assessment, such as the isogravimetric technique (77,107,238). The double occlusion technique offered a simple, precise and rapid approach to determining intrasplenic P_C (8,228).

The wire myograph system was used to assess vascular reactivity in *in vitro* experiments. This technique, which enables measurement of isometric tension and attempts to mimic the vessel tension that is seen in *in vivo* conditions, has been used extensively to characterize the vasoreactivity of both small resistance arteries and veins (1,4,8). The advantages and disadvantages of this technique have been reported (74). In brief, the advantages include: the relative simplicity of the experimental technique and apparatus, and the ability to measure isometric tension in small resistance vessels. The disadvantages arising from this technique include: an anatomical distortion of the mounted vessels, damage done to the endothelium and VSMCs due to wire cannulation of a vessel, lack of exposure of blood vessel to normal physiological stimuli such as blood flow, and altered responses to vasoactive agents when compared with studies done

in using the pressure myograph. Reproduction of the responses of splenic resistance vessels in an alternative experimental preparation, such as the pressure myograph, may partially address these concerns.

The concentration range for a vasoactive agent in the *in* vitro studies bracketed the range of reported plasma levels of that factor during endotoxemia in the rat, or was similar to the concentration known to cause increased intrasplenic fluid efflux. Whether the concentrations of vasoactive agent to which the isolated splenic resistance vessels were exposed, had relevance to the effective tissue level of that factor in the body during endotoxemia, is a contentious issue. For example, ET-1 is a vasoactive factor that has an autocrine/paracrine mode of release (120,219). Therefore, the tissue levels of ET-1 may be much higher than the reported plasma levels of this vasoactive factor.

Possible future experiments

The sympathetic nervous system and the renin-angiotension-aldosterone system (RAAS) are crucial parts of the cardiovascular regulatory system that are activated in response to a fall in plasma volume and MAP (82,172). Experiment B provides evidence for the proposal that SSNA limits fluid volume loss from the intravascular compartment. Considering that the sympathetic nervous system typically works in unison with angiotensin II to raise (or maintain) plasma volume and MAP, then the importance of the RAAS in limiting intrasplenic fluid efflux should be considered. In much the same way as increased RAAS activity limits glomerular filtration rate in the kidney, perhaps increased RAAS activation during endotoxemia may limit extravasation of protein-rich

fluid from the intravascular compartment within the splenic circulation. Hence, changes in intrasplenic P_C in response to intrasplenic infusion of angiotensin II should be measured. The differential vasoreactivity of splenic resistance arteries and veins to angiotensin II, using the wire myograph technique, should also be assessed. Considering the physiological functions of angiotensin II, the expected outcome of each of these experiments would be that angiotensin II would induce a reduction in intrasplenic P_C , secondary to a greater vasoconstrictor potency of angiotensin II on splenic resistance arteries than veins.

Another feature of intrasplenic fluid efflux that should be addressed in the future relates to myogenic tone and the degree to which autoregulatory mechanisms control the vascular tone of splenic resistance arteries and veins. Myogenic reactivity in a blood vessel is defined as the ability of the vascular smooth muscle to contract in response to stretch or an increase in transmural pressure (60, 126, 127). We could speculate that increased pressure within the venous side of the splenic circulation could result in myogenic vasoconstriction of splenic resistance veins, causing intrasplenic P_C to rise and intrasplenic fluid efflux to increase. Indeed, the strong myogenic response that occurs in the hepatic portal vein (185,214), which receives venous blood from the splenic circulation, could also exist in the splenic resistance veins. A pressure myograph system, a technique that enables transmural pressure and blood flow in an isolated blood vessel to be altered independently, could be used to investigate the myogenic response in splenic resistance arteries and veins. Hence, alongside the evidence already gathered for the nervous and hormonal control of intrasplenic fluid efflux, the importance of myogenic reactivity could also be considered.

In conclusion, the results of experiments A-G provide support for a role of the spleen in the control of plasma volume and blood pressure during the early hemodynamic perturbations induced by LPS. It is established that the spleen has immunological and hematological functions. Given the results of the experiments that comprise this thesis, regulation of plasma volume and blood pressure during physiological and pathophysiological circumstances can now also be ascribed to this organ. The clinical significance of the findings reported in this thesis may reside in: i) the fact that extravasation of protein-rich fluid from the splenic circulation (and other vascular beds with a discontinuous endothelium) could contribute to the early hemodynamic changes observed in human patients with septic shock, and ii) understanding the physiological significance of intrasplenic fluid efflux, in the context that this phenomena contributes to circulatory insufficiency during septic shock but is also a mechanism for recirculation of immune cells.

CHAPTER 6. REFERENCES

.

÷

<u>.</u>

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

- Aalkjaer C, Mulvany M.J, and Nyborg N.C.B. Atrial natriuretic factor causes specific relaxation of rat renal arcuate arteries. Br J Pharmacol 86: 447-453, 1985.
- Abraham, E., M. A. Matthay, C. A. Dinarello, J. L. Vincent, J. Cohen, S. M. Opal, M. Glauser, P. Parsons, C. J. Fisher Jr, and J. E. Repine. Consensus conference definitions for sepsis, septic shock, acute lung injury, and acute respiratory distress syndrome: time for a reevaluation. *Crit Care Med* 28: 232-5, 2000.
- Ackerman, K. D., S. Y. Felten, D. L. Bellinger, and D. L. Felten. Noradrenergic sympathetic innervation of the spleen: III. Development of innervation in the rat spleen. *J Neurosci Res* 18: 49-54, 123-5, 1987.
- Ahluwalia, A. and P. Vallance. Evidence for functional responses to sensory nerve stimulation of rat small mesenteric veins. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 281: 9-14, 1997.
- Aiura, K., M. Ueda, M. Endo, and M. Kitajima. Circulating concentrations and physiologic role of atrial natriuretic peptide during endotoxic shock in the rat. *Crit. Care Med.* 23: 1898-1906, 1995.
- Almeida, F. A., M. Suzuki, and T. Maack. Atrial natriuretic factor increases hematocrit and decreases plasma volume in nephrectomized rats. *Life Sci* 39: 1193.

- 7. Andrew, P., Y. Deng, and S. Kaufman. Fluid extravasation from spleen reduces blood volume in endotoxemia. *Am J Physiol* 278: R60-R65, 2000.
- 8. Andrew, P. S., Y. Deng, R. Sultanian, and S. Kaufman. Nitric oxide increases fluid extravasation from the splenic circulation of the rat. *Am J Physiol* 2001.
- 9. Andrew, P. S. and S. Kaufman. Splenic denervation worsens lipopolysaccharideinduced hypotension, hemoconcentration and hypovolemia. *Am J Physiol* 2001.
- 10. Angele, M.³K, Smail, N, Knoferl, M. W, Ayala, A, Cioffi, W. G, and Chaudry, I.
 H. L-Arginine restores splenocyte functions after trauma and hemorrhage potentially by improving splenic blood flow. Am J Physiol 276(45), C145-C151.
 99.
- Antal-Szalmas, P. Evaluation of CD14 in host defence. *Eur J Clin Invest* 30: 167-79, 2000.
- Archer, S. L., J. M. C. Huang, H. L. Reeve, V. Hampl, S. Tolarova, E. Michelakis, and E. K. Weir. Differential Distribution of Electrophysiologically Distinct Myocytes in Conduit and Resistance Arteries Determines Their Response to Nitric Oxide and Hypoxia. *Circ. Res.* 78: 431-442, 1996.
- 13. Arnelle, D. R. and J. S. Stamler. NO+, NO, and NO- donation by S-nitrosothiols: implications for regulation of physiological functions by S-nitrosylation and

- 14. Astiz, M. E. and E. C. Rackow. Septic shock. Lancet 351: 1501-5, 1998.
- Astiz, M. E., E. C. Rackow, and M. H. Weil. Pathophysiology and treatment of circulatory shock. *Crit Care Clin* 9: 183-203, 1993.
- 16. Aukland K. Distribution of body fluids: local mechanisms guarding interstitial fluid volume. J. Physiol. 79: 395, 1984.
- 17. Aukland, K. and G. Nicolaysen. Interstitial fluid volume: local regulatory mechanisms. *Physiol Rev* 61: 556-643, 1981.

- Baker, H. J., R. J. Lindsey, and S. H. Weisbroth. The Laboratory Rat Biology and Diseases - Volume 1. London, Academic Press, Inc. 1979.
- Barbee, R. W., B. D. Perry, R. N. Re, and J. P. Murgo. Microsphere and dilution techniques for the determination of blood flows and volumes in conscious mice. *Am J Physiol* 263: R728-33, 1992.
- Barman, S. A. Role of calcium-activated potassium channels and cyclic nucleotides on pulmonary vasoreactivity to serotonin. *Am J Physiol* 273: 142-147, 1997.
- 21. Bealer, S. L. Hemodynamic mechanisms in CNS induced natriuresis in the

- 22. Bellinger, D. L., S. Y. Felten, T. J. Collier, and D. L. Felten. Noradrenergic sympathetic innervation of the spleen: IV. Morphometric analysis in adult and aged F344 rats. *J Neurosci Res* 18: 55-63, 126-9, 1987.
- 23. Beluli, D. J. and L. C. Weaver. Areas of Rostral Medulla Providing Tonic Control of Renal and Splenic Nerves. *Am J Physiol* 261: H1687-H1692, 1991.
- Beluli, D. J. and L. C. Weaver. Differential Control of Renal and Splenic Nerves Without Medullary Topography. Am J Physiol 260: H1072-H1079, 1991.
- 25. Bernard, C., R. Merval, B. Esposito, and A. Tedgui. Resistance to endotoxin shock in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Hypertension* 31: 1350-1356, 1998.
- 26. Berne, R. M. and M. N. Levy. Cardiovascular physiology. St. Louis, Mosby. 1997.
- 27. Berthiaume, N., A. Claing, H. Lippton, A. Cadieux, and P. D'Orleans-Juste. Rat adrenomedullin induces a selective arterial vasodilation via CGRP₁ receptors in the double-perfused mesenteric bed of the rat. *Canadian Journal of Physiological Pharmacology* 73: 1080-1083, 1995.
- 28. Berthoud, M. C. and C. S. Reilly. Adverse effects of general anaesthetics. Drug

Saf 7: 434-59, 1992.

- 29. Blackwell, T. S. and J. W. Christman. Sepsis and cytokines: current status. Br J Anaesth 77: 110-7, 1996.
- Bogle, R. G. and P. Vallance. Regulation of vascular smooth muscle tone in sepsis. In Garland, R. G. and J. A. Angus, eds. Pharmacology of vascular smooth muscle. Oxford, New York, Tokyo, Oxford University Press. 1996, 369.
- 31. Boyd, J. L.-3d, G. G. Stanford, and B. Chernow. The pharmacotherapy of septic shock. Crit Care Clin 5: 133-50, 1989.
- 32. Brelinska, R. and C. Pilgrim. The significance of the subcompartments of the marginal zone for directing lymphocyte traffic within the splenic pulp of the rat. *Cell Tissue Res* 226: 155-65, 1982.
- Brelinska, R., C. Pilgrim, and I. Reisert. Pathways of lymphocyte migration within the periarterial lymphoid sheath of rat spleen. *Cell Tissue Res* 236: 661-7, 1984.
- 34. Brenner, B. M., C. Baylis, and W. M. Deen. Transport of molecules across renal glomerular capillaries. *Physiol Rev* 56: 502-34, 1976.
- 35. Brun-Buisson, C. The epidemiology of the systemic inflammatory response.

- Bunnell, E. and J. E. Parrillo. Cardiac dysfunction during septic shock. Clin Chest Med 17: 237-48, 1996.
- 37. Buntain, W. L. and H. B. Lynn. Splenorrhaphy: changing concepts for the traumatized spleen. *Surgery* 86: 748-60, 1979.
- 38. Burrell, R. Human Responses to Bacterial Endotoxin. Circ Shock 43: 137-153, 1994.
- Burton, R. G. and R. C. Gorewit. Ultrsonic flowmeter: Uses wide-beam transittime technique. *Medical Electronic* 15: 68-73, 1984.
- 40. Butler, A. R., F. W. Flitney, and D. L. Williams. NO, nitrosonium ions, nitroxide ions, nitrosothiols and iron-nitrosyls in biology: a chemist's perspective. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 16: 18-22, 1995.
- Cangiano, J. L., C. Rodriguez-Sargent, L. Nascimento, and M. Martinez-Maldonado. Renin response to volume contraction and indomethacin in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Clin Sci* 60: 479-82, 1981.
- 42. Carlson, D. E. Adrenocorticotropin correlates strongly endotoxemia after intravenous but not after intraperitoneal inoculations of E. coli. Shock 7: 65-69,

1997.

- 43. Casey, L. C. Immunologic response to infection and its role in septic shock. Crit Care Clin 16: 193-213, 2000.
- 44. Chabrier, P. E. The role of endothelin in the vessel wall. Bailliere's Clinical Haematology 6(3), 577-591. 93.
- Charpie, J. R. and R. C. Webb. Vascular myocyte-derived nitric oxide is an autocrine that limits vasoconstriction. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 194: 763-8, 1993.
- 46. Chen, A. and S. Kaufman. Splenic blood flow and fluid efflux from the intravascular space in the rat. *J Physiol (Lond)* 490: 493-499, 1996.
- Chevendra, V. and L. C. Weaver. Distribution of Splenic, Mesenteric and Renal Neurons in Sympathetic Ganglia in Rats. J Auton Nerv Syst 33: 47-54, 1991.
- Chevendra, V. and L. C. Weaver. Distributions of Neuropeptide-Y, Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide and Somatostatin in Populations of Postganglionic Neurons Innervating the Rat Kidney, Spleen and Intestine. *Neuroscience* 50: 727-743, 1992.
- 49. Chien, S., C. Chang, R. J. Dellenback, S. Usami, and M. I. Gregersen.

Hemodynamic changes in endotoxin shock. Am. J. Physiol. 210: 1401-1410, 1966.

- Chien, S., R. J. Dellenback, S. Usami, and M. I. Gregersen. Hematocrit changes in endotoxin shock. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 118: 1182-1186, 1965.
- Chien, S., R. J. Dellenback, S. Usami, K. Treitel, C. Chang, and M. I. Gregersen.
 Blood volume and its distribution in endotoxin shock. Am J Physiol 210: 1411-1418, 1966.

:

- Chien, S., D. G. Sinclair, R. J. Dellenbak, C. Chang, B. Peric, S. Usami, and M. I. Gregersen. Effect of endotoxin on capillary permeability to macromolecules. Am. J. Physiol. 207: 518-522, 1964.
- Cilento, E. V., R. S. McCuskey, F. D. Reilly, and H. A. Meineke. Compartmental analysis of circulation of erythrocytes through the rat spleen. *Am J Physiol* 239: H272-7, 1980.
- Cines, D. B., E. S. Pollak, C. A. Buck, J. Loscalzo, G. A. Zimmerman, R. P. McEer, J. S. Pober, T. M. Wick, B. A. Konkle, B. S. Schwarts, E. S. Barnathan, K. R. McCrae, B. A. Hug, A. M. Schmidt, and D. M. Stern. Endothelial Cells in Physiology and in the Pathophysiology of Vascular Disorders. *Blood* 91: 3527-3561, 1998.

- Cocks T.M. Endothelium-dependent vasodilator mechanisms. Oxford, New York, Tokyo, Oxford University Press. 1996.
- 56. Cooper, M. J. and R. C. Williamson. Splenectomy: indications, hazards and alternatives. *Br J Surg* 71: 173-80, 1984.
- 57. Couturier, C., G. Jahns, M. D. Kazatchkine, and N. Haeffner-Cavaillon. Membrane molecules which trigger the production of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha by lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human monocytes. *Eur J Immunol* 22: 1461-6, 1992.
- Cowley, A. W. Long-Term Control of Arterial Blood Pressure. *Physiol Rev* 72: 231-300, 1992.
- D'Almeida, M. S., C. Gaudin, and D. Lebrec. Validation of 1- and 2-mm transittime ultrasound flow probes on mesenteric artery and aorta of rats. Am J Physiol 268: H1368-72, 1995.
- 60. Davis, M. J. and M. A. Hill. Signaling mechanisms underlying the vascular myogenic response. *Physiol Rev* 79: 387-423, 1999.
- 61. de Bold, A. J., H. B. Borenstein, A. T. Veress, and H. Sonnenberg. A rapid and potent natriuretic response to intravenous injection of atrial myocardial extract in rats. *Life Sci* 28: 89-94, 1981.

- 62. de Nucci, G., R. Thomas, P. D'Orleans-Juste, E. Antunes, C. Walder, T. D. Warner, and J. R. Vane. Pressor effects of circulating endothelin are limited by its removal in the pulmonary circulation and by the release of prostacyclin and endothelium-derived relaxing factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 85: 9797-800, 1988.
- Dellenback, R. T., S. Usami, S. Chien, and M. I. Gregersen. Effect of splenectomy on blood picture, blood volume, and plasma proteins in beagles. Am J Physiol 217: 891-897, 1969.
- 64. Demling, R. H., C. Wong, and H. Wenger. Effect of endotoxin on the integrity of the peripheral (soft tissue) microcirculation. *Circ Shock* 12: 191-202, 1984.

- 65. Deng, Y., L. Copeman, and S. Kaufman. A novel natriuretic, hypotensive factor derived from the spleen. *Life Science*.
- 66. Deng, Y. and S. Kaufman. Influence of atrial natriuretic factor on fluid efflux from the splenic circulation of the rat. *J Physiol (Lond)* 491: 225-230, 1996.
- 67. Dierks, E. A. and J. N. Burstyn. Nitric oxide (NO), the only nitrogen monoxide redox form capable of activating soluble guanylyl cyclase. *Biochem Pharmacol* 51: 1593-600, 1996.
- 68. Downey, J. S. and J. Han. Cellular activation mechanisms in septic shock. Front

- 69. Elias, R. M. and M. G. Johnston. Modulation of lymphatic pumping by lymphborne factors after endotoxin administration in sheep. *J Appl Physiol* 68: 199-208, 1990.
- Elias, R. M., M. G. Johnston, A. Hayashi, and W. Nelson. Decreased lymphatic pumping after intravenous endotoxin adminstration in sheep. *Am J Physiol* 253: H1349-H1357, 1987.
- Endlich, K., W. Forssmann, and M. Steinhausen. Effects of urodilatin in the rat kidney: Comparison with ANF and interaction with vasoactive substances. *Kidney Int* 47: 1558-1568, 1995.
- 72. Evans, F. F., Y. M. Snyder, L. D. Butler, and S. H. Zuckerman. Differntial expression of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor in murine septic shock models. *Circ Shock* 29: 279-290, 1989.
- Evans, T., A. Carpenter, H. Kinderman, and J. Cohen. Evidence of Increased Nitric Oxide Production in Patients With the Sepsis Syndrome. *Circulatory* Schock 41: 77-81, 1993.
- 74. Falloon, B. J., N. Stephens, J. R. Tulip, and A. M. Heagerty. Comparison of small artery sensitivity and morphology in pressurized and wire-mounted preparations.

- 75. Feelisch, M. Biotransformation to nitric oxide of organic nitrates in comparison to other nitrovasodilators. *Eur Heart J* 14: 123-132, 1993.
- 76. Feelisch, M. The use of nitric oxide donors in pharmacological studies. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol 358: 113-122, 1998.
- Fike, C. D., J. B. Gordon, and M. R. Kaplowitz. Micropipette and vascular occlusion pressures in isolated lungs of newborn lambs. *J Appl Physiol* 75: 1854-60, 1993.
- 78. Filep, J. G., A. Delalandre, and M. Beauchamp. Dual role for nitric oxide in the regulation of plasma volume and albumin escape during endotoxin shock in conscious rats. *Circ Res* 81: 840-7, 1997.
- Filston, H. C. Fluid and electrolyte management in the pediatric surgical patient. Surg Clin North Am 72: 1189-205, 1992.
- Fink, M. P. and S. O. Heard. Laboratory models of sepsis and septic shock. J Surg Res 49: 186-96, 1990.
- 81. Fish, R. E. and J. A. Spitzer. Continuous infusion of endotoxin from an osmotic pump in the consious unrestrained rat: a unique model of chronic endotoxemia.

Circ Shock 12: 135-149, 1984.

- 82. Fitzsimons, J. T. Angiotensin, thirst, and sodium appetite. *Physiological Review* 78: 583-640, 1998.
- Forstermann, U. and H. Kleinert. Nitric oxide synthase: expression and expressional control of the three isoforms. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 352: 351-64, 1995.
- Furchgott, R. F., P. D. Cherry, J. V. Zawadzki, and D. Jothianandan. Endothelial cells as mediators of vasodilation of arteries. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 6: 336-343, 1984.
- Gahhos, F. N., R. C. Chiu, D. Bethune, Y. Dion, E. J. Hinchey, and G. K. Richards. Hemodynamic responses to sepsis: hypodynamic versus hyperdynamic states. *J Surg Res* 31: 475-81, 1981.
- 86. Garcia-Pascual, A., G. Costa, A. Labadia, E. Jiminez, and D. Triguero. Differential mechanisms of urethral smooth muscle relaxation by several NO donors and nitric oxide. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 360: 80-91, 1999.
- 87. Gardiner, S. M., P. A. Kemp, and T. Bennett. Regional haemodynamic changes during chronic infusion of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in conscious rats. *Brit. J.*

- Gardiner, S. M., P. A. Kemp, and T. Bennett. Cardiac haemodynamic effects of chronic lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in conscious rats. *Br J Pharmacol* 112: 27P, 1994.
- Gardiner, S. M., P. A. Kemp, J. E. March, and T. Bennett. Influence of FR 167653, an inhibitor of TNF-alpha and IL-1, on the cardiovascular responses to chronic infusion of lipopolysaccharide in conscious rats. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 34: 64-9, 1999.
- 90. Gardiner, S. M., P. A. Kemp, J. E. March, J. Woolley, and T. Bennett. The influence of antibodies to TNF-alpha and IL-1beta on haemodynamic responses to the cytokines, and to lipopolysaccharide, in conscious rats. *Br J Pharmacol* 125: 1543-50, 1998.
- 91. Ge, Y., R. M. Ezzell, B. D. Clark, P. M. Loiselle, S. F. Amato, and H. S. Warren. Relationship of tissue and cellular interleukin-1 and lipopolysaccharide after endotoxemia and bacteremia. *J Infect Dis* 176: 1313-21, 1997.
- 92. Goligorsky, M. S., H. Tsukahara, H. Magazine, T. T. Andersen, A. B. Malik, and
 W. F. Bahou. Termination of endothelin signaling: role of nitric oxide. J Cell Physiol 158: 485-94, 1994.

- Gomez-Jimenez, J., A. Salgado, M. Mourelle, M. C. Martin, R. M. Segura, R. Peracaula, and S. Moncada. L-arginine: Nitric oxide pathway in endotoxemia and human septic shock. *Crit Care Med* 23: 253-258, 1995.
- 94. Goto, Y., S. Baez, and L. R. Orkin. The effect of endotoxin on microcirculatory and lymphatic dynamics in the rat (Shwartzman Phenomenon). *Circ Shock* 8: 533-542, 1981.
- 95. Gottesfeld, Z., M. Maier, D. Mailman, M. Lai, and N. W. Weisbrodt. Splenic sympathetic response to endotoxin is blunted in the fetal alcohol-exposed rat: role of nitric oxide. *Alcohol* 16: 19-24, 1998.
- 96. Gould, S. A., L. R. Sehgal, H. L. Sehgal, and G. S. Moss. Hypovolemic shock. Crit Care Clin 9: 239-59, 1993.
- 97. Granger, D. N. and P. R. Kvietys. The splanchnic circulation: intrinsic regulation. Annu Rev Physiol 43: 409-18, 1981.
- Griffith, T. M. and A. H. Henderson. EDRF and the regulation of vascular tone. Int J Microcirc Clin Exp 8: 383-96, 1989.
- Groeneveld, A. B. J., G. J. J. Teule, W. Bronsveld, G. C. van den Bos, and L. G. Thijs. Increased systemic microvascular albumin flux in septic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* 13: 140-142, 1987.

- Groom, A. C. The Microcirculatory Society Eugene M. Landis Award Lecture: Microcirculation of the spleen: New concepts, new challenges. *Microvasc Res* 34: 269-289, 1987.
- 101. Groom, A. C. and E. E. Schmidt, eds. Chapter 4: Microcirculatory blood flow through the spleen. London, Chapman and Hall Medical. 1990, 45-102.
- 102. Groom, A. C., E. E. Schmidt, and I. C. Macdonald. Microcirculatory Pathways and Blood Flow in Spleen - New Insights from Washout Kinetics, Corrosion Casts, and Quantitative Intravital Videomicroscopy. Scanning Microsc 5: 159-174, 1991.

:

- 103. Groom, A. C. and S. H. Song. Effects of norepinephrine on washout of red cells from the spleen. Am J Physiol 221: 255-8, 1971.
- Guc, M. O. Endotoxin-endothelium interactions in "low-perfusion state" research. J Physiol Pharmacol 50: 541-50, 1999.
- 105. Hack, C. E., L. A. Aarden, and L. G. Thijs. Role of cytokines in sepsis. Adv Immunol 66: 101-95, 1997.
- 106. Haglund, U. The splanchnic organs as the source of toxic mediators in shock. Prog Clin Biol Res 264: 135-45, 1988.

- 107. Hakim, T. S. and S. Kelly. Occlusion pressures vs. micropipette pressures in the pulmonary circulation. *J Appl Physiol* 67: 1277-85, 1989.
- 108. Hardaway, R. M. A review of septic shock. Am Surg 66: 22-9, 2000.
- 109. Hartman, J. C., D. A. Olszanski, T. G. Hullinger, and M. N. Brunden. In vivo validation of a transit-time ultrasonic volume flow meter. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 31: 153-60, 1994.
- ¹ 110. Hayakawa, H., Y. Hirata, M. Kakoki, Y. Suzuki, H. Nishimatsu, D. Nagata, E. Suzuki, K. Kikuchi, T. Nagano, K. Kangawa, H. Matsuo, T. Sugimoto, and M. Omata. Role of nitric oxide-cGMP pathway in adrenomedullin-induced vasodilation in the rat. *Hypertension* 33: 689-693, 1999.
- 111. Hayashi, A., R. Elias, W. Nelson, S. M. Hamilton, and M. G. Johnston. Inhibition of Intrinsic pumping activity in ovine mesenteric lymphatics during endotoxic shock. *Curr Surg* 45: 131-134, 1988.
- 112. Herman, N. L., D. R. Kostreva, and J. P. Kampine. Splenic afferents and some of their reflex responses. Am J Physiol 242: R247-R254, 1982.
- 113. Hinshaw, L. B. Sepsis/septic shock: Participation of the microcirculation: Anabbreviated review. Crit. Care Med. 24: 1072-1078, 1996.

- 114. Hirata, Y., C. Mitaka, K. Sato, T. Nagura, Y. Tsunoda, K. Amaha, and F. Marumo. Increased circulating adrenomedullin, a novel vasodilatory peptide, in sepsis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 81: 1449-1453, 1996.
- 115. Hollenberg, S. M. and R. E. Cunnion. Endothelial and vascular smooth muscle function in sepsis. J Crit Care 9: 262-80, 1994.
- 116. Hori, T., T. Katafuchi, S. Take, N. Shimizu, and A. Niijima. The autonomic nervous system as a communication channel between the brain and the immune system. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 2: 203-15, 1995.
- Horton, J. W., J. C. Longhurst, D. Coln, and J. H. Mitchell. Cardiovascular effects of haemorrhagic shock in spleen intact and in splenectomized dogs. *Clin Physiol* 4: 533-548, 1984.
- 118. Imm, A. and R. W. Carlson. Fluid resuscitation in circulatory shock. Crit Care Clin 9: 313-33, 1993.
- Isbister, J. P. Physiology and pathophysiology of blood volume regulation.
 Transfus Sci 18: 409-23, 1997.
- 120. Ito, H., Y. Hirata, S. Adachi, M. Tanaka, M. Tsujino, A. Koike, A. Nogami, F. Marumo, and M. Hiroe. Endothelin-1 Is an Autocrine/Paracrine Factor in the Mechanism of Angiotensin-II-Induced Hypertrophy in Cultured Rat

- Ito, S. and K. Abe. Contractile Properties of Afferent and Efferent Arterioles. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 24: 532-535, 1997.
- 122. Jacobs, R. F. and D. R. Tabor. Immune cellular interactions during sepsis and septic injury. *Crit Care Clin* 5: 9-26, 1989.
- 123. Jacobson, E. D. A physiologic approach to shock. *The New England J.* 278: 834-838, 1968.
- Janout, V. and L. Weiss. Deep Splenic Lymphatics in the Marmot: An Electron Microscopic Study. Anat Rec 172: 197-200, 1972.
- 125. Job, T. T. The adult anatomy of the lumphatic system in the common rat (epimys norvegicus). *Anat Rec* 9: 447-458, 1914.
- 126. Johansson, B. Vascular smooth muscle reactivity. Annu Rev Physiol 43: 359-70, 1981.
- 127. Johnson, P. C. The myogenic response in the microcirculation and its interaction with other control systems. *J Hypertens Suppl* 7: S33-9; discussion S40, 1989.
- 128. Johnston, M. G. and R. Elias. The regulation of lymphatic pumping. Lymphology 20: 215-218, 1987.

- 129. Johnston, M. G., R. M. Elias, A. Hayashi, and W. Nelson. Role of the lymphatic circulation system in shock. *J Burn Care Rehabil* 8: 469-74, 1987.
- Jones, D. A. and J. M. Round, eds. Chaper 2: The mechanism of force generation. New York, Manchester University Press. 1990, 18-40.
- Jougasaki, M. and J. C. Burnett Jr. Adrenomedullin: potential in physiology and pathophysiology. *Life Sci* 66: 855-72, 2000.
- ¹132. Kakizaki, Y., H. Watanobe, A. Kohsaka, and T. Suda. Temporal profiles of interleukin-1beta, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in the plasma and hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus after intravenous or intraperitoneal administration of lipopolysaccharide in the rat: estimation by push-pull perfusion. *Endocr J* 46: 487-96, 1999.
- Kaufman, S. Chronic, nonocclusive, and maintenance free central venous cannula in the rat. *Am J Physiol* 239: R123-R125, 1980.
- Kaufman, S. Role of spleen in ANF-induced reduction in plasma volume. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 70: 1104-1108, 1992.
- Kaufman, S. and Y. Deng. Splenic control of intravascular volume in the rat. J Physiol (Lond) 468: 557-565, 1993.

- 136. Kaufman, S. and Y. Deng. Control of systemic blood pressure: influence of splenic afferent nerves and nitric oxide (NO)). FASEB J 13: A458, 1999.
- Kaufman, S. and Y. Deng. Effect of splenic extract on plasma voulme and renal function in the rat. *Life Sci* 65: 2653-62, 1999.
- 138. King, E. G. and W. D. Chin. Shock: an overview of pathophysiology and general treatment goals. *Crit Care Clin* 1: 547-61, 1985.
- 139. Kirkeboen, K. A. and O. A. Strand. The role of nitric oxide in sepsis an overview. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 43: 275-288, 1999.
 - 140. Kitamura, K., K. Kangawa, M. Kawamoto, Y. Ichiki, S. Nakamura, H. Matuso, and T. Eto. Adrenomedullin: a novel hypotensive peptide isolated from human pheochreomocytoma. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 192: 553-560, 1993.
 - 141. Knowles, R. G. and S. Moncada. Nitric oxide synthases in mammals. *Biochem J* 298 (Pt 2): 249-58, 1994.
- 142. Koshikawa, T., J. Asai, and S. Iijima. Cellular and humoral dynamics in the periarterial lymphatic sheaths of rat spleens. Acta Pathol Jpn 34: 1301-1311, 1984.
- 143. Kumar, A., C. Haery, and J. E. Parrillo. Myocardial dysfunction in septic shock.

Crit Care Clin 16: 251-87, 2000.

- 144. Kurihara, M., K. Shigematsu, and J. M. Saavedra. Localization of atrial natriuretic peptide, ANP-(99-126) binding sites in the rat thymus and spleen with quantitative autoradiography. *Regul Pept* 15: 341-346, 1986.
- 145. Levesque, M. J. and A. C. Groom. Blood flow distribution within the spleen distended by perfusion at high venous pressure. *J Lab Clin Med* 96: 606-15, 1980.
- ¹146. Levin, E. R., D. G. Gardner, and W. K. Samson. Natriuretic peptides. N Engl J Med 339: 321-328, 1998.
 - 147. Lieber, R. L., ed. Chapter 2: Skeletal muscle physiology. Baltimore, Williams & Wilkins. 1992, 49-110.
 - 148. Liu, S., I. M. Adcock, R. W. Old, P. J. Barnes, and T. W. Evans. Lipopolysaccharide treatment in vivo induces widespread tissue expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase mRNA. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 196: 1208-13, 1993.
- 149. Liu, S. F., P. J. Barnes, and T. W. Evans. Time course and cellular localization of lipopolysaccharide-induced inducible nitric oxide synthase messenger RNA expression in the rat in vivo. *Crit Care Med* 25: 512-8, 1997.

- 150. Lockwood, C. M. Immunological functions of the spleen. *Clin Haematol* 12: 449-65, 1983.
- Loppnow, H., F. Stelter, U. Schonbeck, C. Schluter, M. Ernst, C. Schutt, and H. D. Flad. Endotoxin activates human vascular smooth muscle cells despite lack of expression of CD14 mRNA or endogenous membrane CD14. *Infect Immun* 63: 1020-6, 1995.
- 152. Lorton, D., D. L. Bellinger, S. Y. Felten, and D. L. Felten. Substance-P Innervation 'of Spleen in Rats - Nerve Fibers Associate with Lymphocytes and Macrophages in Specific Compartments of the Spleen. *Brain Behav Immun* 5: 29-40, 1991.

:

- Loscalzo, J. and G. Welch. Nitric oxide and its role in the cardiovascular system.
 Prog Cardiovasc Dis 38: 87-104, 1995.
- Lucas, C. E., A. M. Ledgerwood, W. J. Rachwal, D. Grabow, and J. M. Saxe.
 Colloid oncotic pressure and body water dynamics in septic and injured patients. J Trauma 31: 927-31; discussion 931-3, 1991.
- 155. Lundblad, R., P. Sandven, and K. E. Giercksky. The physical nature of a large bowel perforation predicts severity of the subsequent inflammatory response. Shock 3: 455-461, 1995.
- 156. Macarthur, H., T. C. Westfall, D. P. Riley, T. P. Misko, and D. Salvemini. Inactivation of catecholamines by superoxide gives new insights on the pathogenesis of septic shock. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97: 9753-8, 2000.
- 157. MacNeil, B. J., A. H. Jansen, L. J. Janz, A. H. Greenberg, and D. M. Nance. Peripheral endotoxin increases splenic sympathetic nerve acitivity via central prostaglandin synthesis. *Am J Physiol* 273: R609-R614, 1997.
- 158. Madden, K. S., V. M. Sanders, and D. L. Felten. Catecholamine influences and sympathetic neural modulation of immune responsiveness. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 35: 417-48, 1995.

:

- 159. Mathews, W. R. and S. W. Kerr. Biological activity of S-nitrosothiols: the role of nitric oxide. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 267: 1529-37, 1993.
- Maximow, A. A. and Bloom. W. Textbook of Histology. Philadelphia, Saunders. 1941.
- Mayer, J., R. Hajek, J. Vorlicek, and M. Tomiska. Sepsis and septic shock. II. Treatment. Support Care Cancer 3: 111-9, 1995.
- McCuskey, R. S., R. Urbaschek, and B. Urbaschek. The microcirculation during endotoxemia. *Cardiovasc Res* 32: 752-63, 1996.

- 163. McKenna, T. M. Prolonged exposure of rat aorta to low levels of endotoxin in vitro results in impaired contractility. Association with vascular cytokine release. *J Clin Invest* 86: 160-8, 1990.
- 164. Meckler, R. L. and L. C. Weaver. Characteristics of ongoing and reflex discharge of single splenic and renal sympathetic postganglionic fibres in cats. J Physiol (Lond) 396: 139-153, 1988.
- 165. Meckler, R. L. and L. C. Weaver. Persistent firing of splenic and renal afferent nerves after acute decentralization but failure to produce ganglionic reflexes. *Neurosci Lett* 88: 167-172, 1988.
- 166. Meltzer, J. C., P. C. Grimm, A. H. Greenberg, and D. M. Nance. Enhanced immunohistochemical detection of autonomic nerve fibers, cytokines and inducible nitric oxide synthase by light and fluorescent microscopy in rat spleen. J Histochem Cytochem 45: 599-610, 1997.
- 167. Members of the American College of Chest Phyicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine Consensus Conference: Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. Crit. Care. Med. 20: 864-874, 1992.
- 168. Michel, C. C. Transport of macromolecules through microvascular walls.

2

÷

- 169. Michel, C. C. Starling: the formulation of his hypothesis of microvascular fluid exchange and its significance after 100 years. *Exp Physiol* 82: 1-30, 1997.
- 170. Minamino, N., Y. Isumi, K. Kangawa, K. Kitamura, and H. Matsuo. Adrenomedullin production in vascular cells and its function in the vascular wall. In Martinez, A. and F. Cuttitta, eds. Adrenomedullin. Amsterdam, IOS Press. 1998, 79.
- 171. Mitchell, J. A., K. L. Kohlhaas, R. Sorrentino, T. D. Warner, F. Murad, and J. R. Vane. Induction by Endotoxin of Nitric Oxide Synthase in the Rat Mesentery Lack of Effect on Action of Vasoconstrictors. *Br J Pharmacol* 109: 265-270, 1993.
- 172. Mitchell, K. D. and L. G. Navar. The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in volume control. *Baillieres Clin Endocrinol Metab* 3: 393-430, 1989.
- 173. Mitolo-Chieppa, D., M. Serio, M. A. Potenza, M. Montagnani, G. Mansi, S. Pece,
 E. Jirillo, and J. C. Stoclet. Hyporeactivity of mesenteric vascular bed in endotoxin-treated rats. *Eur J Pharmacol* 309: 175-82, 1996.
- 174. Mohrman, D. E. and L. J. Heller. Cardiovascular function in pathological situations. In Mohrman, D. E. and L. J. Heller, eds. Cardiovascular physiology.

162

New York, The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. 1997, 191.

- 175. Morimoto, K., A. Morimoto, T. Nakamori, N. Tan, T. Minagawa, and N. Murakami. Cardiovascular responses induced in free-moving rats by immune cytokines. J Physiol (Lond) 448: 307-20, 1992.
- 176. Mulder, M. F., A. A. van Lambalgen, G. C. van den Bos, and L. G. Thijs. The fall of cardiac output in endotoxemic rats cannot explain all changes in organ blood flow: A comparison between endotoxin and low venous return shock. *Shock* 5: 135-140, 1996.
- 177. Murad, F., R. M. Rapoport, and R. Fiscus. Role of cyclic-GMP in relaxations of vascular smooth muscle. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 7 Suppl 3: S111-8, 1985.
- Mythen, M. G., J. B. Salmon, and A. R. Webb. The rational administration of colloids. *Blood Rev* 7: 223-8, 1993.
- 179. Nambi, P., M. Pullen, M. J. Slivjak, E. H. Ohlstein, B. Storer, and E. F. Smith III. Endotoxin-Mediated Changes in Plasma Endothelin Concentrations, Renal Endothelin Receptor and Renal Function. *Pharmacology* 48: 147-156, 1994.
- 180. Nance, D. M. and J. Burns. Innervation of the spleen in the rat: Evidence for absence of afferent innervation. *Brain, Behav. Immun.* 3: 281-290, 1989.

- 181. Nathan, C. F. and J. B. Hibbs Jr. Role of nitric oxide synthesis in macrophage antimicrobial activity. *Curr Opin Immunol* 3: 65-70, 1991.
- 182. Nathens, A. B. and J. C. Marshall. Sepsis, SIRS, and MODS: what's in a name? World J Surg 20: 386-91, 1996.
- 183. Nishio, K., Y. Akai, Y. Murao, N. Doi, S. Ueda, Tabuse. H, S. Miyamoto, K. Dohi, N. Minamino, H. Shoji, K. Kitamura, K. Kangawa, and H. Matsuo. Increased plasma concentrations of adrenomedullin correlate with relaxation of vascular tone in patients with septic shock. *Crit Care Med* 25: 953-957, 1997.

2

- 184. Noack, E. and M. Feelisch. Molecular mechanisms of nitrovasodilator bioactivation. Basic Res Cardiol 86 Suppl 2: 37-50, 1991.
- 185. Nordlander, M. I. Inhibition of vascular myogenic tone and reactivity by calcium antagonists. J Hypertens Suppl 7: S141-5; discussion S146, 1989.
- Ohhashi, T. Mechanisms for Regulating Tone in Lymphatic Vessels. Biochem Pharmacol 45: 1941-1946, 1993.
- 187. Opdyke, D. F. Hemodynamics of blood flow through the spleen. Am J Physiol 219: 102-106, 1970.
- 188. Owji, A. A., D. M. Smith, H. A. Coppock, D. G. A. Morgan, R. Bhogal, M. A.

Ghatei, and S. R. Bloom. An abundant and specific binding site for the novel vasodilator adrenomedullin in the rat. *Endocrinology* 136: 2127-2134, 1995.

- Parrillo, J. E. The cardiovascular pathophysiology of sepsis. Annu Rev Med 40: 469-85, 1989.
- Parrillo, J. E. Pathogenetic mechanisms of septic shock. N Engl J Med 328: 1471-1477, 1993.
- 191. Payen, D. [Septic shock and regional circulations]. Rev Prat 43: 26-30, 1993.
- 192. Payen, D., C. Bernard, and S. Beloucif. Nitric oxide in sepsis. *Clin Chest Med* 17: 333-50, 1996.
- 193. Pellas, T. C. and L. Weiss. Deep Splenic Lymphatic Vessels in the Mouse A Route of Splenic Exit for Recirculating Lymphocytes. Am J Anat 187: 347-354, 1990.
- 194. Podolsky R.J. and Nolan A.C., eds. Cross-bridge properties derived from physiological studies of frog muscle fibers. New Jersey, Prentice-Hall, Inc. 1970, 247-260.
- 195. Pugin, J., R. J. Ulevitch, and P. S. Tobias. Activation of endothelial cells by endotoxin: direct versus indirect pathways and the role of CD14. *Prog Clin Biol*

Res 392: 369-73, 1995.

- 196. Rackow, E. C. and M. E. Astiz. Mechanisms and management of septic shock. Crit Care Clin 9: 219-37, 1993.
- 197. Raetz, C. R. Biochemistry of endotoxins. Annu Rev Biochem 59: 129-70, 1990.
- 198. Redl, H., G. Schlag, R. Kneidinger, W. Ohlinger, and J. Davies. Response of the endothelium to trauma and sepsis. Adherence, cytokine effects and procoagulatory response. *Arzneimittelforschung* 44: 443-6, 1994.
- 199. Reilly, F. D. Innervation and vascular pharmacodynamics of the mammalian spleen. *Experientia* 41: 187-192, 1985.
- 200. Remuzzi, A. Mathematical description of transport of water and macromolecules through the glomerular capillary wall. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* 4: 343-8, 1995.
- 201. Rhoades, R. and R. Pflanzer. Circulation. In Rhoades, R. and R. Pflanzer, eds. Human physiology. New York, Saunders College Publishing. 1996, 575.
- 202. Rippe, B. and B. Haraldsson. Transport of macromolecules across microvascular walls: the two-pore theory. *Physiol Rev* 74: 163-219, 1994.
- 203. Rogausch, H., A. D. Rey, A. Kabiersch, and H. O. Besedovsky. Interleukin-1

increases splenic blood flow by affecting the sympathetic vasoconstrictor tonus. Am J Physiol 268: 902-908, 1995.

- 204. Rowell, L. B., J. M. Detry, J. R. Blackmon, and C. Wyss. Importance of the splanchnic vascular bed in human blood pressure regulation. J Appl Physiol 32: 213-20, 1972.
- 205. Rubanyi, G. M. and L. H. P. Botelho. Endothelins. FASEB J 5: 2713-2720, 1991.
- 206. Rubertsson, S., D. Arvidsson, L. Wiklund, and U. Haglund. Comparison of blood flow measurement in the portal vein and pulmonary artery using transit-time ultrasound flowmetry and thermodilution techniques. *Surg. Res. Comm.* 13: 309-316, 1993.
- 207. Russell, J. A. Catecholamines and the splanchnic circulation. *Crit Care Med* 27: 242-3, 1999.
- 208. Russell, J. A. and J. M. Roberts. Functional antagonism in rabbit pulmonary veins contracted by endothelin. *Pulm Pharmacol* 4: 67-72, 1991.
- 209. Sam, I. I. AD, A. C. Sharma, W. R. Law, and J. L. Ferguson. Splanchnic vascular control during sepsis and endotoxemia. *Front Biosci* 2: e72-92, 1997.
- 210. Samson, W. K. Adrenomedullin and the control of fliud and electrolyte

.

- 211. Sasou, S. and T. Sugai. Periarterial Lymphoid Sheath in the Rat Spleen A Light, Transmission, and Scanning Electron Microscopic Study. *Anat Rec* 232: 15-24, 1992.
- 212. Schini, V. B., D. C. Junquero, T. Scott-Burden, and P. M. Vanhoutte. Interleukin1 beta induces the production of an L-arginine-derived relaxing factor from
 cultured smooth muscle cells from rat aorta. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 176:
 114-21, 1991.
- 213. Schutt, C. Fighting infection: the role of lipopolysaccharide binding proteinsCD14 and LBP. *Pathobiology* 67: 227-9, 1999.
- 214. Schwietert, R., D. Wilhelm, B. Wilffert, and P. A. Van Zwieten. The effect of some alpha-adrenoceptor antagonists on spontaneous myogenic activity in the rat portal vein and the putative involvement of ATP-sensitive K+ channels. *Eur J Pharmacol* 211: 87-95, 1992.
- 215. Shirasawa, Y., F. Ikomi, and T. Ohhashi. Physiological roles of endogenous nitric oxide in lymphatic pump activity of rat mesentery in vivo. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 278: G551-6, 2000.
- 216. Shoemaker, W. C., P. L. Appel, H. B. Kram, M. H. Bishop, and E. Abraham.

Temporal hemodynamic and oxygen transport patterns in medical patients. Septic shock. *Chest* 104: 1529-36, 1993.

- 217. Shoemaker, W. C., P. L. Appel, H. B. Kram, M. H. Bishop, and E. Abraham. Sequence of physiologic patterns in surgical septic shock. *Crit Care Med* 21: 1876-89, 1993.
- 218. Shoji, H., N. Minamino, K. Kangawa, and K. Matsuo. Endotoxin markedly elevates plasma concentration and gene transcription of adrenomedullin in rat. *Biochem. and Biophys. Res. Comm* Vol 215: 531-537, 923.
- 219. Skvorak, J. P., S. J. Nazian, and J. R. Dietz. Endothelin acts as a paracrine regulator of stretch-induced natriuretic peptide release. Am J Physiol 269: R1093-R1098, 1995.
- 220. Spencer, R. P. and H. A. Pearson. The spleen as a hematological organ. Semin Nucl Med 5: 95-102, 1975.
- 221. Spirer, Z., R. Arav-Boger, V. Zakuth, E. Tzehoval, S. Dagan, B. Lev, A. Golander, and I. Melamed. [Decreased interleukin-1 and interleukin-2 production after splenectomy]. *Harefuah* 126: 374-7, 426, 1994.
- 222. Stamler, J. S., D. J. Singel, and J. Loscalzo. Biochemistry of nitric oxide and its redox-activated forms. *Science* 258: 1898-902, 1992.

- 223. Stock, R. J., E. V. Cilento, F. D. Reilly, and R. S. McCuskey. A compartmental analysis of the splenic circulation in rat . *Am J Physiol* 245: H17-H21, 1983.
- 224. Suba, E. A., T. M. McKenna, and T. J. Williams. In vivo and in vitro effects of endotoxin on vascular responsiveness to norepinephrine and signal transduction in the rat. *Circ Shock* 36: 127-133, 1992.
- 225. Sugo, A., N. Minamino, K. Kangawa, I. Miyamoto, K. Kitamura, J. Sakata, T. Eto, and H. Matsuo. Endothelial cells actively synthesize and secrete adrenomedullin. *Biophys Biochem Res Commun* 201: 1160-1166, 1994.
- 226. Sugo, S., N. Minamino, H. Shoji, K. Kangawa, K. Kitamura, T. Eto, and H. Matsuo. Production and secretion of adrenomedullin from vascular smooth muscle cells: augmented production by tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 203: 719-723, 1994.
- 227. Sugo, S., N. Minamino, H. Shoji, K. Kangawa, K. Kitamura, T. Eto, and H. Matsuo. Inerleukin-1, tumor necrosis factor and lipopolysaccharide additively stimulate production of adrenomedullin in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 207: 25-32, 1995.
- 228. Sultanian, R., Y. Deng, and S. Kaufman. Atrial natriuretic factor increases splenic microvascular pressure and fluid extravasation in the rat. *J Physiol* 2001.

- 229. Sultanian, R. and S. Kaufman. Investigation of Splenic Control of Blood Volume Utilizing the Double-Occlusion Technique: Role of ANF in Fluid Extravasation (abstract). Can J Cardiol 15: 236D, 1999.
- Takakura, K., I. Muramatsu, S. Kigoshi, and Y. Goto. [The effects of treatment with lipopolysaccharide on responsiveness of rat blood vessels]. *Masui* 44: 1343-9, 1995.
- 231. Takala, J. Determinants of splanchnic blood flow. Br J Anaesth 77: 50-8, 1996.
- 232. Takubo, K., H. Miyamoto, M. Imamura, and T. Tobe. Morphology of the Human and Dog Spleen with Special Reference to Intrasplenic Microcirculation. Jpn J Surg 16: 29-35, 1999.
- 233. Taylor, A. E., W. H. Gibson, H. J. Granger, and A. C. Guyton. The interaction between intracapillary and tissue forces in the overall regulation of interstitial fluid volume. *Lymphology* 6: 192-208, 1973.
- 234. Thiemermann, C. and J. Vane. Inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis reduces the hypotension induced by bacterial lipopolysaccharides in the rat in vivo. *Eur J Pharmacol* 182: 591-5, 1990.
- 235. Thijs, L. G., J. P. de Boer, M. C. de Groot, and C. E. Hack. Coagulation disorders in septic shock. *Intensive Care Med* 19 Suppl 1: S8-15, 1993.

- 236. Throsby, M., D. Lee, W. Q. Huang, Z. Yang, D. L. Copolov, and A. T. Lim. Evidence for Atrial Natriuretic Peptide-(5-28) Production by Macrophages of the Rat Spleen - An Immunochemical and Nonradioactive Insitu Hybridization Approach. *Endocrinology* 129: 991-1000, 1991.
- 237. Tonder, K. H. and K. Aukland. Glomerular capillary pressure in the rat. Validation of pressure measurement through corticotomy. *Acta Physiol Scand* 106: 93-5, 1979.
- 238. Townsley, M. I., R. J. Korthuis, B. Rippe, J. C. Parker, and A. E. Taylor. Validation of double vascular occlusion method for Pc, in lung and skeletal muscle. *J Appl Physiol* 61: 127-132, 1986.
- 239. Twombly, M. The shift into third space. Nursing (Lond) 8: 38-41, 1978.
- 240. Ulevitch, R. J. and P. S. Tobias. Recognition of gram-negative bacteria and endotoxin by the innate immune system. *Curr Opin Immunol* 11: 19-22, 1999.
- 241. van Lambalgen, A. A., M. T. E. Rasker, G. C. van den Bos, and L. G. Thijs. Effects of endotoxemia on systemic plasma loss and hematocrit in rats. *Microvasc Res* 36: 291-304, 1988.
- 242. van Lambalgen, A. A., G. C. van den Bos, and L. G. Thijs. Changes in regional plasma extravasation in rats following endotoxin infusion. *Microvasc Res* 34:

- 243. Villa, P., G. Sartor, M. Angelini, M. Sironi, M. Conni, P. Gnocchi, A. M. Isetta, G. Grau, W. Buurman, L. J. H. van Tits, and P. Ghezzi. Pattern of cytokines and pharmacomodulation in sepsis induced by cecal ligation and puncture compared with that induced by endotoxin. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* 2: 549-553, 1995.
- 244. Villazon, S. A., U. A. Sierra, S. F. Lopez, and M. A. Rolando. Hemodynamic patterns in shock and critically ill patients. *Crit Care Med* 3: 215-21, 1975.
- 245. Vincent, J. L., H. Zhang, C. Szabo, and J. C. Preiser. Effects of nitric oxide in septic shock. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 161: 1781-5, 2000.
- Voelkel, N. F., J. D. Allard, S. M. Anderson, and T. J. Burke. cGMP and cAMP cause pulmonary vasoconstriction in the presence of hemolysate. *J Appl Physiol* 86: 1715-1720, 1999.
- 247. Waller, J., S. M. Gardiner, J. Jose, and T. Bennett. Lack of effect of TNF antibodies on the cardiovascular sequelae of lipopolysaccharide infusion in conscious rats. *Br J Pharmacol* 116: 2487-95, 1995.
- 248. Wang, P., Z. F. Ba, W. G. Cioffi, K. I. Bland, and I. H. Chaudry. The pivotal role of adrenomedullin in producing hyperdynamic circulation during the early stage of sepsis. *Arch Surg* 133: 1298-304, 1998.

- 249. Wang, P., Z. F. Ba, M. S. Tait, M. Zhou, and I. H. Chaudry. Alterations in circulating blood volume during polymicrobiol sepsis. *Circ Shock* 40: 92-98, 1993.
- 250. Warner, S. J. and P. Libby. Human vascular smooth muscle cells. Target for and source of tumor necrosis factor. *J Immunol* 142: 100-9, 1989.
- 251. Waynforth, H. B. and P. A. Flecknell. Specific Surgical Operations. In Waynforth, H. B. and P. A. Flecknell, eds. Experimental and Surgical Technique in the Rat. New York, Academic Press. 1992, 279.
- 252. Weaver, L. C., H. K. Fry, and R. L. Meckler. Differential renal and splenic nerve responses to vagal and spinal afferent inputs. *Am J Physiol* 246: R78-R87, 1984.
- 253. Weitzberg, E. Circulatory responses to endothelin-1 and nitric oxide with special reference to endotoxin shock and nitric oxide inhalation. *Acta Physiol Scand Suppl* 611: 1-72, 1993.
- 254. Weitzberg, E., J. M. Lundberg, and A. Rudehill. Elevated plasma levels of endothelin in patients with sepsis syndrome. *Circ Shock* 33: 222-7, 1991.
- 255. Welch, W. J., X. Deng, H. Snellen, and C. S. Wilcox. Validation of miniature ultrasonic transit-time flow probes for measurement of renal blood flow in rats. *Am J Physiol* 268: F175-8, 1995.

- 256. Wen, C., M. Li, and J. A. Whitworth. Validation of transonic small animal flowmeter for measurement of cardiac output and regional blood flow in the rat. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 27: 482-6, 1996.
- 257. Wichterman, K. A., A. E. Baue, and I. H. Chaudry. Sepsis and septic shock--a review of laboratory models and a proposal. *J Surg Res* 29: 189-201, 1980.
- 258. Wiles, J. B., F. B. Cerra, J. H. Siegel, and J. R. Border. The systemic septic response: does the organism matter? *Crit Care Med* 8: 55-60, 1980.

2

÷

- 259. Woods, R. L. Vasoconstrictor actions of atrial natriuretic peptide in the splanchnic circulation of anesthetized dogs. *Am J Physiol* 275: R1822-R1832, 1998.
- 260. Woods, R. L. and W. P. Anderson. Atrial Natriuretic Peptide Infusion Causes Vasoconstriction After Autonomic Blockade in Conscious Dogs. Am J Physiol 259: R813-R822, 1990.
- Woods, R. L. and M. J. M. Jones. Atrial, B-type, and C-type natriuretic peptides cause mesenteric vasoconstriction in conscious dogs. *Am J Physiol* 276: R1443-R1452, 1999.
- 262. Wort, S. J. and T. W. Evans. The role of the endothelium in modulating vascular control in sepsis and related conditions. *Br Med Bull* 55: 30-48, 1999.

- 263. Wurster, S. H, Wang, P, Dean, R. E, and Chaudry, I. H. Vascular Smooth Muscle Contractile Function is Impaired during Early and Late Stages of Sepsis. J Surg Res 56, 556-561. 94.
- 264. Xavier, F., M. Yu, and J. R. McNeill. Validation of a flow-differential technique for the recording of splenic blood-volume changes to vasoactive agents. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 28: 605-10, 1996.
- 265. Yamada, S., M. Kubo, and Y. Hayashida. Lymph flow dynamics into the thoracic duct of the rat. Jpn J Physiol 38: 729-33, 1988.
- 266. Yanagisawa, M., H. Kurihara, S. Kimura, Y. Tombe, M. Lobayashi, Y. Mitsui, Y. Yazaki, K. Goto, and T. Masaki. A novel potent vasoconstrictor peptide produced by vascular endothelial cells. *Nature* 332: 411-415, 1988.
- 267. Yoffee, J. M. and F. C. Courtice. Lymphatics, Lymph and the Lymphomyeloid Complex. New York, Academic Press. 1970.
- 268. Zaloga, G. P., R. C. Prielipp, J. F. Butterworth 4th, and R. L. Royster. Pharmacologic cardiovascular support. *Crit Care Clin* 9: 335-62, 1993.
- 269. Zanzinger, J., J. Czachurski, and H. Seller. Inhibition of sympathetic vasoconstriction is a major principle of vasodilation by nitric oxide in vivo. *Circ Res* 75: 1073-7, 1994.

CHAPTER 7.

2

:

APPENDICES

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

APPENDIX A





Figure 35. Apparatus used for splenic blood flow recordings in conscious unrestrained rats (experiment B).

The chronic implantation of blood flow probes around the splenic artery and vein of a rat was originally reported by Chen and Kaufman (1996) (46). Chronic implantation of the blood flow probes in experiment B allowed the measurement of blood flow to the spleen of a conscious unrestrained rat during continuous intravenous infusion of LPS. An estimation of the extravasation from the splenic circulation was derived through the comparison of splenic arterial versus venous blood flow. It was possible to obtain a continuous recording of blood flows in the splenic artery and vein, in a manner where vessels were fully functional for flow measurement in a non-constrictive and non-occlusive design. The validity and reliability of the blood flow probes has been confirmed by others (59,109,255).

For an extensive description of the T206 flowmeter and 1RB series blood flow probes (used in experiment B) the following sources are provided :

- Transonic T206 animal research flowmeter manual. *Transonic* Systems Inc. Review. 3/31/92.
- Fundamental techniques for hemodynamic studies in the rat. Transonic Systems Inc. 10th Anniversary Special Edition. (1993)
- Flowmeters for medicine and research catalogue. *Transonic* Systems Inc. Product Catalogue. 1994-1995.

179

APPENDIX B



Figure 36. Double vascular occlusion technique for determining intrasplenic P_C (experiment D). An example of the pressure tracing for arterial pressure (P_A) and venous pressure (P_V) during the double occlusion in an isolated, blood-perfused spleen in A) saline-infused control and B) adrenomedullin (ADM)-infused (ADM concentration was infused at a dose of 9 ng/ml into the splenic artery) rat.

APPENDIX C

INTERNAL CIRCUMFERENCE: TENSION CHARACTERISTICS

Preliminary experiments were initially completed to confirm the optimal setting for splenic resistance arteries and veins (experiments E and G). Tension developed is due to both active and passive properties of the vessel wall. The passive tension is due to the elastic properties of the vessel wall, whereas active tension is due to the activity of the contractile properties of the VSMC (147). The active tension that is generated by the VSMC is directly related to the degree of overlap between actin and myosin filaments (130). When the filaments are too far apart, there is no overlap of the actin and myosin filaments, resulting in no cross-bridge formation. When the filaments are at an optimal length, the number of cross-bridge associations is increased and maximum tension can be generated. However, when the muscle filaments are compressed (or too close together) the actin filaments interfere with one another. This causes the tension developed to be less than maximal (194), because the cross-bridging is not optimal.

PROTOCOL FOR DETERMINATION OF OPTIMAL SETTING FOR SPLENIC RESISTANCE VESSELS

- Mount artery (or vein) and set at zero tension (wires touching) (Fig. 38)
- Warm up artery (or vein) for 30 minutes in HEPES-PSS buffer, changing HEPES-PSS every 10 minutes

TOTAL CURVE:

Replace HEPES-PSS with potassium chloride-depolarizing solution (140 mmol/L)

- Adjust micrometer in step-wise increments one notch (25µm) at a time (~9-10 notches in total) and record the diameter and tension at each point
- Reset vessel back to starting point
- Remove potassium chloride-depolarizing solution and replace with HEPES-PSS
- 30 minute wash-out period (change HEPES-PSS every 10 minutes)

PASSIVE CURVE:

- Replace HEPES-PSS with calcium-free buffer with papaverine (10^{-4} mol/L)
- Incubate artery (or vein) for 20 minutes (do not change buffer)
- Adjust micrometer in step-wise increments and record the diameter and tension at each point (same number of adjustments as the total curve)

Calculations: (example shown on Table 1 and Fig. 37)

• Prepare graph (Fig. 37):

Total curve

Passive curve

Active curve = Total – Passive

- From graph chose internal circumference that produced the least passive tension and the most active tension (Fig. 37)
- Input paired data set of diameter and tension from passive curve into computer program (Table 1)
- Computer program uses the Law of LaPlace to calculate the point on the passive curve that corresponds to an effective transmural pressure of 100mmHg (hilar artery) (Length @ 100mmHg) (or 5mmHg for hilar vein; Length @ 5mmHg)
- This value is called the L_{100} (artery) (or L_5 for veins)

- Program also gives you the length at each point of the passive curve (Length column)
- In the Displacement column the diameter that was chosen (200 μm), to produce the most active tension and the least active tension, is divided by the Length @ 100mmHg (artery) (or Length @ 5mmHg for vein)
- This value will be the percent of the L₁₀₀ (artery) (or L₅ for a vein) that is required to give you an optimal setting
- Our preliminary experiments on arteries resulted in an optimal setting of 65 ± 5% of L₁₀₀ (n=10). Preliminary experiments for veins resulted in an optimal setting of 80 ± 3% of L₅ (n=9). Below is an example of the tension characteristics data for an artery that was used to determine the optimal tension setting.

Displacement	Force	Length	Tension	LaPlaceT@100mmHg
125	0.031	378.5	0.076	0.803
150	0.049	428.5	0.120	0.909
175	0.080	478.5	0.196	1.015
200	0.110	528.5	0.269	1.121
225	0.140	578.5	0.343	1.227
250	0.180	628.5	0.441	1.333

 Table 1. Internal Circumference: Tension Characteristics – Computer Program

Length @ 100 mmHg = 813.5

Displacement @ 100 mmHg = 342.5

.65L = 528.8

Displacement @ .65L = 200.1

Force @ $.65L = 9.9 \times 10^{-2}$ grams



Figure 37. Typical passive-active tension characteristics curves for A) hilar artery and B) hilar vein. The optimal tension settings for each vessel type were the internal circumference that produced maximal active tension and least passive tension. The total (closed circles), active (closed triangles) and passive (open circles) curves are illustrated.



Top view of mounted resistance vessel

Figure 38. Illustration of the wire myograph apparatus.

APPENDIX D



Figure 39. The spleen and its associated anatomical relationships. Reproduced from Waynforth and Flecknell (1992) (251).

APPENDIX E



Figure 40. A) Mean arterial pressure (MAP) and B) hematocrit (Hct) during intravenous infusion of saline in intact (solid circles, n=8) and splenic denervated (open circles, n=8) conscious rats. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student Newman-Keuls test for multiple comparisons.

188

APPENDIX F



Figure 41. Splenic A) arterial and B) venous blood flows in denervated (open circles, n=10) and intact (solid circles, n=8) conscious rats during saline infusion, and C) fluid efflux (A-V difference) in denervated (open circles, n=8) and intact (solid circles, n=8) groups. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.

APPENDIX G



Figure 42. A) Splenic (A-V) difference B) mean arterial pressure (MAP) C) hematocrit (Hct) and D) heart rate during intravenous infusion of saline in intact (solid circles) and splenic denervated (open circles) conscious rats. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.

APPENDIX H



Figure 43. Plasma renin activity (PRA) before (-24 hr) and during intravenous infusion of saline in intact (closed bars, n=7) and splenic denervated (open bars, n=7) conscious rats. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA plus Student-Newman Keuls test for multiple comparisons.

APPENDIX I



Figure 44. Maximal tension generated in unexposed (closed bars) and 3 hr LPS-exposed (open bars) splenic resistance vessels at the highest concentration of phenylephrine (10⁻³ M) used in constructing a preconstriction curve for each vessel. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. *, Significant difference between unexposed and 3 hr LPS-exposed splenic resistance vessels. Unpaired Student's t-test.

APPENDIX J



Figure 45. EC_{80} concentration values for phenylephrine preconstriction in unexposed (closed bars) and 3 hr LPS-exposed (open bars) splenic resistance vessels. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. One-way ANOVA on ranks plus Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

APPENDIX K



Figure 46. EC_{50} concentration values for endothelin-1 (ET-1) vasoconstriction in unexposed (closed bars) and 3 hr LPS-exposed (open bars) splenic resistance vessels. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. Mann-Whitney rank sum test.

APPENDIX L



Figure 47. Maximal percent vasorelaxation to S-nitroso-n-acetyl-D,L-penicillamine (SNAP) in unexposed (closed bars) and 3 hr LPS-exposed (open bars) splenic resistance vessels. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. One-way ANOVA plus Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.
APPENDIX M



Figure 48. Maximal percent vasorelaxation to adrenomedullin (ADM) in unexposed (closed bars) and 3 hr LPS-exposed (open bars) splenic resistance vessels. Vertical bars delineate standard error of the mean. One-way ANOVA plus Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.